Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Composites: Fabrication and Properties

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.) im Fach Chemie der Fakultät für Biologie, Chemie und Geowissenschaften der Universität Bayreuth

vorgelegt von

Shaohua Jiang

Geboren in Xin'Gan, Jiangxi Province, China

Bayreuth 2014

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde in der Zeit (1) von Januar 2011 bis September 2012 in Marburg am Lehrstuhl Makromolekulare Chemie, Philipps-Universität Marburg unter der Betreuung von Frau Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal angefertigt und in der zeit (2) von Oktober 2012 bis Dezember 2013 in Bayreuth am Lehrstuhl Makromolekulare Chemie II unter der Betreuung von Frau Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal angefertigt.

Dissertation eingereicht am: 13.01.2014 Zulassung durch die Promotionskommission: 29.01.2014 Wissenschaftliches Kolloquium: 30.06.2014

Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Hans-Werner Schmidt

Amtierender Dekan: Prof. Dr. Rhett Kempe

Prüfungsausschuss: Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal (Erstgutachterin) Prof. Dr. Hans-Werner Schmidt (Zweitgutachter) Prof. Dr. Andreas Fery (Vorsitz) Prof. Dr. Josef Breu

To my family

Work while you work; Play while you play; This is the way; To be cheerful and gay. —M. A. Stoddart 工作时工作,玩乐时玩乐,依此方法做,轻松与欢乐。 —斯道达特

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	1
List of Figures	5
List of Tables	9
List of symbols and abbreviations	11
Summary/Zusammenfassung	15
Summary	15
Zusammenfassung	
1. Introduction of fiber reinforced polymer composites	
1.1. Motivation	21
1.2. General introduction	23
1.3. Traditional fiber reinforced polymer composites	25
1.3.1. Natural fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2. Synthetic fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2.1. Glass fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2.2. Carbon fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2.3. Aramid fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2.4. Nylon fiber reinforced composites	
1.3.2.5. Short fiber reinforced composites	
1.4. Nanofiber reinforced polymer composites	
1.4.1. Why nanofibers as reinforcement?	
1.4.2. How to get nanofibers?	
1.4.2.1. Isolation of Cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CN	Ws)39
1.4.2.2. Pyrolysis to carbon nanofibers	
1.4.2.3. Electrospinning for Synthetic polymer nanofibers	
1.4.3. How strong of nanofibers?	45

1.4.3.1. Cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs)46
1.4.3.2. Carbon nanofibers
1.4.3.3. Electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers
1.4.3.4. Electrospun polyimide (PI) nanofibers49
1.4.3.5. Other electrospun synthetic polymer nanofibers
1.5. Fabrication of fiber reinforced polymer composites51
1.6. Factors affecting the properties of fiber reinforced composites53
1.6.1. Mechanical properties of fibers53
1.6.2. Fiber/matrix interfacial interaction55
1.6.3. Distribution of fibers in matrix
1.7. References57
2. Cumulative part of dissertation77
2.1. Tough and transparent nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber reinforced
melamine-formaldehyde composites78
2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced
2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
 2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites
2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites 82 2.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites 87 2.4. Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites 93 3. Publications 99 3.1. Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine-Formaldehyde Composites 100 3.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites 109 3.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polyurethane composites 109 3.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polyurethane composites 109 3.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites 118 Supplementary Information 132

nanocomposites	
Supporting Information	147
4. Outlook	
5. Acknowledgments	
6. List of publications	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Composition of composite materials
Figure 1-2 Classification of natural and synthetic fibers[45]
Figure 1-3 Cross-section of PAN nonwovens embedded in an epoxy matrix with fiber
diameter of A) 309 nm, B) 520 nm; and C) Dependence of geometric pore size on
fiber diameters for PAN based nonwovens[126]34
Figure 1-4 Dependence of specific surface area on fiber diameter in nonwovens35
Figure 1-5 From micro- to nano-scale fibers as reinforcement of bulk
composites[125]
Figure 1-6 Size effects in mechanical properties and structure of as-spun PAN
nanofibers. (A) true strength; (B) modulus; (C) true strain to failure; (D) toughness
(lines indicate comparison values for several high-performance fibers and spider silk);
(E) typical stress/strain behavior; (F) XRD patterns for nanofiber bundles with
different average fiber diameters and variation of degree of crystallinity with average
fiber diameter (inset)[128]37
Figure 1-7 Simplified model of light transmitted through fiber reinforced resin.
<i>Refractive indexes (RIs) of resin and fiber do not match.</i> Φ_i <i>is the incident light;</i> Φ_t <i>is</i>
the transmitted light. Green arrows mean reflected light at the air/resin and
fiber/resin interfaces; Red arrows mean refracted light at the interfaces. Assuming the
reflected light does not go into the other end of composite, Φ_t of transmitted light
through microfiber is significantly less than Φ_i . Light would pass through nanofiber
without the occurrence of reflection/refraction at the fiber/resin interfaces[140]38
Figure 1-8 Schemes of the growth of vapor grown carbon fibers on a substrate: (a) a
catalyst is applied as a suspension of a fine iron powder in a solvent, (b) a catalyst is
applied as a solution of iron compounds, and (c) iron-containing organometallic
compounds (OMC) are introduced immediately into the reactor[81]40
Figure 1-9 Schemes of the growth of vapor grown carbon fibers in a gas flow: (a) a
catalyst is introduced into the reactor as a suspension in a liquid hydrocarbon and (b)
volatile organometallic compounds (OMC) are used[81]41
Figure 1-10 Models of the growth of vapor grown carbon nanofibers, (a) on a
substrate and (b) in a gas flow. Insert: seeded metallic particle at the end of the

growing carbon nanofiber[81, 166]42
Figure 1-11 The annual number of publications on the subject of electrospinning, as
provided by the search engine of SciFinder Scholar. For 2013, there are already 1317
publications before May 2743
Figure 1-12 Basic set-up for electrospinning
Figure 1-13 Number of electrospinning jets as increasing the applied voltage[180].44
Figure 1-14 The effect of some electrospinning parameters on the formation and the
morphology of the particles and fibers45
Figure 1-15 Schematics of (a) single cellulose chain repeat unit, showing the
directionality of the 1 - 4 linkage and intrachain hydrogen bonding (dotted line), (b)
idealized cellulose microfibril showing one of the suggested configurations of the
crystalline and amorphous regions, (c) cellulose nanocrystals after acid hydrolysis
dissolved the disordered regions[148], and (d) thick dotted lines indicate the proposed
cooperative networks of hydrogen bonds, with arrows indicating the
donor-acceptor-donor directions for the A and B schemes. Thin dotted lines indicate
the O3-H…O5 hydrogen bonds, and for the A network, the O6-H…O3 linkage[191].47
<i>Figure 1-16</i> Summary of mechanical properties of various materials. (Δ) and (\blacktriangle) for
the top X axis, and (\circ) and (\bullet) for the bottom X axis
Figure 1-17 Summary of mechanical properties of single nylon-6 and polyimide (PI)
electrospun nanofibers compared with other formations (nanofiber mat, film,
microfiber, etc.) [1-5, 229]55

Figure 2-1 Schematic process for the preparation of the MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites
by immersing and hot-pressing (method 1)
Figure 2-2 Schematic process for the preparation of the MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites
by passing MF solution through the nylon-6 nanomat and followed by hot-pressing
(<i>method</i> 2)79
Figure 2-3 SEM images of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposite prepared by method 1 with
MF concentration of 5 wt % (A) and 15 wt % (B) and SEM image of MF/nylon-6
nanocomposite prepared by method 2 (C)
Figure 2-4 Morphology comparison of the nylon-6/MF nanocomposites after
hot-pressing
Figure 2-5 Schematic of preparation of nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite
films

Figure 2-6 DMF wetting behavior of nylon-6 nanofiber mat (A) and surface morphologies of 2-layered TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composites (B: nylon-6 nanofibers on TPU film; C: nylon-6 nanofibers embedded in TPU resin). Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m....84$ Figure 2-7 Typical stress-strain curves (A), UV-Vis spectra(B) of TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composites with different electrospinning time for each nanofiber layer and digital photograph (C) of nylon-6 nanofiber mat, transparent neat TPU film and Figure 2-8 Cross-section morphologies of neat TPU film (A) and laminated TPU/nylon-6 composites with 2 min (B), 4 min (C) and 8 min (D) electrospinning time on each layer. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$86 Figure 2-9 SEM of short nylon-6 nanofibers (A); optical microscope photo of short nylon-6 nanofiber (B); digital photos of 1.0 wt% short nylon-6 nanofiber dispersion in DMF (C); pure TPU (D); nylon-6 short fiber/TPU dispersion (NT3.5) (E); PMMA solution in DMF (F); nylon-6 short fiber/PMMA dispersion (NP3.5) (G); SEM of surface morphologies of pure TPU film (H), NT2.5 (I), NT5.0 (J) and NP3.5 (K).....89 Figure 2-10 (A and B) ATR-IR spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofiber mat and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU and PMMA composite films. (C) FT-IR spectra with transmission mode of pure PMMA film, nylon-6 *Figure 2-11* Comparison of Strength (\blacksquare), *E* modulus (\bullet) and toughness (\blacktriangle) of pure TPU film, PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films.......91 Figure 2-12 SEM pictures of the tensile failure structure of pure PMMA film (A), NP2.5 (B), NP3.5 (C), TPU film (D), NT2.5 (E) and NT5.0 (F)......91 Figure 2-13 UV-vis spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films and digital photo of transparent neat films and Figure 2-14 Photograph of dispersions of electrospun fibers after cutting (A); SEM micrograph of short PI nanofibers (B) and SEM micrograph of short PI nanofibers deposited from dispersion on filter paper (C). Scale bar of (B) and (C) = $10 \mu m.....94$ Figure 2-15 Comparison of E modulus (\bullet) and strength (\Box) of PIPICOF and PI self-reinforced nanofiber composite with as-electrospun PI nanofibers and a pure PI

Figure 2-16 Fractured surface morphologies of PIPICOF with different amount of short PI nanofibers (A, B, C, and D) and as-electrospun long PI nanofibers (E, F, G, C) and D) and as-electrospun long PI nanofibers (E, F, G) and D) and as-electrospun long PI nanofibers (E, F, G) and D) and

H, and I). Sca	ele bar of (A), (A	B), (C), (D),	(F), (H) a	nd(I) = 1	um and scale	bar of (E)
<i>and</i> $(G) = 10$	μm					

Figure 6-S1 Bar chart of mechanical properties of self-reinforced PI nanofiber
composites with as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats148
Figure 6-S2 SEM photographs of the surfaces of PI self-reinforced composites using
as-spun PI nanofibers149
Figure 6-S3 SEM micrographs of samples of PI self-reinforced PI nanofiber
composites with different amounts of as-electrospun PI nanofibers after tensile tests

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Mechanical properties of natural fibers and glass fibers[45]	27
Table 1-2 Mechanical properties of glass, carbon, aramid and nylon fibers	
Table 1-3 Tensile strength of glass fiber reinforced polyester composites.	29
Table 1- 4 Properties of some typical carbon fibers[81]	
Table 2-1 Mechanical properties of MF/nylon-6 nano composites made by r and method 2* with different contents of MF resin.	nethod 1 81
Table 6-S1 Mechanical properties of PI self-reinforced nanofiber compos	ites with

List of symbols and abbreviations

AcOH	acetic acid
ATR-IR	attenuated total reflectance spectroscopy
BPDA	3,3',4,4'-biphenyltetracarboxilic dianhydride
С	concentration
CA	contact angle
СМС	ceramic matrix composites
CNFs	cellulose nanofibers
CNTs	carbon nanotubes
CNWs	cellulose nanowhiskers
DMF	N,N'-dimethylformamide
ECNB	electrospun carbon nanofiber bundles
FA	formic acid
FRP	fiber reinforced polymer composites
FT-IR	fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
g	gram
GPa	giga pascal
h	hour
H-bonding	hydrogen bonding
J	joule
1	length
l _c	critical fiber length
Kg	kilogram
kV	kilovolt
LBL	layer-by-layer
L/d	length to diameter
m	meter
MF	melamine-formaldehyde
mg	milligram
min	minute
MJ	meta joule

MMC	metal matrix composites
MPa	mega pascal
MWNT	multiwalled carbon nanotubes
nm	nanometer
NP	nylon-6/PMMA
NT	nylon-6/TPU
ODA	4,4'-diamino diphenyl ether
OMC	organometallic compounds
OPEFB	oil palm empty fruit bunches
PA	phosphoric acid
PA-6	polyamide-6, nylon-6
PA-66	polyamide-6,6, nylon-6,6
PAA	poly(amic acid)
PAN	polyacrylonitrile
PBI	polybenzimidazole
РВО	zylon, polybenzoxazole
PCL	polycaprolactone
PDA	<i>p</i> -phenylene diamine
PEEK	poly(ether ether ketone)
PEO	poly(ethylene oxide)
PET	poly(ethylene terephthalate)
PI	polyimide
PIPICOF	PI/PI nanofiber composite films
PLA	poly(lactic acid)
PMC	polymer matrix composites
PMDA	pyromellitic dianhydride
PMIL	Polymer melt infiltration lamination
PMMA	poly(methyl methacrylate)
PP	polypropylene
PVA	poly(vinyl alcohol)
RIs	refractive indexes
8	second
SBR	styrene-butadiene rubber

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

SEM	scanning electron microscopy
Т	temperature
T _{5%}	temperature at which 5% weight loss took place
T _d	decomposition temperature
TGA	thermogravimetric analysis
TPU	thermoplastic polyurethane
UV	ultraviolet
UV-Vis	ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy
VGCNF	vapor grown carbon nanofibers
wt	weight
wt%	weight percent
°C	degree Celsius
3	strain
ρ	density
μm	micrometer
σ	stress

Summary/Zusammenfassung

Summary

This dissertation presents research related to the use of electrospun nanofibers for reinforcement of mechanical properties of polymers, like thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU), melamine-formaldehyde (MF) and polyimide (PI). Nylon-6 and PI electrospun nanofibers are excellent candidates for reinforcement purposes as they possess excellent mechanical properties. Both long and short electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites were prepared and the effects of the fiber contents, the fabricating methods, and use of continuous and/or short nanofibers on the wetting behavior, mechanical properties, thermal and optical properties were investigated in the present work.

Chapter 1 provided a general introduction of fiber reinforced polymer composites and electrospinning technology. The classification, the mechanical properties and the fabrication methods of fiber reinforced polymer composites were introduced. Nanofibers as a special kind of fibers have been attracting more and more attention in fiber reinforced polymer composites due to their excellent mechanical properties compared to the traditional fibers. The affecting factors on the properties of fiber reinforced polymer composites were also introduced in **Chapter 1**.

Chapter 2 is the cumulative part of the thesis subdivided into 4 parts. Each part is the summary of the published work in different peer-reviewed journals.

In Section 2.1, electrospun nylon-6 nanofiber mats were used to reinforce melamine-formaldehyde (MF) by dip-coating combined with hot-pressing (method 1) and passing the MF solution through nylon-6 nanomats combined with hot-pressing (method 2). The resulted composite films by both methods presented synergistic effects in tensile strength and toughness compared to the pure MF resin. The wetting behavior of the samples (produced by methods 1 and 2) led to quite different effects

on the morphology and mechanical properties of the composites. Depending on the loading amount of nylon-6 nanofibers, the effect between MF and nylon-6 could be considered as fiber reinforced MF or MF glued nylon-6 fibers. **Section 2.2** highlighted a novel layer-by-layer procedure for making high performance nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composites. The fast wetting of nylon-6 nanofibers by a TPU/N,N'-dimethylformamide (DMF) solution greatly improved the interfacial interaction between nylon-6 nanofibers and the TPU matrix, and led to a significant improvement in mechanical properties like tensile strength, E modulus, elongation at break and toughness. The enhancement was achieved without sacrificing the transparency of TPU by just using very small amounts (even as small as 0.4 wt%) of nylon-6 nanofibers.

Section 2.3 and 2.4 focused on the initial investigations of using short electrospun nanofibers as reinforcement. A liquid processing technique was applied to prepare short electrospun nanofibers and their dispersions. The pre-loaded very small amount of short nanofibers (< 5 wt%) gave rise to significant enhancement effects without sacrificing the transparency. In section 2.3, a comparison study by using short nylon-6 nanofibers to reinforce TPU and poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) was provided. The interaction of hydrogen bonding (H-bonding) and the homogeneous distribution of short fibers between nylon-6 nanofibers and the TPU matrix led to a stronger interface compared to nylon-6/PMMA composites and better reinforcement effects were observed in nylon-6/TPU composite than in nylon-6/PMMA composites. Section 2.4 described the self-reinforced PI composites and compared the enhancement in mechanical properties by short PI nanofibers and PI nanofiber mats. The solubility difference between PI and its precursor, polyamic acid (PAA) provided the opportunity to prepare self-reinforced composites. As compared to using PI nanofiber mats as reinforcement, the short PI nanofiber reinforced PI composites showed better mechanical properties due to the much better dispersability of short nanofibers. Quite less amounts of short PI nanofibers than nanofiber mat were required to achieve similar enhancement of the composites, i.e. 38 wt% of PI nanofiber mat compared to 2 wt% of short PI nanofibers were required to achieve almost the same tensile strength.

Chapter 4 presents an outlook about the problems and challenges in electrospun

nanofiber reinforced polymer composites. Future work about electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites could be focused on (1) how to prepare strong nanofiber with excellent mechanical properties; (2) the effect of diameter and aspect ratio of nanofibers on the properties of nanofiber reinforced polymer composites; (3) how to enhance the nanofiber/matrix interaction and (4) how to prepare super strong electrospun carbon nanofibers as reinforcements.

Zusammenfassung

Diese Dissertation beschreibt einige Entdeckungen zu elektrogesponnenen nanofaserverstärkten Polymerkompositen, bei denen zum einen kontinuierliche und kurze Nylonnanofasern zur Verstärkung von Melaminformaldehyd (MF) bzw. thermoplastischer Polyurethane (TPU) eingesetzt und zum anderen kontinuierliche und kurze Polyimid-(PI)-nanofasern zu selbstverstärkenden PI-Kompositen umgesetzt wurden. Insbesondere der Einfluss von Fasergehalt, Fertigungsmethoden und der Einsatz von kontinuierlichen bzw. kurzen Nanofasern wurde im Hinblick auf Benetzungsverhalten, mechanische Eigenschaften, thermischen und optische Eigenschaften untersucht.

Diese Dissertation befasst sich mit Forschung im Zusammenhang mit der Verwendung von elektrogesponnenen Nanofasern zur Verbesserung der mechanischen Eigenschaften von Polymeren, wie thermoplastischem Urethan (TPU), Melaminformaldehyd (MF) und Polyimid (PI). Nylon-6- und PI-Nanofasern sind hervorragende Beispiele für Verstärkungszwecke, da sie exzellente mechanische Eigenschaften besitzen. Composite verstärkt sowohl mit langen als auch kurzen elektrogesponnenen Nanofasern wurden hergestellt und die Auswirkung auf Fasergehalt, Verarbeitungsmethode, Benetzungsverhalten, mechanische Eigenschaften und andere Eigenschaften in dieser Arbeit untersucht.

In **Kapitel 1** wurde eine allgemeine Einführung zu faserverstärkten Polymercompositen und den Grundlagen des Elektrospinnens gegeben. Die Klassifizierung, die mechanischen Eigenschaften und Verarbeitungsmethoden von faserverstärkten Polymerkompositen wurden hier diskutiert. Nanofasern, als besondere Art von Fasern, haben im Bereich der faserverstärkten Polymercomposite, aufgrund ihrer ausgezeichneten mechanischen Eigenschaften im Vergleich zu herkömmlichen Fasern, mehr und mehr Aufmerksamkeit auf sich gezogen. Die Faktoren, die die Eigenschaften von faserverstärkten Polymercompositen beeinflussen, wurden ebenfalls in **Kapitel 1** beschrieben. Das **Kapitel 2** enthält den kumulativen Teil der Arbeit und enthält vier Teile. Jeder dieser Teile stellt eine Zusammenfassung eines in einer begutachteten Zeitschrift veröffentlichen Artikels dar.

In Sektion 2.1 wurden Methoden zur Herstellung von mit elektrogesponnenen Nylon-6-Nanofasermatten verstärktem MF diskutiert. Zum Verstärken wurden einerseits Tauchbeschichtung und Heißpressen (Methode 1), andererseits Durchführen einer MF-Lösung durch Nylon-6-Nanofasermatten gefolgt von Heißpressen (Methode 2) eingesetzt. Die daraus erhaltenen Kompositfilme zeigten synergetische Effekte in Bereichen von Zugfestigkeit und Zähigkeit verglichen mit reinem MF-Harz. Die Benetzungseigenschaften der Proben (hergestellt durch Methoden 1 und 2) führten zu gänzlich anderen morphologischen und mechanischen Eigenschaften. Abhängig von der Beladungsmenge mit Nylon-6-Nanofasern konnte das System als faserverstärktes MF oder als mit MF verklebte Nylon-6-Fasern betrachtet werden.

In Sektion 2.2 wurde ein neues Layer-by-Layer-Verfahren zur Darstellung von mit TPU verstärkten Hochleistungs-Nylon-6-Nanofaser-Kompositen beleuchtete. Die schnelle Benetzung der Nylon-6-Nanofasern mit einer TPU/ N,N'-dimethylformamide (DMF)-Lösung verbesserte die Grenzflächeninteraktion zwischen Nylon-6 und der TPU-Matrix deutlich und führte zu einer Steigerung der mechanischen Eigenschaften, wie Zugfestigkeit, E-Modul, Bruchdehnung und Zähigkeit. Diese Verbesserungen konnten ohne Verlust der Transparenz von TPU erreicht werden, da bereits Anteile von 0.4 gew.% der Nylon-6-Nanofasern ausreichten.

In Sektion 2.3 und 2.4 lag das Augenmerk auf den anfänglichen Untersuchungen zu kurzen elektrogesponnenen Nanofasern als Verstärkung. Eine nasschemische Technik wurde eingesetzt, um kurze elektrogesponnene Nanofasern und ihre Dispersionen herzustellen. Bereits geringe Mengen von kurzen Nanofasern (< 5 gew.%) führten zu signifikanten Verbesserungen der Eigenschaften, ohne die Transparenz der Proben zu kompromittieren. In Sektion 2.3 wurde eine Vergleichsstudie zur Herstellung von mit Nylon-6-nanofaserverstärktem TPU bzw. poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) diskutiert. Die Wechselwirkungen, aufgrund von Wasserstoffbrückenbindungen und die homogene Verteilung der kurzen Fasern zwischen den Nylon-6-Nanofasern und

der TPU-Matrix führten zu einer stärkeren Verknüpfung der Grenzflächen und somit zu besseren Verstärkungseffekten verglichen mit den Nylon-6/PMMA-Kompositen. In Sektion 2.4 wurden sich selbst-verstärkende PI-Komposite beschrieben und die Verbesserungen durch den Einsatz von kurzen PI-Nanofasern und PI-Nanofasermatten verglichen. Die Löslichkeitsunterschiede zwischen PI und seinem Präkursor, die Polyamidocarbonsäure (PAA) ermöglichte Darstellung von sich selbst-verstärkenden PI-Nanofasern. Diese zeigten, aufgrund der besseren Dispergierbarkeit, bessere mechanische Eigenschaften als die mit PI-Nanomatten verstärkten Komposite. So wurden zur Erzeugung ähnlicher mechanischer Eigenschaften deutlich geringere Mengen PI-Nanofasern benötigt, was z.B. im Falle gleicher Zugfestigkeit in 2 gew.% Nanofasern gegenüber. 38 gew.% Nanofasermatten zum Ausdruck kam.

Kapitel 4 gibt einen Ausblick über die bestehenden Probleme und Herausforderungen bei durch elektrogesponnene Nanofasern verstärkten Polymerkompositen. Weitere Arbeiten könnten in den folgenden Bereichen liegen: (1) Wie lassen sich stabile Nanofasern mit exzellenten mechanischen Eigenschaften herstellen? (2) Untersuchung des Einflusses von Durchmesser und Aspektverhältnis von Nanofasern auf die Eigenschaften von Nanofaser-verstärkten Polymerkompositen (3) Wie lassen sich die Wechselwirkungen zwischen Nanofasern und Matrix verbessern? (4) Wie lassen sich elektrogesponnene Kohlenstoff-Nanofasern als Verstärkung einsetzen?

1. Introduction of fiber reinforced polymer

composites

1.1. Motivation

Electrospinning is the most effective state-of-the-art method for the generation of continuous polymer nanofibers and nanofiber nonwovens. The nanofibers/nanofiber materials fabricated using this technology have a large surface area, large porosity, high aspect ratio of length to diameter and high molecular orientation along fiber axis, making them very useful in many applications such as energy storage, healthcare, biotechnology, environmental engineering, defense and security. The quite high-speed developments in electrospinning technology of the nanofibers possible by varying the processing parameters; on the other hand, have enhanced the production from few grams to kilos of nanofibers/nanofiber nonwovens in short time. Such developments not only promote application areas like filtration, textile manufacturing, medical application, etc., but also make possible the use of these fibers for making fiber reinforced composites.

Electrospun polymeric nanofibers have excellent mechanical properties which is high enough for making fiber reinforced composites. For example, single electrospun nylon-6 nanofiber displayed high tensile strength of 200-400 MPa and tensile modulus of 1-5 GPa[1-3]. Single electrospun polyimide nanofiber presented greater tensile strength of 1000-2500 MPa and tensile modulus of 20-90 GPa[4, 5]. The mechanical properties of these two kinds of nanofibers were much higher than those of other commercial polymers. Therefore, the electrospun nanofibers as reinforcements are attracting more and more attention in the last few years. Until now, only few countable studies have been available in the literatures. The limited data from the previous reports can't give an enough and comprehensive impression on the effect of electrospun nanofiber on polymer matrix. For this fairly new area of electrospun nanofiber reinforced polymer composites, more studies are required in different directions, such as developing novel processing methods, modifying the morphology of the reinforcements, the wetting behavior of nanofibers and matrix, the interaction between nanofibers and matrix, fabrication of short electrospun nanofibers and short electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites, which are highlighted in the present thesis.

1.2. General introduction

Composites are one of the most fascinating and popular materials known to human. Composite materials are made from two or more distinct components with different chemical, physical and mechanical properties, but when combined, possess better properties than those of each individual components used alone. Composites materials have many advantages [6-12], such as high specific strength and modulus, ease of fabrication, high design flexibility, good resistance to fatigue and corrosion, desirable thermal expansion characteristics, and economic efficiency. Because of the outstanding properties, the composites materials have been widely used in aerospace industry, military industry, automobile industry, construction materials and other engineering applications[10-17].



Figure 1-1 Composition of composite materials.

Typical composite materials usually are composed of a continuous phase called matrix and one or more discontinuous phases known as reinforcement or reinforcement materials[18, 19], as shown in **Figure 1-1**. In most cases, the discontinuous reinforcement phase is harder, stronger, stiffer, and more stable than the continuous matrix phase. Polymers, metals and ceramics can be used as matrix. Polymer matrices usually have poor mechanical and thermal properties, metals have

INTRODUCTION

intermediate strength and stiffness but high ductility, and ceramics have high strength and stiffness but fragility[18-21]. The matrix materials surround the reinforcement to maintain the reinforcement in the proper positions and protect the reinforcement from abrasion and environment erosion. Particles, flakes, fibers and fiber sheets can be used as reinforcement materials. The reinforcements impart their special physical and mechanical properties to enhance the matrix properties. Particles, flakes and discontinuous fibers generally have a random orientation in the matrix, which provide the resulted composites isotropic properties, while continuous fibers and fiber sheets can be aligned in the matrix to endow the composites anisotropic properties.

The composites can be divided into two distinct levels based on the matrix materials or the reinforcement materials[18, 19]. The first level of classification refers to the matrix materials, including ceramic matrix (CMC), metal matrix (MMC), and polymer matrix (PMC) composites. The second level of classification is based on the reinforcements, including particulate reinforced composites, fiber (continuous and discontinuous) reinforced composites, and hybrid material reinforced composites.

1.3. Traditional fiber reinforced polymer composites

Among the different classes of composite materials, fiber reinforced polymer composites (FRP) play a crucial role in civil infrastructure and high-tech equipment for aerospace industry, military industry, civil engineering area and so on[6, 7, 13, 22-27]. In the last 30 years, FRP have gradually, partially or completely replaced the traditional engineering materials such as wood, metal, glass, and even ceramics in a few areas of applications[27-31]. FRP composites are defined as a combination of polymer resins, acting as matrix or binders, and strong and stiff fibers, acting as the reinforcement. By appropriately selecting the types of the polymer resins and the reinforcement fibers and using different processing technology, the physical properties of the FRP composites can be versatilely tailored[32]. The fibers for traditional fiber reinforced composites often have a diameter in micrometer range[33-36]. At the beginning, the main functions of fibers are to bear the load and provide high strength, high modulus, high stiffness, and thermal stabilities to the FRP composites, while the polymer matrix has functions of binding the fibers, holding the position of fibers, transferring the load to the fibers by adhesion/friction, and protecting the fibers from environment damages. Besides focusing on the improvement of mechanical properties, in many cases, the FRP composites also can be imparted other functional properties, such as optical properties [37, 38], electrical properties [39, 40] and conductivity [41, 42] by tailed modifying the fibers or matrix.

Depending on the properties and the types of the fibers, the FRP composites can be sorted out into several classes. By varying the length of the fibers, continuous and discontinuous (short) fibers can be applied to the FRP composites. Continuous fibers usually are easier to handle to be oriented in the FRP composites[43], while short fiber reinforced composites also have attracted significant attention owing to their advantages in easy processing, high-volume production and desirable mechanical properties[44]. Another classification of FRP composites is based on the types of the fiber materials, including natural fibers and synthetic (organic fibers and inorganic fibers)[45]. As shown in **Figure 1-2**, a wide range of different fibers can be applied as reinforcement or fillers[45]. Natural fibers are environment friendly and have huge resources including plant fibers (cotton, sisal, jute, bamboo, coir, kenaf, flax, wood etc.) and animal fibers (silk, wool, alpaca wool, camel hair, etc.). Inorganic fibers

(glass, boron, ceramic, carbon, metal, etc.) are of high stiffness, high modulus, and good thermal stability. Compared to inorganic fibers, organic fibers (aramid, nylon, polyimide, polybenzoxazole, polybenzimidazole etc.) have low density, flexibility and elasticity.



Figure 1-2 Classification of natural and synthetic fibers[45].

1.3.1. Natural fiber reinforced composites

In last several decades, extensive research has been done on natural fibers as an alternative reinforcement in polymer composites[22, 45-50]. The natural fibers used for polymer composites have advantages of low cost, low density, comparable high mechanical properties, renewability, recyclability and bio-degradability, which make them suitable for fabricating composites to apply for leisure equipment, constructions, sports, packages and so on[45, 50]. However, the natural fibers also have many disadvantages like lower strength especially impact strength, variable quality (influenced by weather), poor moisture resistant which causes swelling of the fibers, lower durability, poor fire resistant, and poor fiber/matrix adhesion[45, 50]. Generally, the poor adhesion between natural fiber and polymer matrix come from the

INTRODUCTION

incompatibility between the hydrophilic natural fibers and the hydrophobic polymer matrix. There are many reports focused on the modification of the fiber surface by using compatibilizers or coupling agents to improve the adhesion between the natural fibers and polymer matrix[22, 46, 49, 51, 52]. **Table 1-1** presents the mechanical properties of natural fibers and commercially important glass fibers that could be used for composites. The natural fibers present comparable to or even better than glass fibers as considering the specific modulus (modulus per unit specific density) and the elongation at break. Therefore, with the main purpose of replacing glass fibers in the past two decades many natural fibers such as jute[51, 53], bamboo[54, 55], kenaf[56, 57], rice husk and straw[58-61], sisal[62], pineapple[63, 64], coir[65, 66], banana[67], flax[68], silk[69], coconut[70] etc., have been studied as reinforcements.

Fibers	Density	Tensile Modulus (CPa)		Elongation
Fibers	(g/cm^3)	strength (MPa)	Modulus (GPa)	(%)
OPEFB	0.7-1.55	248	3.2	2.5
Flax	1.4	800-1500	60-80	1.2-1.6
Hemp	1.48	550-900	70	1.6
Jute	1.46	400-800	10-30	1.8
Ramie	1.5	500	44	2
Coir	1.25	220	6	15.25
Sisal	1.33	600-700	38	2-3
Abaca	1.5	980	-	-
Cotton	1.51	400	12	3-10
Kenaf (bast)	1.2	295	-	2.7-6.9
Kenaf (core)	0.21	-	-	-
Bagasse	1.2	20-290	19.7-27.1	1.1
Henequen	1.4	430-580	-	3-4.7
Pineapple	1.5	170-1527	82	1-3
Banana	1.35	355	33.8	5.3
E-glass	2.5	2000-3500	70	2.5
S-glass	2.5	4570	86	2.8

Table 1-1 Mechanical properties of natural fibers and glass fibers[45].

1.3.2. Synthetic fiber reinforced composites

Of all the synthetic fibers used for polymer composites, four main classes of fibers, including glass fibers, carbon fibers, aramid fibers and nylon fibers are the best known reinforcements used for composites. **Table 1-2** is a summary of mechanical properties of the above glass, carbon, aramid and nylon fibers.

Fiber	Tensile strength (MPa)	Tensile modulus (GPa)	reference
E-glass	2000-3500	70	[45]
S-glass	4570	86	[45]
Carbon	3950	238	[71]
Kevlar	2900	70-112	[72]
Nomex	590-860	7.9-12.1	[72]
Nylon-6	210	1.1	[73]

 Table 1- 2 Mechanical properties of glass, carbon, aramid and nylon fibers.

1.3.2.1. Glass fiber reinforced composites

Glass fibers are the most common used reinforcement in high performance composite applications due to their excellent combination properties (low density, resistance to chemicals, insulation capacity, easy to fabricate, high strength and stiffness) and relatively low cost comparing to other kinds of fibers[23,74]. However, the disadvantages of glass fibers for composites are from the relatively low modulus, which makes the glass prone to break when applying high tensile stress for a long time (**Table 1-2**). Glass fibers can be processed in the form of mats, tapes, fabrics (woven and nonwoven), continuous and chopped filaments, roving and yarns for composites applications. Vipulanandan et al. studied the glass fiber mat reinforced epoxy coating for concrete in sulfuric acid environment[75]. The results showed that the lifetime of the coated concrete in 3% sulfuric acid could be extended by more than 70 times without failure occurring. Pihtili et al. compared the effect of load and speed on the wear behavior of woven glass fabrics and aramid fiber reinforced composites[76]. The wear in the woven 300 glass fabric-reinforced composites was

lower than the woven 500 glass fabric-reinforced composites when keeping all test parameters constant and the wear of the aramid fiber-reinforced composites was lower than the woven glass fabric-reinforced composites. Many researchers studied the effect of fiber length on the properties of glass fiber reinforced polymers[77-79]. Ohsawa et al. proposed that if the average length of the broken pieces (l) could be measured, the critical fiber length (l_c) could be expressed as $l_c = 4/31$. His studies also showed that the critical fiber length greatly increases with increasing temperature and the apparent shear strength at the interface decreased linearly with increasing temperature. Gupta et al. proved that the fiber lengths of 0.4-0.8 mm were necessary for better fiber dispersion and better interfacial adhesion. An investigation from East Coast Fibreglass Supplies presented that the formation of the glass fiber had significant effect on the mechanical properties of glass fiber reinforced polyester (**Table 1-3**).

 Table 1- 3 Tensile strength of glass fiber reinforced polyester composites.

Class fiber minforced polyestor compositor	Specific gravity	Tensile Strength	
Glass fiber remitorced poryester composites	(g/cm^3)	(MPa)	
Polyester resin	1.28	55	
Chopped strand mat laminate 30% E-glass	1.4	100	
Woven roving laminate 45% E-glass	1.6	250	
Satin weave cloth laminate 55% E-glass	1.7	300	
Continuous roving laminate 70% E-glass	1.9	800	

1.3.2.2. Carbon fiber reinforced composites

Carbon fibers are one kind of the important high performance fibers used for composites[7, 80, 81]. Carbon fiber (7.5 μ m) possess ultrahigh tensile strength of 3950 MPa, Young's modulus of 238 GPa[71]. **Table 1-4** lists some characteristic properties of some typical carbon fibers. Three precursors, rayon, polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and pitch, were used to manufacture carbon fibers by high temperature pyrolysis[81]. Carbon fiber reinforced composites were mainly applied in aerospace and automobile industry due to their outstanding mechanical properties, conductivity,

INTRODUCTION

low density, high temperature resistance, and long service life[7, 80, 82]. Many studies had been focused on the carbon fiber reinforced composites. Fu et al. reported an 100% increase of tensile strength and 900% increase of tensile modulus respectively of carbon fiber reinforced polypropylene than pure polypropylene[71]. Voigt high performance carbon fiber et al. reported a reinforced melamine-formaldehyde (MF) composites with tensile strength of 500 MPa and modulus of 60 GPa, which were 11 times and 7 times of the pure MF resin respectively [83]. Lee et al. applied carbon fibers into high speed boring bar and found that the dynamic stiffness of the composite boring bar was about 30% higher than that of the tungsten carbide boring bar[84]. Corrêa and coworkers studied the effect of incorporation of carbon fibers (diameter: 8-10 µm) in the thermoplastic elastomers[33]. As the manufacturing technology of carbon fibers improved, the carbon fiber reinforced composites were applied in small consumer products as well, such as fishing rods, badminton rackets, helmets, laptops, tent poles and snooker cues.

Characteristic	Isotropic pitch-based fiber	Mesophase pitch-based fiber	PAN fiber	Vapor grown carbon fiber	Nanofiber
Diameter (µm)	14.5	6.5	10	5-8	0.05
Density (g/cm3)	1.57	1.81	2.0	2.0	2.1
Tensile strength	600	2500	2100	4000	12000
(MPa)					
Young's	20	200	520	200	600
modulus (GPa)	30	300	320	300	000

 Table 1- 4 Properties of some typical carbon fibers[81].

1.3.2.3. Aramid fiber reinforced composites

Aramid is an abbreviation for aromatic polyamide. Aramid fibers are a class of high performance synthetic fibers, which were usually applied in aerospace industry, military industry and civil engineering applications[72, 85]. Aramid fibers have high performance properties like superior mechanical resistance because (1) due to the
high ratio of stretching and drawing during the fiber preparation process, the molecules in aramid fibers are highly oriented along the longitudinal direction (2) due to the special chemical structure with large amount of intramolecular hydrogen bonds, the aramid fibers have very high crystallization tendency[72, 85]. Besides the excellent mechanical properties, the aramid fibers have other outstanding properties like good resistance to abrasion/organic solvents, good thermal stabilities (no melting point, degradation starts from 500 °C, low flammability), and electric insulation[72, disadvantages of aramid fibers include, 85]. The sensitivities UV to radiation/acids/salts, and difficulties for cutting and machining. The most commercial aramid fibers are well-known as Kevlar and Nomex. Many reports were focused on using aramid fibers as reinforcements. Takayanagi et al. compared effect of the incorporation of the Kevlar fiber and surface-modified Kevlar fiber on the mechanical properties of polyethylene composites[86]. Better reinforcement was found after modifying the surface of Kevlar fiber by carboxymethyl group. Kutty and coworkers studied the effect of fiber loading and orientation on the mechanical behavior of Kevlar fiber-filled thermoplastic polyurethane[87]. Improved strength and significant improvement on modulus of the composites at higher fiber content were observed. Alonso et al. compared the effect of reinforcement of glass fibers and Nomex fibers on the mechanical performance of epoxy foams[88]. Icten and coworkers using woven Kevlar fiber to reinforce epoxy and applied the composite in pinned joints[89]. Kato et al. [90] and Bolvari et al. [91] used aramid fiber to improve the wear resistance of brake pads and polyamide 6,6 respectively.

1.3.2.4. Nylon fiber reinforced composites

Nylon is a big family of aliphatic polyamides, which were produced from a variety of diamines and dicarboxylic acids[92]. Nylon fiber was produced in 1935 by Wallace Carothers at DuPont's research facility at the DuPont Experimental Station and the first synthetic fiber to be commercialized in 1939[93]. In the nylon family, nylon-6,6 and nylon-6 are the most two common members. Although nylon-6,6 was synthesized from polycondensation of adipic acid and hexamethylene diamine while nylon-6 from ring opening polymerization of ε -caprolactam, both of these two nylons have similar outstanding properties, such as high melting temperature (above 200 °C), excellent

mechanical properties including abrasion resistance, high strength and toughness, light weight, resistance to chemicals, and ease to be processed. Those two nylons are widely used as fibers commercially in all of the world. As one class of reinforcement, nylon-6 fiber (100 μ m) has quite excellent tensile strength of 210 MPa, tensile modulus of 1.1 GPa and elongation of 90% (**Table 1- 2**) [73]. Therefore, many studies were focused on using short and continuous nylon fibers to reinforce polymers[94-106]. Thermal, rheological, and mechanical properties of short nylon fiber reinforced different rubbers were systematically studied by Seema and Kutty[94-99], Senapati[100], Sreeja[101, 102], Wazzan[103], Lin et al.[104] and Rajesh et al[105]. Kantz and Corneliussen found that low volume fraction of continuous nylon-66 fibers could significantly increase the tensile yield strength, elongation at yield and impact strength in polypropylene composites[106]. John et al. compared the effect of reinforcement of glass, aramid, and nylon fibers on the conventional acrylic resin and the results showed that all reinforced specimens had better flexural strength than the pure resin[107].

1.3.2.5. Short fiber reinforced composites

Short fibers applied for reinforcing polymer composites have a fiber length to diameter ratio much less than that the continuous long fibers have. Short fibers for composites have an appropriate length which is neither too low to give up their fiber properties nor too high to make them entangle with each other [108-110]. Compared to continuous fibers. short fibers have many advantages for preparing composites[108-110]. Short fibers can be prepared from many resources, such as natural plants, aramid polymers, nylon series polymers, carbon, glass and the offcut of the long fibers/fiber textiles. Short fibers have lower price than continuous fibers. The amount of the short fibers in composites can be preloaded, which means ahead of the fabrication of the composites, precise amount of short fibers can be incorporated into the composites. Short fibers can be easily incorporated into the polymer matrix and flexible design methods can be applied to prepare short fiber reinforced composites. Generally, to provide best reinforcement, the short fibers should be homogeneously dispersed in the polymer matrix by melt-blending and solution casting[108-110]. There are many reports on reinforced rubber composites via different short fibers,

such as glass[111], silk[69, 112], jute[113, 114], coconut[70], coir[115], nylon[116], aramid[117-120] and polyethylene terephthalate[121]. Rezaei studies the effect of fiber length on the thermomechanical properties of polypropylene composites reinforced by short carbon fibers[122]. Two types of short fibers (aromatic polyamide and carbon) were applied to reinforce thermoplastic polyurethane by Corrêa et al[33]. Jancar et al. compared the toughening effect of denture based composites reinforced by short polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) fibers, S2-glass fibers and Kevlar 29 fibers[123].

1.4. Nanofiber reinforced polymer composites

1.4.1. Why nanofibers as reinforcement?

As described in **section 1.3**, the reinforcing fibers for traditional fiber reinforced composites usually come from the natural, glass, carbon, aramid and nylon fibers, which often have big diameter in the range of tens to hundreds micrometers[7, 23, 45, 72-74, 80, 85, 93]. However, when the fiber diameter decreases from micrometers (10-100 μ m) to submicrons or even nanometers (1000×10⁻³ - 1×10⁻³ μ m), the fibers will present amazing characteristics[124, 125] and provide amazing properties into the composites.

The first characteristic is that the pore size of the fiber nonwoven linearly decreases with the fiber diameter decreases (**Figure 1-3**)[126]. From **Figure 1-3A** and **3B**, an obvious conclusion could be obtained that fiber nonwoven with fiber diameter of 309 nm had pore size of about 1-2 μ m while bigger pore size of more than 5 μ m were observed from the fiber nonwoven with fiber diameter of 520 nm. **Figure 1-3C** gave a linear fitting based on the relationship between geometric pore size and fiber diameter. From the extension of the linear fitting, we could speculate that a reduction of fiber diameter from about 50 μ m to 200 nm would cause a pore size reduction from 400 μ m to 1 μ m. This characteristic could gave valuable guidance on the selectivity of the nonwovens for the control of the fiber content in the composites.



Figure 1-3 Cross-section of PAN nonwovens embedded in an epoxy matrix with fiber diameter of A) 309 nm, B) 520 nm; and C) Dependence of geometric pore size on fiber diameters for PAN based nonwovens[126].

Secondly, it is readily obvious that the specific surface area increases dramatically as the fiber diameter approached into the nanometer scale[127]. This is a key factor in improving nanofiber-matrix interface adhesion and providing effective load-transfer from the matrix to the nanofibers. In fact, the decreasing fiber diameter gives rise to significantly increasing specific surface area. **Figure 1-4** presents a survey on the increase of the specific surface as the fiber diameter decreased. It is obvious that the specific surface area increases dramatically from about 0.05 m²/g to 100 m²/g when the fiber diameter decreases from about 60 micrometers (diameter of a human hair) to 30 nm.



Figure 1-4 Dependence of specific surface area on fiber diameter in nonwovens.

Thirdly, the nanofiber has much higher aspect ratio (length to diameter, L/d) than that of microfiber (**Figure 1-5**). This is also one of the advantages by using nanofiber as reinforcement. It is well known that continuous fibers reinforced composites present better mechanical performance than those reinforce by particles, whiskers or short fibers, since the reinforcement effect depends on the aspect ratio. When the filler with low aspect ratio is used for reinforcement, usually a decrease of the mechanical performance of the composite can be observed. This phenomenon can be explained that[125]: (1) fiber edges result in stress concentration, which act as crack initiators; (2) no effect on matrix-to-fiber load transfer from fiber edges; (3) fillers with low aspect ratio are difficult to overlap each other in an appreciable measure, thus



resulting very limited contributions to reinforce composites.

Figure 1-5 From micro- to nano-scale fibers as reinforcement of bulk composites[125].

Forth, from micro- down to nano-dimensions, the fibers are expected to show an improved mechanical properties, such as higher tensile strength, elastic modulus, toughness and strength at break [1-3, 5, 125, 128-133]. Many studies have revealed the size effect on the mechanical performance of fibers. Chew et al. showed a dramatically increasing of Young's modulus (300 MPa to 3200 MPa) and tensile strength (20 MPa to 220 MPa) as the diameter of the PCL fibers decreased from bulk (5µm) down to the nanometer regime (200-300 nm)[134]. The similar results for PCL fibers were also obtained by Sun et al[135]. Liao et al. [136] and Papkov et al. [128] have found the size effect of polyacrylonitrile (PAN) on the elastic modulus and toughness (Figure 1-6). When the fiber diameter is smaller than 500 nm, the strength, modulus and toughness were observed increasing in a linear fashion. The same conclusion that dramatically increased mechanical performance come from the reduction of fiber diameter also appeared to the polyimide (PI) fibers[137], carbon fibers[138], polyamide (nylon-6) fibers[1-3] and so on. Two reasons could be explained for the improved mechanical properties [2, 125, 139]. First, during the fiber preparation, the polymer molecules would be forced oriented along the fiber axis. Stronger orientations of both chain molecules and crystals would be formed when the fiber diameter decreased. Another explanation is that, to a significant degree, the mechanical properties of a fiber is controlled by the presence of surface flaws and that the probability for the presence of surface flaws per unit fiber length decreased as the surface area per unit length of the fiber decreases.



Figure 1-6 Size effects in mechanical properties and structure of as-spun PAN nanofibers. (A) true strength; (B) modulus; (C) true strain to failure; (D) toughness (lines indicate comparison values for several high-performance fibers and spider silk);

(E) typical stress/strain behavior; (F) XRD patterns for nanofiber bundles with different average fiber diameters and variation of degree of crystallinity with average fiber diameter (inset)[128].

At last, fibers with diameter down to nano-scale could incorporated optical transparency into the composites[140-145]. As shown in **Figure 1-7**, when an incident light comes to an interface, it may reflect, transmit and refract. The light reflection give rise to the most of the light loss, and more light reflection will happen as the interfacial area increases. So small fiber with smaller interfacial area with matrix results in less light loss (**Figure 1-7**, more green arrows means more light loss). What's more, it is well known that light is actual a type of electromagnetic wave. It may pass an objective when its size is smaller than the light wavelength. The visible light has a wavelength arranged from 400 nm to 700 nm. Due to those nanofibers with diameter smaller than 400 nm as reinforcement, the refraction of visible light on these fiber/matrix interfaces is very minor. Thus the optical transparent composites reinforced by nanofibers could be produced.



Figure 1-7 Simplified model of light transmitted through fiber reinforced resin. Refractive indexes (RIs) of resin and fiber do not match. Φ_i is the incident light; Φ_t is the transmitted light. Green arrows mean reflected light at the air/resin and fiber/resin interfaces; Red arrows mean refracted light at the interfaces. Assuming the reflected light does not go into the other end of composite, Φ_t of transmitted light through microfiber is significantly less than Φ_i . Light would pass through nanofiber without the occurrence of reflection/refraction at the fiber/resin interfaces[140].

1.4.2. How to get nanofibers?

As described before, nanofibers have many advantages as reinforcement. Therefore it is important to learn about how to prepare nanofibers. Until now, cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs), carbon nanofibers, and synthetic polymer nanofibers are the three main classifications used as reinforcements. CNFs/CNWs usually come from the isolation of cellulose based materials[146-149]. Carbon nanofibers can be produced by a straightforward way of charring of the natural or synthetic textile fibers in the absence of air, and by pyrolysis of a hydrocarbon feedstock (natural gas, acetylene, etc.) or carbon monoxide on a metal catalyst such as iron[25, 81, 150]. Synthetic polymer nanofibers can be efficiently produced by electrospinning technology[151-155].

1.4.2.1. Isolation of Cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs)

Abundant resources like woods, plants, tunicats, algaes and bacterias could be used to fabricate cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs)[146, 148]. The isolation of CNFs/CNWs from the cellulose source usually includes two steps. The first step is a pretreatment process to produce purified cellulose so that it can be further processed. The pretreatment is dependent on the cellulose source materials. As for the woods and plants, the pretreatments is to completely or partially remove matrix materials like hemi cellulose, lignin, etc. and to isolate the individual complete fibers[156-158]. The isolation for tunicate involves the isolation of the mantel from the animal and the isolation of individual cellulose fibrils with the removal of the protein matrix[159]. For algal cellulose sources, the pretreatments typically involve culturing methods, and the purifying steps to remove algal wall matrix material[160]. As for bacterial cellulose pretreatment, it focus on culturing methods for cellulose microfibrillar growth and then washing to remove the bacteria and other media[161, 162]. The second step is to separate those purified cellulose materials into CNFs/CNWs. Three main approaches, mechanical treatment, chemical hydrolysis, and enzymatic hydrolysis, have been applied to obtain CNFs/CNWs[146, 148]. Those methods can be used separately or in sequence or in combination.

1.4.2.2. Pyrolysis to carbon nanofibers

Two methods can be applied to produce carbon nanofibers[25, 81, 150]. The most straightforward method for producing carbon nanofibers is the charring of natural of synthetic textile fibers in the absence of air. In this way, linen, cotton, nylon, polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and pitch can be processed into carbon nanofibers when the precursor fibers has diameter in the range from micro- to nano-scale. The PAN-based carbon nanofibers could be prepared in several steps including 1) stabilization in air at 200-300 °C 2) carbonization in an inert-gas atmosphere at 1200-1400 °C and 3) high-temperature annealing in vacuum or an inert-gas atmosphere at 2000-3000 °C[163]. Another important precursor for carbon fibers is pitch-based fibers, which are extruded from a dense pitch through spinnerets[164, 165]. The procedure of heat treatment from pitch-based fibers to carbon fibers is similar to the procedure from

PAN-base fibers to carbon fibers.





Another significant way for the production of carbon nanofibers is to pyrolyze carbon gas resources (usually methane, ethylene, acetylene, carbon monoxide, etc.) on catalyst nanoparticles (Fe, Co, or Ni, most often Fe) at 500-1500 °C or with further high-temperature annealing at 2000-3000 °C in vacuum or an inert-gas atmosphere[25, 81, 150, 166]. The growing process of carbon nanofibers could be performed by two methods, whereby fibers are grown either on a substrate (**Figure 1-8**) or in a gas flow(**Figure 1-9**)[81, 166]. If the fibers are grown on a substrate, the first step is to load the catalyst on the graphite or ceramic substrate by spraying a suspension of a

fine iron powder in a solvent (**Figure 1-8a**) or a solution of iron compounds (nitrates, ferrocene, etc.) with further treatment of heating in hydrogen to form metallic iron (**Figure 1-8b**). Then the iron-containing organometallic compounds are introduced into the reactor immediately (**Figure 1-8c**). In the method for growing fibers in a gas flow (**Figure 1-9**), two ways could be used to introduce metallic catalysts into the reactor. A suspension of fine iron particles in an organic solvent can be directly injected into the reaction zone during fiber growth (**Figure 1-9a**). Another method for introducing catalyst is inputting the mixtures of the volatile organometallic compounds (OMC), e.g. iron carbonyl, and carbon-containing gas together into the reactor (**Figure 1-9b**).



Figure 1-9 Schemes of the growth of vapor grown carbon fibers in a gas flow: (a) a catalyst is introduced into the reactor as a suspension in a liquid hydrocarbon and (b) volatile organometallic compounds (OMC) are used[81].

Two main models are used to describe the growth of vapor grown carbon nanofibers on a substrate and in a gas flow[81, 166], as schematized in **Figure 1-10**. In both models, the catalyst particle is used as seed and trapped by a growing fiber. At last, each carbon nanofiber will be covered with a metal microcrystal cap (**Figure 1-10**, inserted photo). The length of the nanofibers (up to several tens of centimeters) grown with the model (a) is much larger than the length of the fibers (several millimeters)

grown from the model (b).



Figure 1-10 Models of the growth of vapor grown carbon nanofibers, (a) on a substrate and (b) in a gas flow. Insert: seeded metallic particle at the end of the growing carbon nanofiber[81, 166].

1.4.2.3. Electrospinning for Synthetic polymer nanofibers

Electrospinning is a versatile and fascinating technology to produce ultra-fine fibers with diameter from several micrometers to a few nanometers. So far, huge number of materials such as polymers, composite ceramics, metals, carbon nanotubes, even bacteria and virus can be fabricated/incorporated into micro/nano fibers by directly electrospinning or through post-spinning process. Many publications including reviews and research papers were focused on the process, the properties and the applications of electrospinning/electrospinning nanofibers[124, 125, 151, 153, 167-174]. Since 2000, an explosive development was taken place on electrospinning field as proved by the exponentially increasing of the publications on electrospinning

in the past nearly 20 years (Figure 1-11).



Figure 1-11 The annual number of publications on the subject of electrospinning, as provided by the search engine of SciFinder Scholar. For 2013, there are already 1317 publications before May 27.

Electrospinning can be considered as a fiber formation process driven by electrostatic field. The basic set-up for electrospinning usually consists of three parts: a high voltage power supply, a spinneret, and a collector (**Figure 1-12**).



Figure 1-12 Basic set-up for electrospinning.

During the electrospinning, a polymer solution is passed through the spinneret and form a droplet at the tip of the spinneret because of the surface tension of the liquid. When the high voltage power is applied to the spinneret/droplet and continuously increased, the droplet will be charged and the shape of the droplet will start to elongate into a conical shape known as "Taylor cone" [175]. In this case, the critical applied voltage is achieved. Once the electrostatic force overcomes the surface tension of the droplet, a fine charged jet will be ejected from the bottom of the Taylor cone. Subsequently, the fine charged jet undergoes a series of whipping instabilities due to the electrostatic field and elongates into thin fibers accompanied by a fast evaporation of the solvent. In most case, stable and unstable electrospinning jet can be observed during the electrospinning process[176]. When the applied external electrostatic force is smaller than the critical voltage, the jet will be broken into droplet, which is called "Plateau-Rayleigh instability" [177-179]. If the applied external electrostatic force exceeds the critical voltage in a certain range, the stable electrospinning jet can be obtained. When much bigger external electrostatic force than the surface tension is applied, two, three and even four electrospinning jets will be formed from only one droplet (Figure 1-13)[180].



→ Increasing the applied voltage

Figure 1-13 Number of electrospinning jets as increasing the applied voltage[180].

Besides the effective of the applied voltage, actually three main factors will have effects on the electrospinning process and the morphology of the resultant fibers (**Figure 1-14**)[181-186]. The first class of parameters is from the set-up of electrospinning, such as the feeding rate, the diameter and the shape of spinneret, the distance between the collector and the spinneret tip, and the shape of the collectors. The second class of parameters is from the polymer solution, such as the properties of the polymers (type, molecular weight, polymer dispersity index, etc.), the properties

of the solvents (types, boiling point, dielectric constant, surface tension, etc.), the properties of the polymer solutions (concentration, viscosity, rheological behavior, electric conductivity, surface tension, etc.) and the additives (salts, surfactants). The third class of parameters is from the ambient, such as the relative humidity, temperature, and the gas velocity in electrospinning set-up. Therefore, there are no universal parameters for the electrospinning of every polymer. However, by varying the parameters mentioned above, a huge number of polymer particles/fibers with different macro or micro morphologies/structures can be fabricated through electrospinning.



Figure 1-14 The effect of some electrospinning parameters on the formation and the morphology of the particles and fibers.

1.4.3. How strong of nanofibers?

As described in Section 1.4.1., size effect of mechanical properties can be observed when the fiber diameter decreases from microdown to nano-dimensions[1-3, 5, 125, 128-133]. As reinforcement, it is better to use stronger fibers to reinforce composites. That's why so many studies focus on using nanofibers (cellulose nanofibers/cellulose nanowhiskers[146-148, 156], carbon nanofibers[25, 187] and electrospun nanofibers [124, 125]) to reinforced polymer matrixes. In the following, a short introduction about the mechanical properties of nanofibers and their composites will be presented.

1.4.3.1. Cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs)

The structures of cellulose nanofibers/nanowhiskers (CNFs/CNWs) determine that CNFs/CNWs have excellent mechanical properties [146-148, 188]. As shown in Figure 1-15, cellulose has a linear chain ringed structure with the repeat unit comprised two anhydroglucose rings joined via a β -1,4 glycosidic linkage. This special rigid structure make CNFs/CNWs high elastic modulus along the cellulose crystal axial direction and make them good candidates as reinforcement[146-148, 156, 188]. As mentioned by Moon et al., cellulose type II has a modeling elastic modulus in axial direction of 98-109 GPa and tensile strength of 4.9-5.4 GPa, and the experimental elastic modulus in axial direction of 9-90 GPa and tensile strength of 0.2-1.0 GPa, respectively[148]. Shimazaki et al. reported an increased storage modulus of elasticity of the nanocomposites (3.7 GPa for epoxy resin and 5.0 GPa for CNF reinforced epoxy resin at 80 °C) by CNFs with diameter about 30 nm[143]. Peresin et al. studied cellulose nanocrystals as reinforcement to fabricate polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) nanofiber composites[189]. A 3-fold increase of the storage modulus of fully hydrolyzed PVA were presented by using 15 wt% of cellulose nanocrystals. Survanegara et al. found that microfibrillated cellulose not only accelerated the crystallization of PLA, but also greatly improved the tensile modulus and strength of neat PLA[190]. 20 wt% microfibrillated cellulose in PLA could result the storage modulus of crystallized PLA at 120 °C from 293 MPa to 1034 MPa.



Figure 1-15 Schematics of (a) single cellulose chain repeat unit, showing the directionality of the 1 - 4 linkage and intrachain hydrogen bonding (dotted line), (b) idealized cellulose microfibril showing one of the suggested configurations of the crystalline and amorphous regions, (c) cellulose nanocrystals after acid hydrolysis dissolved the disordered regions[148], and (d) thick dotted lines indicate the proposed

cooperative networks of hydrogen bonds, with arrows indicating the donor-acceptor-donor directions for the A and B schemes. Thin dotted lines indicate the O3-H…O5 hydrogen bonds, and for the A network, the O6-H…O3 linkage[191].

1.4.3.2. Carbon nanofibers

As described in **Table 1-4**, carbon fibers with several to tens of micrometers have tensile strength of 600-4000 MPa and Young's modulus of 30-300 GPa[81]. However, carbon nanofibers present simultaneously ultrahigh-strength of 12000 MPa and ultrahigh-modulus of 600 GPa[81]. Zussman et al. first presented the tensile strength and Young's modulus of the single electrospun PAN-based carbon nanofibers of

0.32-0.9 GPa and 70 GPa respectively[192]. Recently, Arshad et al. reported the individual electrospun carbon nanofibers with 3.5 ± 0.6 GPa tensile strength and 172 \pm 40 GPa elastic modulus from electrospun polyacrylonitrile through optimization of electrospun parameters, stabilization and carbonization temperatures [138]. Zhou et al. firstly reported that electrospun carbon nanofiber bundles (ECNB) had a tensile strength of about 550 MPa and a Young's modulus of about 58 GPa[193]. Later, Zhou et al. further improved the tensile strength of the ECNB by using phosphoric acid (PA) as stabilization promoter[194]. As we can see from the above, the mechanical properties of carbon nanofibers are quite different from one another. Those differences maybe come from the differences of the fabrication method, the fiber structure and the diameter of the fibers. Nevertheless, all the mechanical properties of carbon nanofibers mentioned above are high enough as reinforcements. Bao and Tiong reported that the strength and Young's modulus of polypropylene (PP) were improved by adding only 0.1 wt% carbon nanofibers, and the yielding responses of the PP/carbon nanofiber nanocomposites can be described successfully by the Erying's equation and the reinforcing index[195]. Sandler et al. described the addition of CNFs could lead to a linear increase in tensile and bending stiffness and tensile yield stress and strength of poly(ether ether ketone)[196]. Ma et al. demonstrated that the compressive strength and torsional moduli of PET/CNF (5.0 wt%) composite fibers were considerably higher than those of the PET fibers[197].

1.4.3.3. Electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers

Nylon-6 is a high performance polymer. Its electrospun nanofibers exhibited excellent mechanical properties. As reported by Lin et al., single nylon-6 nanofiber had a strength of 230 MPa and Young's modulus of 4-5 GPa, which were revealed by interaction with streams of air[3]. Li et al. presented the single nylon-6 nanofiber had a high Young's modulus of about 30 GPa, which was much larger than the highest value that had been achieved for conventional nylon-6 fibers, 15 GPa[198]. Besides, nylon-6 nanofibers also exhibited excellent toughness of 22 J/g[199]. Therefore, many reports focused on using electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers as reinforcement to make composites with poly (methyl methacrylate)[144], melamine-formaldehyde[199], polycaprolactone[200], polyaniline[201], thermoplastic polyurethane[202, 203], and

so on.

1.4.3.4. Electrospun polyimide (PI) nanofibers

Polyimide nanofibers are one class of high performance materials with excellent thermal stability and mechanical properties. Huang et al. first reported that aligned BPDA/PDA PI electrospun nanofiber belts possessed mechanical properties of up to 664 MPa tensile strength and 15.3 GPa tensile modulus[204]. Later, Chen et al. reported a high performance electrospun aligned copolyimide nanofiber belts with ultra-high tensile strength of 1.1 GPa[205]. Compared to the bulked PI nanofiber belts, single PI nanofiber exhibited higher tensile strength and tensile modulus[137, 206]. Single co-PI nanofibers possessed tensile strength of 1112-2387 MPa and tensile modulus of 21.35-52.31 GPa[137]. Single BPDA/PDA PI nanofibers were reported 1544-1810 MPa tensile strength and 59.6-89.3 GPa[206]. However, there are only several papers concerned using electrospun PI nanofibers as reinforcements. Chen et al. reported that 2 wt% CNT/PI aligned nanofibers could result an 138% increase of tensile strength[207]. Aligned PI nanofibers were also used as skeletal framework to reinforce polyamide 6 and the results showed that 700% and 500% improvements on tensile strength and modulus respectively were obtained compared to neat polyamide 6[206]. Another work done by our group revealed that only 2 wt% of short PI nanofibers could result in an improvements of 53% and 87% respectively in tensile strength and modulus as compared to those of neat PI film, and the strength of the composites films with only 2 wt% of short PI nanofibers was as high as that of a composite with 38 wt% of as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats[208].

1.4.3.5. Other electrospun synthetic polymer nanofibers

Except the nanofibers mentioned above, there are other electrospun synthetic polymer nanofibers used as reinforcements in composite materials. Electrospun polybenzimidazole (PBI) nanofibers could result ten times of Young's modulus and twice of the tear strength improvement on PBI reinforced styrene-butadiene rubber (SBR) compared to the unfilled SBR, as reported by Kim et al[209]. Electrospun polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) nanofibers were used to reinforce Nafion membrane for fuel cell applications[210]. Papkov et al. reported that electrospun polyacrylonitrile (PAN)

nanofibers had size effect on the elastic modulus and toughness[128]. Single PAN nanofiber with diameter of 138 nm even possessed tensile strength and tensile modulus more than 1500 MPa and 45 GPa respectively[128]. Wu et al. found that PAN nanofibers could reinforce PMMA matrix and Sun et al. reported using PAN-PMMA core-shell nanofibers to reinforce dental composites[211, 212].

1.5. Fabrication of fiber reinforced polymer composites

As for the fiber reinforced polymer composites, the fibers as reinforcement could be embedded in the polymer matrix in forms of continuous fibers (nonwovens, knitted fabrics, and aligned fiber mats), and short fibers (CNTs, short microfibers and short nanofibers) via different fabrication methods, such as dip-coating, film-stacking, solution casing, in-situ polymerization, melt blending and electrospinning.

Unlike the short fibers, the continuous fibers can't be homogeneously dispersed into the polymer solutions or melts because of the entanglement of the long fibers. Therefore, the continuous fibers in the forms of nonwovens, knitted fabrics and aligned fiber mats could be fabricated into composites by dip-coating and film-stacking (layer-by-layer hot-pressing and layer-by-layer deposition). Dip-coating is performed by dipping the continuous fibers into the polymer matrix solutions or melts to form composites. Labronici and Ishida had a review on toughening composites via fiber coating[213]. Recently, our group studied the wetting behavior and compared the mechanical properties of nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced melamine formaldehyde (MF) with dip-coating method and the method by passing the MF solution through the nylon-6 fiber mat[199]. Film-stacking provides effective ways to prepare fiber reinforced polymer laminates. Huda et al. introduced a biocomposite with kenaf fiber reinforced polylactic acid (PLA) by compression molding using film-stacking[57]. Our group proposed a novel layer-by-layer procedure combined solution casting, electrospinning and film-stacking to produce nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced high strength, tough and transparent polyurethane composites[202]. Akangah et al. prepared sixteen-ply quasi-isotropic epoxy/carbon fiber composite laminates with nylon-66 nanofiber interleaving[214].

In order to maximize the advantages of short fibers as reinforcement, the short fibers should be well distributed in the polymer matrix to enhance the interfacial interaction with the matrix. Several processing methods including solution casting, in-situ polymerization, melt blending, electrospinning, etc., have been taken to prepare short fiber reinforced polymer composites as described in the past review articles. For example, CNTs could be incorporated into the polymer matrix by solution casting[215, 216], electrospinning[217, 218], melt mixing[219, 220], shear mixing[221, 222], melt

fiber spinning[223, 224] and in-situ polymerization[225-227]. Other short traditional fibers, such as glass[111], carbon[71, 122], nature plant[47, 48], nylon[116], cellulose whisker[228] and aramid[117-120], were usually incorporated into the polymer matrix by melt mixing and solution casting. Till now, no studies have been concerned with short electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites, but we believe that the methods suitable for fabricating CNT/short fiber reinforced composites could also be applied for preparing short electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites.

1.6. Factors affecting the properties of fiber reinforced composites

Fiber reinforced composites consist of fibers, matrix and the interface between fibers and matrix. The fiber reinforcements impart their excellent properties, especially mechanical properties, to the matrix. The interface plays an important role in transferring load between fibers and matrix. The distributions of fibers in matrix affect the isotropy of anisotropy properties of the composites. Therefore there are three main factors, the original mechanical properties of fibers, the interfacial interaction between fibers and matrix and the distribution of fibers in matrix, affecting the properties of fiber reinforced composites.

1.6.1. Mechanical properties of fibers

As reinforcements, fibers often provide high strength, modulus, stiffness, hardness and excellent thermal stability to the polymer matrix. **Figure 1-16** shows the mechanical properties of common materials, like carbon, steel, nylon and so on. Stain steel has high strength and modulus. However, because of the high density, the specific strength and specific modulus are smaller than those of most of the high performance fibers, such as carbon, Zylon, Kevlar, polyimide, and glass fibers. As one kind of high performance synthetic fibers, nylon has been proved to be good reinforcement to make composites because of the good strength, toughness, and wear-resistance. Considering the cost of the materials, Zylon fibers, Kevlar fibers, and high quality carbon fibers are usually applied as reinforcements in high-tech fields, such as aerospace, military, and automobiles. Nevertheless, as the development of the manufacturing technology proceeds, more and more civil equipment have also used high performance fibers as reinforcements.



Figure 1-16 Summary of mechanical properties of various materials. (\triangle) and (\blacktriangle) for the top X axis, and (\circ) and (\bullet) for the bottom X axis.

As the nanotechnology developed, nanofibers plays more and more important role in fabricating composites as reinforcements. Nanofibers have quite excellent mechanical properties compared to microfibers and films because of the stronger orientations of both chain molecules and crystals and the less flaws in nanofibers. As **Figure 1-17** presented, the mechanical properties such as tensile strength and modulus are quite different according to the formation of the materials. As compared to the nylon-6 film, nylon-6 microfiber has better mechanical properties while the best mechanical properties are exhibited by nylon-6 nanofiber[1-3]. The same trend is also happened to high performance polyimide (PI). PI film (Kapton®, DuPontTM) has a tensile strength of 230 MPa and modulus of 2.5 GPa, and PI microfiber has higher tensile strength of 310 MPa and higher modulus of 15 GPa[229]. However, the best mechanical properties are found in PI single nanofiber. PI single nanofiber has a

tensile strength up to 2500 MPa and modulus up to 42 GPa[5].



Figure 1-17 Summary of mechanical properties of single nylon-6 and polyimide (PI) electrospun nanofibers compared with other formations (nanofiber mat, film, microfiber, etc.). Nylon-6 film [5]; nylon-6 microfiber [2]; nylon-6 single nanofiber [1, 3]; PI microfiber [229]; PI single nanofiber [4, 5].

1.6.2. Fiber/matrix interfacial interaction

The fiber/matrix interface plays an important role in load transferring between fibers and matrix and determines many properties of the composites in addition to mechanical properties. The fiber/matrix interfacial interactions could be enhanced by mechanical, physical and chemical ways[25, 125, 213]. Mechanical interlocking and entanglement in the fiber/matrix interface could effectively improve the mechanical properties of composites[199]. Physical interaction mainly refers to the intermolecular forces, such as H-bonding, between the fibers and polymer matrix[202]. Chemical interaction refers to the chemical bonding between the fibers and matrix[25], which can largely increase the adhesive bond strength by preventing breakage at a sharp interface.

1.6.3. Distribution of fibers in matrix

The distribution of fibers in a matrix depends on the formation of fibers. Fibers in the forms of woven, nonwoven, and aligned fiber mats were incorporated into the polymer matrix by a lamination way. These laminated composites have anisotropic mechanical properties due to the aligned distribution of fibers. Generally, better mechanical properties are obtained in x-direction and y-direction than in z-direction because the fibers are aligned along the x-y plane and no fibers are aligned in the thickness direction (z-direction). As for the aligned fibers reinforced composites, mechanical properties are different in three dimensions and best mechanical properties would be obtained in fiber aligned direction.

As for the short fiber reinforced composites, a homogeneous distribution of fibers in matrix is necessary to obtain high performance composites. Several factors including aspect ratio (the length to diameter ratio) of fibers, fiber concentration, and fiber orientation, have effects on the distribution of fibers in matrix[109, 110, 230]. According to Agarwal and Broutmann's theoretical analysis on the mechanism of stress transfer between fibers and matrix[231], the aspect ratio of fibers are a significant parameter to control the fiber dispersion. Higher aspect ratio than the critical value results in the aggregation and entanglement of fibers during dispersing short fibers into polymer solutions. Lower aspect ratio than the critical value leads to the insufficient stress transferring between fibers and matrix. An aspect ratio of more or less 150 is suitable for traditional short fibers (micro fibers)[110, 232, 233] while bigger aspect ratio of more or less 500 is considered sufficient for the nanofibers[209]. Fiber concentration in matrix plays an important role in reinforcing the polymer matrix in many reports[33, 234, 235]. An appropriate concentration of fibers gives homogeneous distribution of fibers in matrix and good fiber/matrix interaction. A lower concentration of fibers leads to lower mechanical properties of composites while a higher concentration of fibers results in dispersion problems. Short fiber orientation is another aspect of fiber distribution in matrix[236-238]. During the processing of short fiber reinforced composites, the fibers tend to align along the flow direction, which gives different mechanical properties of composites in different directions. So short fiber reinforced composites with pre-designed properties could be fabricated by pre-designed processing methods.

1.7. References

[1] Bazbouz MB, Stylios GK. The tensile properties of electrospun nylon 6 single nanofibers. Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics. 2010;48(15):1719-1731.

[2] Hassan M, Mohammad H, Vinod D, Graham B, Justin S, Vijaya R, et al. Reinforcement of nylon 6 with functionalized silica nanoparticles for enhanced tensile strength and modulus. Nanotechnology. 2008;19(44):445702.

[3] Lin Y, Clark DM, Yu X, Zhong Z, Liu K, Reneker DH. Mechanical properties of polymer nanofibers revealed by interaction with streams of air. Polymer. 2012;53(3):782-790.

[4] Chen F, Peng X, Li T, Chen S, Wu X, Reneker DH, et al. Mechanical characterization of single high-strength electrospun polyimide nanofibres. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics. 2008;41(2):025308.

[5] Chen Y, Han D, Ouyang W, Chen S, Hou H, Zhao Y, et al. Fabrication and evaluation of polyamide 6 composites with electrospun polyimide nanofibers as skeletal framework. Composites Part B: Engineering. 2012;43(5):2382-2388.

[6] Bakis C, Bank LC, Brown V, Cosenza E, Davalos J, Lesko J, et al. Fiber-reinforced polymer composites for construction-state-of-the-art review. Journal of Composites for Construction. 2002;6(2):73-87.

[7] Chand S. Review carbon fibers for composites. Journal of Materials Science. 2000;35(6):1303-1313.

[8] Zhao X, Lv L, Pan B, Zhang W, Zhang S, Zhang Q. Polymer-supported nanocomposites for environmental application: A review. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2011;170(2-3):381-394.

[9] Al-Saleh MH, Sundararaj U. A review of vapor grown carbon nanofiber/polymer conductive composites. Carbon. 2009;47(1):2-22.

[10] Gibson RF. A review of recent research on mechanics of multifunctional composite materials and structures. Composite Structures. 2010;92(12):2793-2810.

[11] Hussain F, Hojjati M, Okamoto M, Gorga RE. Review article: polymer-matrix nanocomposites, processing, manufacturing, and application: an overview. Journal of Composite Materials. 2006;40(17):1511-1575.

[12] Mouritz A, Gellert E, Burchill P, Challis K. Review of advanced composite

structures for naval ships and submarines. Composite Structures. 2001;53(1):21-42.

[13] Puglia D, Biagiotti J, Kenny J. A review on natural fibre-based composites-part II: application of natural reinforcements in composite materials for automotive industry. Journal of Natural Fibers. 2005;1(3):23-65.

[14] Ramakrishna S, Mayer J, Wintermantel E, Leong KW. Biomedical applications of polymer-composite materials: a review. Composites Science and Technology. 2001;61(9):1189-1224.

[15] Pendhari SS, Kant T, Desai YM. Application of polymer composites in civil construction: A general review. Composite Structures. 2008;84(2):114-124.

[16] Karlsson R. SPR for molecular interaction analysis: a review of emerging application areas. Journal of Molecular Recognition. 2004;17(3):151-161.

[17] Ye L, Lu Y, Su Z, Meng G. Functionalized composite structures for new generation airframes: a review. Composites Science and Technology. 2005;65(9):1436-1446.

[18] Campbell FC. Structural Composite Materials: Asm international; 2010.

[19] Jones RM. Mechanics of composite materials: Taylor & Francis London; 1975.

[20] Mallick P. Fiber-reinforced composites: materials, manufacturing, and design: CRC press; 1993.

[21] Vasiliev VV, Morozov EV. Mechanics and analysis of composite materials: Elsevier Science Ltd; 2001.

[22] Li X, Tabil LG, Panigrahi S. Chemical treatments of natural fiber for use in natural fiber-reinforced composites: a review. Journal of Polymers and the Environment. 2007;15(1):25-33.

[23] DiBenedetto A. Tailoring of interfaces in glass fiber reinforced polymer composites: a review. Materials Science and Engineering: A. 2001;302(1):74-82.

[24] Thostenson ET, Ren Z, Chou T-W. Advances in the science and technology of carbon nanotubes and their composites: a review. Composites Science and Technology. 2001;61(13):1899-1912.

[25] Al-Saleh MH, Sundararaj U. Review of the mechanical properties of carbon nanofiber/polymer composites. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2011;42(12):2126-2142.

[26] Brøndsted P, Lilholt H, Lystrup A. Composite materials for wind power turbine blades. Annual Review of Materials Research. 2005;35:505-538.

[27] Hollaway L. A review of the present and future utilisation of FRP composites in

the civil infrastructure with reference to their important in-service properties. Construction and Building Materials. 2010;24(12):2419-2445.

[28] Buyukozturk O, Gunes O, Karaca E. Progress on understanding debonding problems in reinforced concrete and steel members strengthened using FRP composites. Construction and Building Materials. 2004;18(1):9-19.

[29] Hollaway L, Teng J-G. Strengthening and rehabilitation of civil infrastructures using fibre-reinforced polymer (FRP) composites: Woodhead Publishing Limited Cambridge, England; 2008.

[30] Moy SS. FRP composites: life extension and strengthening of metallic structures: Thomas Telford; 2001.

[31] Van Den Einde L, Zhao L, Seible F. Use of FRP composites in civil structural applications. Construction and building materials. 2003;17(6):389-403.

[32] Lee LS, Jain R. The role of FRP composites in a sustainable world. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy. 2009;11(3):247-249.

[33] Corrêa RA, Nunes RCR, Filho WZF. Short fiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane elastomer composites. Polymer Composites. 1998;19(2):152-155.

[34] Lee SM. Handbook of composite reinforcements: Wiley. com; 1992.

[35] Summerscales J, Hall W, Virk A. A fibre diameter distribution factor (FDDF) for natural fibre composites. Journal of Materials Science. 2011;46(17):5876-5880.

[36] Deshpande AP, Bhaskar Rao M, Lakshmana Rao C. Extraction of bamboo fibers and their use as reinforcement in polymeric composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2000;76(1):83-92.

[37] Kalamkarov A, Fitzgerald S, MacDonald D. The use of Fabry Perot fiber optic sensors to monitor residual strains during pultrusion of FRP composites. Composites Part B: Engineering. 1999;30(2):167-175.

[38] Iwamoto S, Nakagaito A, Yano H, Nogi M. Optically transparent composites reinforced with plant fiber-based nanofibers. Applied Physics A. 2005;81(6):1109-1112.

[39] Wichmann MH, Sumfleth J, Gojny FH, Quaresimin M, Fiedler B, Schulte K. Glass-fibre-reinforced composites with enhanced mechanical and electrical properties-benefits and limitations of a nanoparticle modified matrix. Engineering Fracture Mechanics. 2006;73(16):2346-2359.

[40] Gojny FH, Wichmann MH, Fiedler B, Bauhofer W, Schulte K. Influence of nano-modification on the mechanical and electrical properties of conventional

fibre-reinforced composites. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2005;36(11):1525-1535.

[41] Okuhara Y, Shin S-G, Matsubara H, Yanagida H, Takeda N. Development of conductive FRP containing carbon phase for self-diagnosis structures. SPIE's 8th Annual International Symposium on Smart Structures and Materials: International Society for Optics and Photonics; 2001. p. 314-322.

[42] Pan C, Hocheng H. Evaluation of anisotropic thermal conductivity for unidirectional FRP in laser machining. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2001;32(11):1657-1667.

[43] Yurgartis S. Measurement of small angle fiber misalignments in continuous fiber composites. Composites Science and Technology. 1987;30(4):279-293.

[44] Wang S, Zahlan N, Suemasu H. Compressive stability of delaminated random short-fiber composites, part I-modeling and methods of analysis. Journal of Composite Materials. 1985;19(4):296-316.

[45] Jawaid M, Abdul Khalil H. Cellulosic/synthetic fibre reinforced polymer hybrid composites: A review. Carbohydrate Polymers. 2011;86(1):1-18.

[46] Kabir MM, Wang H, Lau KT, Cardona F. Chemical treatments on plant-based natural fibre reinforced polymer composites: An overview. Composites Part B: Engineering. 2012;43(7):2883-2892.

[47] Herrera-Franco P, Valadez-Gonzalez A. A study of the mechanical properties of short natural-fiber reinforced composites. Composites Part B: Engineering. 2005;36(8):597-608.

[48] Ichhaporia PK. Composites from Natural Fibers: ProQuest; 2008.

[49] Pandey JK, Ahn SH, Lee CS, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Recent Advances in the Application of Natural Fiber Based Composites. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering. 2010;295(11):975-989.

[50] Ku H, Wang H, Pattarachaiyakoop N, Trada M. A review on the tensile properties of natural fiber reinforced polymer composites. Composites Part B: Engineering. 2011;42(4):856-873.

[51] de Albuquerque AC, Joseph K, Hecker de Carvalho L, d'Almeida JRM. Effect of wettability and ageing conditions on the physical and mechanical properties of uniaxially oriented jute-roving-reinforced polyester composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2000;60(6):833-844.

[52] Valadez-Gonzalez A, Cervantes-Uc JM, Olayo R, Herrera-Franco PJ. Effect of

fiber surface treatment on the fiber–matrix bond strength of natural fiber reinforced composites. Composites Part B: Engineering. 1999;30(3):309-320.

[53] Das K, Ray D, Banerjee C, Bandyopadhyay NR, Sahoo S, Mohanty AK, et al.
Physicomechanical and Thermal Properties of Jute-Nanofiber-Reinforced
Biocopolyester Composites. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research.
2010;49(6):2775-2782.

[54] Thwe MM, Liao K. Effects of environmental aging on the mechanical properties of bamboo–glass fiber reinforced polymer matrix hybrid composites. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2002;33(1):43-52.

[55] Jain S, Kumar R, Jindal U. Mechanical behaviour of bamboo and bamboo composite. Journal of Materials Science. 1992;27(17):4598-4604.

[56] Nishino T, Hirao K, Kotera M, Nakamae K, Inagaki H. Kenaf reinforced biodegradable composite. Composites Science and Technology. 2003;63(9):1281-1286.

[57] Huda MS, Drzal LT, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Effect of fiber surface-treatments on the properties of laminated biocomposites from poly(lactic acid) (PLA) and kenaf fibers. Composites Science and Technology. 2008;68(2):424-432.

[58] Yang H-S, Kim H-J, Son J, Park H-J, Lee B-J, Hwang T-S. Rice-husk flour filled polypropylene composites; mechanical and morphological study. Composite Structures. 2004;63(3):305-312.

[59] Ndazi B, Karlsson S, Tesha J, Nyahumwa C. Chemical and physical modifications of rice husks for use as composite panels. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2007;38(3):925-935.

[60] White N, Ansell MP. Straw-reinforced polyester composites. Journal of Materials Science. 1983;18(5):1549-1556.

[61] Yao F, Wu Q, Lei Y, Xu Y. Rice straw fiber-reinforced high-density polyethylene composite: effect of fiber type and loading. industrial crops and products. 2008;28(1):63-72.

[62] Lu X, Zhang MQ, Rong MZ, Yue DL, Yang GC. Environmental degradability of self-reinforced composites made from sisal. Composites Science and Technology. 2004;64(9):1301-1310.

[63] Mishra S, Misra M, Tripathy S, Nayak S, Mohanty A. Potentiality of pineapple leaf fibre as reinforcement in PALF-polyester composite: Surface modification and mechanical performance. Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites. 2001;20(4):321-334.

[64] Devi LU, Bhagawan S, Thomas S. Mechanical properties of pineapple leaf fiber
reinforced polyester composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science.
1997;64(9):1739-1748.

[65] Harish S, Michael DP, Bensely A, Lal DM, Rajadurai A. Mechanical property evaluation of natural fiber coir composite. Materials Characterization. 2009;60(1):44-49.

[66] Rout J, Misra M, Tripathy S, Nayak S, Mohanty A. The influence of fibre treatment on the performance of coir-polyester composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2001;61(9):1303-1310.

[67] Liu H, Wu Q, Zhang Q. Preparation and properties of banana fiber-reinforced composites based on high density polyethylene (HDPE)/Nylon-6 blends. Bioresource Technology. 2009;100(23):6088-6097.

[68] Hagstrand PO, Oksman K. Mechanical properties and morphology of flax fiber reinforced melamine-formaldehyde composites. Polymer Composites. 2001;22(4):568-578.

[69] Setua DK, Dutta B. Short silk fiber-reinforced polychloroprene rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1984;29(10):3097-3114.

[70] Arumugam N, Selvy KT, Rao KV, Rajalingam P. Coconut-fiber-reinforced rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1989;37(9):2645-2659.

[71] Fu S-Y, Lauke B, Mäder E, Yue C-Y, Hu X. Tensile properties of short-glass-fiber-and short-carbon-fiber-reinforced polypropylene composites. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2000;31(10):1117-1125.

[72] García JM, García FC, Serna F, de la Peña JL. High-performance aromatic polyamides. Progress in Polymer Science. 2010;35(5):623-686.

[73] Hassan M, Mohammad H, Vinod D, Graham B, Justin S, Vijaya R, et al. Reinforcement of nylon 6 with functionalized silica nanoparticles for enhanced tensile strength and modulus. Nanotechnology. 2008;19(44):445702.

[74] Joshi SV, Drzal L, Mohanty A, Arora S. Are natural fiber composites environmentally superior to glass fiber reinforced composites? Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2004;35(3):371-376.

[75] Vipulanandan C, Liu J. Glass-fiber mat-reinforced epoxy coating for concrete in sulfuric acid environment. Cement and Concrete Research. 2002;32(2):205-210.

[76] Pihtili H, Tosun N. Effect of load and speed on the wear behaviour of woven glass fabrics and aramid fibre-reinforced composites. Wear. 2002;252(11):979-984.

[77] Ohsawa T, Nakayama A, Miwa M, Hasegawa A. Temperature dependence of critical fiber length for glass fiber–reinforced thermosetting resins. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1978;22(11):3203-3212.

[78] Gupta V, Mittal R, Sharma P, Mennig G, Wolters J. Some studies on glass fiber - reinforced polypropylene. Part II: Mechanical properties and their dependence on fiber length, interfacial adhesion, and fiber dispersion. Polymer Composites. 1989;10(1):16-27.

[79] Gupta V, Mittal R, Sharma P, Mennig G, Wolters J. Some studies on glass fiber reinforced polypropylene. Part I: Reduction in fiber length during processing. Polymer Composites. 1989;10(1):8-15.

[80] Morgan P. Carbon fibers and their composites: Taylor & Francis Boca Raton, FL; 2005.

[81] Mordkovich V. Carbon nanofibers: a new ultrahigh-strength material for chemical technology. Theoretical Foundations of Chemical Engineering. 2003;37(5):429-438.

[82] Bezruk L, Khoreva G. Carbon fiber as an example of a self-reinforced composite. Mechanics of Composite Materials. 1982;18(3):255-259.

[83] Voigt B, Rychwalski RW, McCarthy DMC, Den Adel JC, Marissen R. Carbon fiber reinforced melamine-formaldehyde. Polymer Composites. 2003;24(3):380-390.

[84] Lee DG, Yun Hwang H, Kook Kim J. Design and manufacture of a carbon fiber epoxy rotating boring bar. Composite Structures. 2003;60(1):115-124.

[85] Chae HG, Kumar S. Rigid - rod polymeric fibers. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2006;100(1):791-802.

[86] Takayanagi M, Kajiyama T, Katayose T. Surface-modified kevlar fiber-reinforced polyethylene and ionomer. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1982;27(10):3903-3917.

[87] Kutty SLKN, Nando GKB. Stress relaxation behavior of short kevlar fiber-reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1991;42(7):1835-1844.

[88] Alonso MV, Auad ML, Nutt S. Short-fiber-reinforced epoxy foams. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2006;37(11):1952-1960. [89] İçten BM, Karakuzu R, Toygar ME. Failure analysis of woven kevlar fiber reinforced epoxy composites pinned joints. Composite Structures. 2006;73(4):443-450.

[90] Kato T, Magario A. The Wear of Aramid Fiber Reinforced Brake Pads: The Role of Aramid Fibers. Tribology Transactions. 1994;37(3):559-565.

[91] Bolvari A, Glenn S, Janssen R, Ellis C. Wear and friction of aramid fiber and polytetrafluoroethylene filled composites. Wear. 1997;203–204(0):697-702.

[92] Palmer RJ. Polyamides, Plastics. Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Technology: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2002.

[93] Kauffman GB. Wallace Hume Carothers and nylon, the first completely synthetic fiber. Journal of Chemical Education. 1988;65(9):803.

[94] Seema A, Kutty S. Effect of an epoxy - based bonding agent on the cure characteristics and mechanical properties of short - nylon - fiber - reinforced acrylonitrile–butadiene rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2006;99(2):532-539.

[95] Seema A, Kutty S. Cure characteristics and mechanical properties of short nylon-6 fiber neoprene rubber composite containing epoxy resin as bonding agent. Polymer-Plastics Technology and Engineering. 2005;44(6):1139-1158.

[96] Seema A, Kutty S. Thermal Degradation of Short Nylon-6 Fiber–Reinforced Styrene Butadiene Rubber Composite. International Journal of Polymeric Materials. 2006;55(1):25-35.

[97] Seema A, Kutty S. Rheology of short nylon-6 fiber reinforced styrene-butadiene rubber. International Journal of Polymeric Materials. 2005;54(10):933-948.

[98] Seema A, Kutty S. Rheological characteristics of short nylon-6 fiber reinforced styrene butadiene rubber containing epoxy resin as bonding agent. International Journal of Polymeric Materials. 2005;54(11):1031-1045.

[99] Seema A, Kutty S. Characterization of Short Nylon-6 Fiber/Acrylonitrile Butadiene Rubber Composite by Thermogravimetry. International Journal of Polymer Analysis and Characterization. 2005;10(3-4):169-178.

[100] Senapati A, Nando G, Pradhan B. Characterization of short nylon fibre reinforced natural rubber composites. International Journal of Polymeric Materials. 1988;12(2):73-92.

[101] Sreeja T, Kutty S. Studies on acrylonitrile butadiene rubber-short nylon fiber

composites. Journal of Elastomers and Plastics. 2002;34(2):157-169.

[102] Sreeja T, Kutty S. Acrylonitrile–butadiene rubber/reclaimed rubber—nylon fiber composite. Advances in Polymer Technology. 2001;20(4):281-288.

[103] Wazzan A. Physico-mechanical properties of EPDM/nylon-6 short fiber composites. International Journal of Polymeric Materials. 2004;53(1):59-67.

[104] Lin G, Zhang X-J, Liu L, Zhang J-C, Chen Q-M, Zhang L-Q. Study on microstructure and mechanical properties relationship of short fibers/rubber foam composites. European Polymer Journal. 2004;40(8):1733-1742.

[105] Rajesh C, Unnikrishnan G, Purushothaman E, Thomas S. Cure characteristics and mechanical properties of short nylon fiber-reinforced nitrile rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2004;92(2):1023-1030.

[106] Kantz MR, Corneliussen RD. Thermoplastic fiber reinforced polypropylene composites having a transcrystalline morphology. Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Letters Edition. 1973;11(4):279-284.

[107] John J, Gangadhar SA, Shah I. Flexural strength of heat-polymerized polymethyl methacrylate denture resin reinforced with glass, aramid, or nylon fibers. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2001;86(4):424-427.

[108] Zhu YT, Beyerlein IJ. Bone-shaped short fiber composites—an overview. Materials Science and Engineering: A. 2002;326(2):208-227.

[109] Fu S-Y, Lauke B. Effects of fiber length and fiber orientation distributions on the tensile strength of short-fiber-reinforced polymers. Composites Science and Technology. 1996;56(10):1179-1190.

[110] Boustany K, Arnold RL. Short Fibers Rubber Composites: the Comparative Properties of Treated and Discontinuous Cellulose Fibers. Journal of Elastomers and Plastics. 1976;8(2):160-176.

[111] Wan Busu W, Anuar H, Ahmad S, Rasid R, Jamal N. The mechanical and physical properties of thermoplastic natural rubber hybrid composites reinforced with Hibiscus cannabinus, L and short glass fiber. Polymer-Plastics Technology and Engineering. 2010;49(13):1315-1322.

[112] Akhtar S, De PP, De SK. Short fiber-reinforced thermoplastic elastomers from blends of natural rubber and polyethylene. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1986;32(5):5123-5146.

[113] Murty VM, De SK. Effect of particulate fillers on short jute fiber-reinforced natural rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science.

1982;27(12):4611-4622.

[114] Bhagawan SS, Tripathy DK, De SK. Stress relaxation in short jute fiber-reinforced nitrile rubber composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1987;33(5):1623-1639.

[115] Geethamma VG, Joseph R, Thomas S. Short coir fiber-reinforced natural rubber composites: Effects of fiber length, orientation, and alkali treatment. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1995;55(4):583-594.

[116] Pramila Devi D, Nair A, Jabin T, Kutty SK. Mechanical, thermal, and microwave properties of conducting composites of polypyrrole/polypyrrole - coated short nylon fibers with acrylonitrile butadiene rubber. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2012;126(6):1965-1976.

[117] Praveen S, Chattopadhyay PK, Jayendran S, Chakraborty BC, Chattopadhyay S. Effect of nanoclay on the mechanical and damping properties of aramid short fibre - filled styrene butadiene rubber composites. Polymer International. 2010;59(2):187-197.

[118] Salam M, Ismail A. Electrical conductivity and electric modulus of stable Kevlar® fiber loaded HAF/NBR rubber composite. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2012;124(2):1359-1365.

[119] Dorigato A, Fambri L. Effect of aramid regenerated fibers on thermo-mechanical behaviour of polyamide 12 composites. Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites. 2013:DOI: 10.1177/0731684413486528.

[120] Hintze C, Boldt R, Wiessner S, Heinrich G. Influence of processing on morphology in short aramid fiber reinforced elastomer compounds. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2013;130(3):1682-1690.

[121] Khalil AM, El-Nemr KF, Khalaf AI. Effect of short polyethylene terephthalate fibers on properties of ethylene-propylene diene rubber composites. Journal of Polymer Research. 2012;19(6):1-9.

[122] Rezaei F, Yunus R, Ibrahim NA. Effect of fiber length on thermomechanical properties of short carbon fiber reinforced polypropylene composites. Materials & Design. 2009;30(2):260-263.

[123] Jancar J, Hynstova K, Pavelka V. Toughening of denture base resin with short deformable fibers. Composites Science and Technology. 2009;69(3-4):457-462.

[124] Huang Z-M, Zhang YZ, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S. A review on polymer
nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology. 2003;63(15):2223-2253.

[125] Zucchelli A, Focarete ML, Gualandi C, Ramakrishna S. Electrospun nanofibers for enhancing structural performance of composite materials. Polymers for Advanced Technologies. 2011;22(3):339-349.

[126] Hussain D, Loyal F, Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Structure property correlations for electrospun nanofiber nonwovens. Polymer. 2010;51(17):3989-3997.

[127] Gibson P, Schreuder-Gibson H, Rivin D. Transport properties of porous membranes based on electrospun nanofibers. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects. 2001;187:469-481.

[128] Papkov D, Zou Y, Andalib MN, Goponenko A, Cheng SZD, Dzenis YA. Simultaneously Strong and Tough Ultrafine Continuous Nanofibers. ACS Nano. 2013;7(4):3324-3331.

[129] Kim J, Heckert NA, Leigh S, Kobayashi H, McDonough W, Rice K, et al. Effects of fiber gripping methods on the single fiber tensile test: I. Non-parametric statistical analysis. Journal of Materials Science. 2013;48(10):3623-3637.

[130] Fei H, Dun L, Russell JB, Ines J-P, Urszula S, Beatriz C-B, et al. In situ tensile testing of nanofibers by combining atomic force microscopy and scanning electron microscopy. Nanotechnology. 2011;22(36):365708.

[131] Ozkan T, Naraghi M, Chasiotis I. Mechanical Properties of Individual Carbon Nanofibers. SEM Annual Conference, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA, 2009.

[132] Tan EPS, Lim CT. Mechanical characterization of nanofibers – A review.Composites Science and Technology. 2006;66(9):1102-1111.

[133] Tan EPS, Goh CN, Sow CH, Lim CT. Tensile test of a single nanofiber using an atomic force microscope tip. Applied Physics Letters. 2005;86(7):073115-073115-073113.

[134] Chew SY, Hufnagel TC, Lim CT, Leong KW. Mechanical properties of single electrospun drug-encapsulated nanofibres. Nanotechnology. 2006;17(15):3880.

[135] Sun L, Ray PSH, Jun W, Lim CT. Modeling the size-dependent elastic properties of polymeric nanofibers. Nanotechnology. 2008;19(45):455706.

[136] Liao C-C, Wang C-C, Chen C-Y, Lai W-J. Stretching-induced orientation of polyacrylonitrile nanofibers by an electrically rotating viscoelastic jet for improving the mechanical properties. Polymer. 2011;52(10):2263-2275.

[137] Chen F, Peng X, Li T, Chen S, Wu XF, Reneker DH, et al. Mechanical

characterization of single high-strength electrospun polyimide nanofibres. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics. 2008;41:025308.

[138] Arshad SN, Naraghi M, Chasiotis I. Strong carbon nanofibers from electrospun polyacrylonitrile. Carbon. 2011;49(5):1710-1719.

[139] Wendorff JH, Agarwal S, Greiner A. Electrospinning: materials, processing, and applications: Wiley. com; 2012.

[140] Tang C, Liu H. Cellulose nanofiber reinforced poly (vinyl alcohol) composite film with high visible light transmittance. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2008;39(10):1638-1643.

[141] Yano H, Sugiyama J, Nakagaito AN, Nogi M, Matsuura T, Hikita M, et al. Optically Transparent Composites Reinforced with Networks of Bacterial Nanofibers. Advanced Materials. 2005;17(2):153-155.

[142] Wu M, Wu Y, Liu Z, Liu H. Optically transparent poly (methyl methacrylate) composite films reinforced with electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofibers. Journal of Composite Materials. 2012; 46(21):153-155.

[143] Shimazaki Y, Miyazaki Y, Takezawa Y, Nogi M, Abe K, Ifuku S, et al. Excellent Thermal Conductivity of Transparent Cellulose Nanofiber/Epoxy Resin Nanocomposites. Biomacromolecules. 2007;8(9):2976-2978.

[144] Chen L-S, Huang Z-M, Dong G-H, He C-L, Liu L, Hu Y-Y, et al. Development of a transparent PMMA composite reinforced with nanofibers. Polymer Composites. 2009;30(3):239-247.

[145] Bergshoef MM, Vancso GJ. Transparent Nanocomposites with Ultrathin, Electrospun Nylon-4,6 Fiber Reinforcement. Advanced Materials. 1999;11(16):1362-1365.

[146] Siró I, Plackett D. Microfibrillated cellulose and new nanocomposite materials: a review. Cellulose. 2010;17(3):459-494.

[147] Eichhorn S, Dufresne A, Aranguren M, Marcovich N, Capadona J, Rowan S, et al. Review: current international research into cellulose nanofibres and nanocomposites. Journal of Materials Science. 2010;45(1):1-33.

[148] Moon RJ, Martini A, Nairn J, Simonsen J, Youngblood J. Cellulose nanomaterials review: structure, properties and nanocomposites. Chemical Society Reviews. 2011;40(7):3941-3994.

[149] Abdul Khalil H, Bhat A, Ireana Yusra A. Green composites from sustainable cellulose nanofibrils: A review. Carbohydrate Polymers. 2012;87(2):963-979.

[150] Teo KB, Singh C, Chhowalla M, Milne WI. Catalytic synthesis of carbon nanotubes and nanofibers. Encyclopedia of nanoscience and nanotechnology. 2003;10(1).

[151] Agarwal S, Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Electrospinning of Manmade and Biopolymer Nanofibers-Progress in Techniques, Materials, and Applications. Advanced Functional Materials. 2009;19(18):2863-2879.

[152] Feng C, Khulbe KC, Matsuura T. Recent progress in the preparation, characterization, and applications of nanofibers and nanofiber membranes via electrospinning/interfacial polymerization. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2010;115(2):756-776.

[153] Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Electrospinning: a fascinating method for the preparation of ultrathin fibers. Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 2007;46(30):5670-5703.

[154] Huang ZM, Zhang YZ, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S. A review on polymer nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology. 2003;63(15):2223-2253.

[155] Teo WE, Ramakrishna S. A review on electrospinning design and nanofibre assemblies. Nanotechnology. 2006;17(14):R89.

[156] Hubbe MA, Rojas OJ, Lucia LA, Sain M. Cellulosic nanocomposites: a review.BioResources. 2008;3(3):929-980.

[157] Saito T, Hirota M, Tamura N, Kimura S, Fukuzumi H, Heux L, et al. Individualization of nano-sized plant cellulose fibrils by direct surface carboxylation using TEMPO catalyst under neutral conditions. Biomacromolecules. 2009;10(7):1992-1996.

[158] Alemdar A, Sain M. Isolation and characterization of nanofibers from agricultural residues-Wheat straw and soy hulls. Bioresource Technology. 2008;99(6):1664-1671.

[159] Heux L, Dinand E, Vignon M. Structural aspects in ultrathin cellulose microfibrils followed by ¹³C CP-MAS NMR. Carbohydrate Polymers. 1999;40(2):115-124.

[160] Sugiyama J, Vuong R, Chanzy H. Electron diffraction study on the two crystalline phases occurring in native cellulose from an algal cell wall. Macromolecules. 1991;24(14):4168-4175.

[161] Iguchi M, Yamanaka S, Budhiono A. Bacterial cellulose-a masterpiece of

69

nature's arts. Journal of Materials Science. 2000;35(2):261-270.

[162] Yamanaka S, Watanabe K, Kitamura N, Iguchi M, Mitsuhashi S, Nishi Y, et al. The structure and mechanical properties of sheets prepared from bacterial cellulose. Journal of Materials Science. 1989;24(9):3141-3145.

[163] Gu S, Ren J, Vancso G. Process optimization and empirical modeling for electrospun polyacrylonitrile (PAN) nanofiber precursor of carbon nanofibers. European Polymer Journal. 2005;41(11):2559-2568.

[164] Ono H, Oya A. Preparation of highly crystalline carbon nanofibers from pitch/polymer blend. Carbon. 2006;44(4):682-686.

[165] Chun I, Reneker DH, Fong H, Fang X, Deitzel J, Tan NB, et al. Carbon nanofibers from polyacrylonitrile and mesophase pitch. Journal of Advanced Materials. 1999;31(1):36-41.

[166] Endo M. Grow carbon fibers in the vapor phase. Chemtech. 1988;18(9):568-576.

[167] Afifi AM, Nakano S, Yamane H, Kimura Y. Electrospinning of Continuous Aligning Yarns with a 'Funnel' Target. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering. 2010;295(7):660-665.

[168] Li D, Xia Y. Electrospinning of nanofibers: reinventing the wheel? Advanced Materials. 2004;16(14):1151-1170.

[169] Agarwal S, Wendorff JH, Greiner A. Use of electrospinning technique for biomedical applications. Polymer. 2008;49(26):5603-5621.

[170] Sill TJ, von Recum HA. Electrospinning: applications in drug delivery and tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2008;29(13):1989.

[171] Kanani AG, Bahrami SH. Review on electrospun nanofibers scaffold and biomedical applications. Trends Biomater Artif Organs. 2010;24(2):93-115.

[172] Baji A, Mai Y-W, Wong S-C, Abtahi M, Chen P. Electrospinning of polymer nanofibers: Effects on oriented morphology, structures and tensile properties. Composites Science and Technology. 2010;70(5):703-718.

[173] Agarwal S, Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Functional materials by electrospinning of polymers. Progress in Polymer Science. 2013;38(6):963-991.

[174] Wu J, Wang N, Zhao Y, Jiang L. Electrospinning of multilevel structured functional micro-/nanofibers and their applications. Journal of Materials Chemistry A. 2013;1(25):7290-7305.

[175] Yarin A, Koombhongse S, Reneker D. Taylor cone and jetting from liquid

droplets in electrospinning of nanofibers. Journal of Applied Physics. 2001;90(9):4836-4846.

[176] Reneker DH, Yarin AL, Fong H, Koombhongse S. Bending instability of electrically charged liquid jets of polymer solutions in electrospinning. Journal of Applied Physics. 2000;87:4531-4547.

[177] Haupt BJ, Senden TJ, Sevick EM. AFM Evidence of Rayleigh Instability in Single Polymer Chains. Langmuir. 2002;18(6):2174-2182.

[178] Mei S, Feng X, Jin Z. Fabrication of Polymer Nanospheres Based on Rayleigh Instability in Capillary Channels. Macromolecules. 2011;44(6):1615-1620.

[179] Forward KM, Rutledge GC. Free surface electrospinning from a wire electrode. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2012;183:492-503.

[180] Reneker DH, Yarin AL. Electrospinning jets and polymer nanofibers. Polymer. 2008;49(10):2387-2425.

[181] Jacobs V, Anandjiwala RD, Maaza M. The influence of electrospinning parameters on the structural morphology and diameter of electrospun nanofibers. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2010;115(5):3130-3136.

[182] Fong H, Chun I, Reneker DH. Beaded nanofibers formed during electrospinning.Polymer. 1999;40(16):4585-4592.

[183] Lee K, Kim H, Bang H, Jung Y, Lee S. The change of bead morphology formed on electrospun polystyrene fibers. Polymer. 2003;44(14):4029-4034.

[184] Uyar T, Besenbacher F. Electrospinning of uniform polystyrene fibers: The effect of solvent conductivity. Polymer. 2008;49(24):5336-5343.

[185] Theron S, Zussman E, Yarin A. Experimental investigation of the governing parameters in the electrospinning of polymer solutions. Polymer. 2004;45(6):2017-2030.

[186] Tan S, Inai R, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S. Systematic parameter study for ultra-fine fiber fabrication via electrospinning process. Polymer. 2005;46(16):6128-6134.

[187] Tibbetts GG, Lake ML, Strong KL, Rice BP. A review of the fabrication and properties of vapor-grown carbon nanofiber/polymer composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2007;67(7):1709-1718.

[188] Miao C, Hamad W. Cellulose reinforced polymer composites and nanocomposites: a critical review. Cellulose. 2013;20(5):2221-2262.

[189] Peresin MS, Habibi Y, Zoppe JO, Pawlak JJ, Rojas OJ. Nanofiber Composites

of Polyvinyl Alcohol and Cellulose Nanocrystals: Manufacture and Characterization. Biomacromolecules. 2010;11(3):674-681.

[190] Suryanegara L, Nakagaito AN, Yano H. The effect of crystallization of PLA on the thermal and mechanical properties of microfibrillated cellulose-reinforced PLA composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2009;69(7–8):1187-1192.

[191] Nishiyama Y, Johnson GP, French AD, Forsyth VT, Langan P. Neutron crystallography, molecular dynamics, and quantum mechanics studies of the nature of hydrogen bonding in cellulose I β . Biomacromolecules. 2008;9(11):3133-3140.

[192] Zussman E, Chen X, Ding W, Calabri L, Dikin DA, Quintana JP, et al. Mechanical and structural characterization of electrospun PAN-derived carbon nanofibers. Carbon. 2005;43(10):2175-2185.

[193] Zhou Z, Lai C, Zhang L, Qian Y, Hou H, Reneker DH, et al. Development of carbon nanofibers from aligned electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofiber bundles and characterization of their microstructural, electrical, and mechanical properties. Polymer. 2009;50(13):2999-3006.

[194] Zhou Z, Liu K, Lai C, Zhang L, Li J, Hou H, et al. Graphitic carbon nanofibers developed from bundles of aligned electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofibers containing phosphoric acid. Polymer. 2010;51(11):2360-2367.

[195] Bao SP, Tjong SC. Temperature and strain rate dependences of yield stress of polypropylene composites reinforced with carbon nanofibers. Polymer Composites. 2009;30(12):1749-1760.

[196] Sandler J, Werner P, Shaffer MSP, Demchuk V, Altstädt V, Windle AH. Carbon-nanofibre-reinforced poly(ether ether ketone) composites. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2002;33(8):1033-1039.

[197] Ma H, Zeng J, Realff ML, Kumar S, Schiraldi DA. Processing, structure, and properties of fibers from polyester/carbon nanofiber composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2003;63(11):1617-1628.

[198] Li L, Bellan LM, Craighead HG, Frey MW. Formation and properties of nylon-6 and nylon-6/montmorillonite composite nanofibers. Polymer. 2006;47(17):6208-6217.

[199] Jiang S, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine–Formaldehyde Composites. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2012;4(5):2597-2603.

[200] Neppalli R, Marega C, Marigo A, Bajgai MP, Kim HY, Causin V. Improvement of tensile properties and tuning of the biodegradation behavior of polycaprolactone by

addition of electrospun fibers. Polymer. 2011.

[201] Romo-Uribe A, Arizmendi L, Romero-Guzma n ME, Sepu lveda-Guzma n S, Cruz-Silva R. Electrospun Nylon Nanofibers as Effective Reinforcement to Polyaniline Membranes. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2009;1(11):2502-2508.

[202] Jiang S, Duan G, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic Polyurethane Composites. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2012;4(8):4366-4372.

[203] Jiang S, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2013;87(0):164-169.

[204] Huang C, Chen S, Reneker DH, Lai C, Hou H. High-Strength Mats from Electrospun Poly(p-Phenylene Biphenyltetracarboximide) Nanofibers. Advanced Materials. 2006;18(5):668-671.

[205] Chen S, Hu P, Greiner A, Cheng C, Cheng H, Chen F, et al. Electrospun nanofiber belts made from high performance copolyimide. Nanotechnology. 2008;19:015604.

[206] Chen Y, Han D, Ouyang W, Chen S, Hou H, Zhao Y, et al. Fabrication and evaluation of polyamide 6 composites with electrospun polyimide nanofibers as skeletal framework. Composites Part B: Engineering. 2012;43(5):2382-2388.

[207] Chen D, Wang R, Tjiu WW, Liu T. High performance polyimide composite films prepared by homogeneity reinforcement of electrospun nanofibers. Composites Science and Technology. 2011;71(13):1556-1562.

[208] Jiang S, Duan G, Schöbel J, Agarwal S, Greiner A. Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology. 2013;88(0):57-61.

[209] Kim J-s, Reneker DH. Mechanical properties of composites using ultrafine electrospun fibers. Polymer Composites. 1999;20(1):124-131.

[210] Mollá S, Compañ V. Polyvinyl alcohol nanofiber reinforced Nafion membranes for fuel cell applications. Journal of Membrane Science. 2011;372(1–2):191-200.

[211] Wu M, Wu Y, Liu Z, Liu H. Optically transparent poly (methyl methacrylate) composite films reinforced with electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofibers. Journal of Composite Materials. 2012:DOI: 10.1177/0021998311431995.

[212] Sun W, Cai Q, Li P, Deng X, Wei Y, Xu M, et al. Post-draw PAN-PMMA

nanofiber reinforced and toughened Bis-GMA dental restorative composite. Dental Materials. 2010;26(9):873-880.

[213] Labronici M, Ishida H. Toughening composites by fiber coating: a review. Composite Interfaces. 1994;2(3):199-234.

[214] Akangah P, Lingaiah S, Shivakumar K. Effect of Nylon-66 nano-fiber interleaving on impact damage resistance of epoxy/carbon fiber composite laminates. Composite Structures. 2010;92(6):1432-1439.

[215] Qian D, Dickey EC, Andrews R, Rantell T. Load transfer and deformation mechanisms in carbon nanotube-polystyrene composites. Applied Physics Letters. 2000;76:2868.

[216] Safadi B, Andrews R, Grulke EA. Multiwalled carbon nanotube polymer composites: Synthesis and characterization of thin films. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2002;84(14):2660-2669.

[217] Naebe M, Lin T, Feng L, Dai L, Abramson A, Prakash V, et al. Conducting Polymer and Polymer/CNT Composite Nanofibers by Electrospinning. Nanoscience and Nanotechnology for Chemical and Biological Defense, vol. 1016: American Chemical Society; 2009. p. 39-58.

[218] Ko F, Gogotsi Y, Ali A, Naguib N, Ye H, Yang GL, et al. Electrospinning of Continuous Carbon Nanotube-Filled Nanofiber Yarns. Advanced Materials (Weinheim, Germany). 2003;15(14):1161-1165.

[219] Tang W, Santare MH, Advani SG. Melt processing and mechanical property characterization of multi-walled carbon nanotube/high density polyethylene (MWNT/HDPE) composite films. Carbon. 2003;41(14):2779-2785.

[220] Yang BX, Pramoda KP, Xu GQ, Goh SH. Mechanical Reinforcement of Polyethylene Using Polyethylene-Grafted Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes. Advanced Functional Materials. 2007;17(13):2062-2069.

[221] Shofner ML, Khabashesku VN, Barrera EV. Processing and mechanical properties of fluorinated single-wall carbon nanotube-polyethylene composites. Chemistry of Materials. 2006;18(4):906-913.

[222] Pulikkathara MX, Kuznetsov OV, Peralta IR, Wei X, Khabashesku VN. Medium density polyethylene composites with functionalized carbon nanotubes. Nanotechnology. 2009;20(19):195602.

[223] Haggenmueller R, Gommans H, Rinzler A, Fischer JE, Winey K. Aligned single-wall carbon nanotubes in composites by melt processing methods. Chemical

Physics Letters. 2000;330(3):219-225.

[224] Jose MV, Dean D, Tyner J, Price G, Nyairo E. Polypropylene/carbon nanotube nanocomposite fibers: Process–morphology–property relationships. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2007;103(6):3844-3850.

[225] Meng Q, Hu J. Self-organizing alignment of carbon nanotube in shape memory segmented fiber prepared by in situ polymerization and melt spinning. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2008;39(2):314-321.

[226] Velasco-Santos C, Martínez-Hernández AL, Fisher FT, Ruoff R, Castaño VM. Improvement of Thermal and Mechanical Properties of Carbon Nanotube Composites through Chemical Functionalization. Chemistry of Materials. 2003;15(23):4470-4475.
[227] Park SJ, Cho MS, Lim ST, Choi HJ, Jhon MS. Synthesis and Dispersion Characteristics of Multi - Walled Carbon Nanotube Composites with Poly (methyl methacrylate) Prepared by In - Situ Bulk Polymerization. Macromolecular Rapid Communications. 2003;24(18):1070-1073.

[228] Ljungberg N, Bonini C, Bortolussi F, Boisson C, Heux L, Cavaillé J-Y. New nanocomposite materials reinforced with cellulose whiskers in atactic polypropylene: effect of surface and dispersion characteristics. Biomacromolecules. 2005;6(5):2732-2739.

[229] Kaneda T, Katsura T, Nakagawa K, Makino H, Horio M. High - strength-high
modulus polyimide fibers II. Spinning and properties of fibers. Journal of Applied
Polymer Science. 1986;32(1):3151-3176.

[230] Kim J-K, Mai Y-w. High strength, high fracture toughness fibre composites with interface control-A review. Composites Science and Technology. 1991;41(4):333-378.[231] Agarwal BD, Broutman LG. Analysis and performance of fiber composites: Wiley: New York; 1980.

[232] Ibarra L, Chamorro C. Short fiber–elastomer composites. Effects of matrix and fiber level on swelling and mechanical and dynamic properties. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1991;43(10):1805-1819.

[233] Ibarra L, Chamorro C. Reinforcement of EPDM matrices with carbon and polyester fibers—mechanical and dynamic properties. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 1989;37(5):1197-1208.

[234] Vallittu PK, Lassila VP, Lappalainen R. Acrylic resin-fiber composite—Part I: The effect of fiber concentration on fracture resistance. The Journal of prosthetic dentistry. 1994;71(6):607-612.

[235] Houshyar S, Shanks R, Hodzic A. The effect of fiber concentration on mechanical and thermal properties of fiber - reinforced polypropylene composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 2005;96(6):2260-2272.

[236] Esmaeillou B, Fitoussi J, Lucas A, Tcharkhtchi A. Multi-scale experimental analysis of the tension-tension fatigue behavior of a short glass fiber reinforced polyamide composite. Procedia Engineering. 2011;10:2117-2122.

[237] Zhang G, Rasheva Z, Schlarb A. Friction and wear variations of short carbon fiber (SCF)/PTFE/graphite (10 vol.%) filled PEEK: Effects of fiber orientation and nominal contact pressure. Wear. 2010;268(7):893-899.

[238] Eberle AP, Vélez-García GM, Baird DG, Wapperom P. Fiber orientation kinetics of a concentrated short glass fiber suspension in startup of simple shear flow. Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics. 2010;165(3):110-119.

2. Cumulative part of dissertation

This dissertation contains four publications presented in **Sections 2.1** to **2.4**. This thesis is concerned with the preparation of nanofibers via electrospinning technology, the fabrication of nanofiber reinforced polymer composites and their properties including thermal stability, optical properties, and mechanical properties. My research efforts focused on new methods of composite fabrication and effects of different parameters including the length of nanofiber, the amount of nanofiber, the interface interaction and the H-bonding between nanofibers and matrix on the reinforced properties of composites. In this thesis, continuous and short nylon-6 nanofibers and polyimide nanofibers were prepared as reinforcements by electrospinning and post-cutting process. Dip-coating, filter-coating, layer-by-layer deposition combined with electrospinning and film casting, short nanofiber dispersion and film casting were adopted to fabricate nanofiber reinforced composites. The results showed that both continuous and short electrospun nanofibers could effectively reinforce polymer matrix and the same reinforcement on composites could be obtained by very small amounts of short nanofibers compared to the continuous nanofiber matrs.

In the following sections, a summary of the key results obtained within the scope of this dissertation will be presented. Complete coverage of the experimental results and conclusions can be found in **Chapter 3**.

2.1. Tough and transparent nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber reinforced melamine-formaldehyde composites



This work has already been published in:

Shaohua Jiang, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Elestrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine-Formaldehyde Composites", ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2012, 4, 2597-2603

Specific contributions by authors:

The plan and the execution of this project was done by me. The manuscript was written by me. Many valuable suggestions and discussions for this project were proposed by Prof. Dr. Haoqing Hou and Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner. Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal was in charge for general guidance and supervision for this project, and helped me in final version of the manuscript.

Melamine-formaldehyde (MF) resin and its derivatives have been extensively used in furniture, construction materials, tableware, adhesives, coatings, abrasive cleaner, textile treatment and other materials requiring enhanced mechanical properties. One of the disadvantages of those materials is their brittleness. Nylon-6 electrospun nanofibers have excellent mechanical properties, such as high tensile strength and toughness, and have also been applied as reinforcements to make many composites. Therefore, in this work, nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber mats were applied to reinforce MF resin via dip-coating (**Figure 2-1**) and filter-coating (**Figure 2-2**). These two methods resulted in a drastic effect of the quite different wetting behavior of reinforcing fiber mat by the MF resin on both morphology and mechanical properties of the composites.







Figure 2-2 Schematic process for the preparation of the MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites by passing MF solution through the nylon-6 nanomat and followed by hot-pressing (method 2).

CUMULATIVE PART OF DISSERTATION

The resulting composites made by method 1 exhibited quite different morphologies depending on the concentration of the MF solution applied (**Figure 2-3A** and **3B**). A deposition of MF resin on nylon-6 nanofibers appeared when nylon-6 nanofibers immersed in a low concentrated MF solution (5 wt%). However, immersion in highly concentrated (15 wt%) led to the deposition of MF resin both on fibers and in-between the fibers. Compared to the morphologies led by method 1, method 2 resulted a homogenous deposition of MF resin on/around nylon-6 nanofibers, which presented a core-shell morphology as shown in **Figure 2-3C**. Both methods applied for composite fabrication needed hot-pressing. However, the morphologies of the resulted composites after hot-pressing were quite different as shown in **Figure 2-4**. Both samples exhibited a similar content of MF (38 wt% and 34 wt%). However, compared to the morphology with no holes, cracks and fibers.



Figure 2-3 SEM images of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposite prepared by method 1 with MF concentration of 5 wt % (A) and 15 wt % (B) and SEM image of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposite prepared by method 2 (C).

The quite different wetting behavior and morphologies led to the differences of mechanical properties of the composites made by the two methods. As revealed by **Table 2-1**, due to the defects such as holes, cracks and bad interface between nylon-6 nanofibers and MF resin (**Figure 2-4A**), the nylon-6/MF composite film with 38 wt% MF made by method 1 showed a tensile strength of 54.5 MPa, elongation at break of 24.8% and toughness of 7.8 J/g. As a comparison, the homogenous nylon-6/MF composite film (**Figure 2-4B**) with 34 wt% MF made by method 2 showed a significant increase regarding tensile strength of 77.9 MPa, elongation at break of 38.5% and toughness of 17.6 J/g.



Figure 2-4 Morphology comparison of the nylon-6/MF nanocomposites after hot-pressing.

Table 2-1 Mechanical properties of MF/nylon-6 nano composites made by method 1and method 2* with different contents of MF resin.

MF content (wt%)	Stress (MPa)	Strain (%)	E modulus (2%) (GPa)	Toughness (J/g)
38	54.5 ± 1.4	24.8 ± 1.1	0.96 ± 0.09	7.8 ± 0.36
34*	77.9 ± 0.8	38.4 ± 0.8	0.85 ± 0.05	17.6 ± 0.45

As a conclusion, nylon-6/MF composite films were prepared by two different methods using electrospun nylon-6 nanofiber mats as reinforcement. Obvious reinforcement in mechanical properties of the MF resin was observed using electrospun nylon-6 nanofiber mats. A drastic effect of wetting behavior of the reinforcing nanofibers by the MF resin on both morphology and mechanical properties was presented. The core-shell morphology resulted from wetting nylon-6 nanofibers by passing through MF resin solution led to a significant improvement in mechanical properties as compared to the processes by immersing nylon-6 nanofiber mat in the MF resin solution for wetting of the fibers. Either fiber reinforced MF composites or MF glued nylon-6 nanofiber composites could be obtained depending on the amount of the reinforcing nylon-6 nanofiber mats.

2.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites



This work has already been published in:

Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic Polyurethane Composites", *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces*, **2012**, *4*, 4366-4372

Specific contributions by authors:

I performed the composite preparation and characterization of this work. The concept of novel layer-by-layer method was proposed by me. Gaigai Duan gave me support in interpretation of electron microscopy morphologies. The manuscript was written by me. Prof. Dr. Haoqing Hou and Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner proposed many valuable suggestions and discussions for this project. Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal was responsible for guidance and supervision of the project.

As for nanofiber reinforced polymer composites, wetting behavior of nanofibers by the polymer matrix is important. Complete wetted nanofibers by polymer matrix are necessary for high performance nanofiber reinforced composites with reinforced mechanical properties and high transparency. In this work, we developed a novel layer-by-layer procedure based on solution casting, electrospinning, and film stacking (**Figure 2-5**) for preparing highly transparent nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) composite films. This novel composite fabrication method greatly improved the interaction between nylon-6/TPU interface, and led to a significant improvement on mechanical properties without sacrificing optical properties like the transparency of TPU.



Figure 2-5 Schematic of preparation of nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite films.

In this work, nylon-6 nanofibers were used as reinforcement due to (1) their excellent mechanical properties and (2) their insolubility in DMF but quite fast and complete wetting by DMF solvent (**Figure 2-6A**). When nylon-6 nanofibers were directly electrospun on the solid TPU film, we could found the bad contact between

CUMULATIVE PART OF DISSERTATION

nanofibers and TPU resin(**Figure 2-6B**), which provided a poor interfacial interaction between fibers and matrix and led to bad quality composites. As a comparison, the direct deposition of electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers on TPU/DMF solution could achieve good wetting and embedding of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU matrix. The nanofibers could be completely and quickly wetted by the DMF solvent and subsequently sinked into the TPU resin while still maintaining the fiber morphology and forming tight contact with TPU resin (**Figure 2-6C**). The homogeneous distribution and nice embedding of nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU matrix also provided the chance of formation of hydrogen bonding between nylon-6 and TPU, which was proved by the FT-IR shift of carbonyl peak of nylon-6 in composite film.



Figure 2-6 DMF wetting behavior of nylon-6 nanofiber mat (A) and surface morphologies of 2-layered TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composites (B: nylon-6 nanofibers on TPU film; C: nylon-6 nanofibers embedded in TPU resin). Scale bar = 10 μm.

By using this novel layer-by-layer fabricating method, the resulted TPU/nylon-6 composite film presented excellent mechanical properties and transparency with very small amount of nylon-6 nanofibers. As shown in **Figure 2-7A**, only 0.4 wt% amount of the nylon-6 nanofibers (corresponding to 1 min electrospinning for each layer) already showed great reinforcing effects although the optimized improved mechanical properties were obtained with 1.7 wt% (corresponding to 4 min electrospinning for each layer) reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers. As increasing the electrospinning time, the mechanical properties including tensile strength, elongation at break, E modulus, and toughness first increased until about 4 min electrospinning and then decreased when further increasing the electrospinning time to 8 min. Compared to the high

transparency of neat TPU film (transmittance of 96%), **Figure 2-7B** and **7C** also revealed that all the nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite films showed very high light transmittance of more than 85% although the transmittance of the composite films was dependent on the amount of nanofibers.



Figure 2-7 Typical stress-strain curves (A), UV-Vis spectra(B) of TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composites with different electrospinning time for each nanofiber layer and digital photograph (C) of nylon-6 nanofiber mat, transparent neat TPU film and composite film.

To reveal the reasons for the improvement of mechanical properties and the high transparency, the cross-section morphology of the composite films was investigated (**Figure 2-8**). Compared to the smooth cross-section of pure TPU film (**Figure 2-8A**), all the composite films presented a rougher laminated morphology with 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers distributing in the TPU matrix (**Figure 2-8B**, **8C** and **8D**). An increasing homogeneously distributed electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU matrix without any aggregation were observed when increasing the electrospinning time from 2 min to 4 min. When further increasing the electrospinning time to 8 min, larger amount of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers were aggregated and formed defects like pull-out nanofibers and holes/voids around the nanofibers. This led to reduction of mechanical properties and the transparency. The reason for the high transparency of the composite films might be due to the small diameter of reinforcing nanofibers (less than 400 nm) and the quite similar refractive index of the nylon-6 (1.53) and TPU (1.51).

CUMULATIVE PART OF DISSERTATION



Figure 2-8 Cross-section morphologies of neat TPU film (A) and laminated TPU/nylon-6 composites with 2 min (B), 4 min (C) and 8 min (D) electrospinning time on each layer. Scale bar = 10 μm.

As a conclusion, a successful novel procedure was used to make nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane films. This simple process can be extended to other thermoplastic polymers. With this method, very small amount of nylon-6 nanofibers, such as 3.4 wt%, 1.7 wt%, 0.9 wt%, and even 0.4 wt%, could led to significant improvement in mechanical properties. Moreover, improved mechanical properties were achieved without sacrificing high transparency of the composite films.

2.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites



This work has already been published in:

Shaohua Jiang, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites", *Composite Science and Technology*, **2013**, *87(18)*, 164-169

Specific contributions by authors:

I performed the fabrication and the characterization of composite films. Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner proposed the idea of applying short electrospun nanofibers in polymer composites and provided many useful suggestions for this project. The manuscript was written by me. Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal was responsible for the general guidance and supervision of this project.

CUMULATIVE PART OF DISSERTATION

In this paper, the preparation of short electrospun nanofibers and the usage of short electrospun nanofibers as reinforcements were reported for the first time. The properties including mechanical properties and optical properties of the composite films with varying predetermined amount of short nanofibers were studied. The morphology and the interaction between fiber/matrix interface were investigated to provide evidence for the reinforcing effect of short nanofibers. The role of chemical structure of matrix polymer in enhancing fiber/matrix interface was also highlighted by using poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) as matrix for comparison purposes with thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU).

The short electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers with a mean diameter of 163 nm (**Figure 2-9A**) and length from tens to hundreds micrometers (**Figure 2-9B**) were prepared by cutting off the pristine electrospun nanofiber mats. Those short nylon-6 nanofibers could be dispersed in DMF solvent, TPU/DMF and PMMA/DMF without aggregation (**Figure 2-9C**, **9E** and **9G**), which is necessary for preparing high quality composite films. After dispersion casting and drying, the resulted TPU/nylon-6 composite films showed some imprinting of short nanofibers on the surface but no pulled-out short fibers were observed on the surface (**Figure 2-9I** and **9J**), which suggested a homogeneous distribution of short nanofibers among the whole composite films. As comparison, PMMA/nylon-6 composite film presented very smooth surface and no imprints of nanofibers in/on the surface (**Figure 2-9K**), which indicated that all the short nanofibers were distributed inside the bulk of the PMMA matrix.



Figure 2- 9 SEM of short nylon-6 nanofibers (A); optical microscope photo of short nylon-6 nanofiber (B); digital photos of 1.0 wt% short nylon-6 nanofiber dispersion in DMF (C); pure TPU (D); nylon-6 short fiber/TPU dispersion (NT3.5) (E); PMMA solution in DMF (F); nylon-6 short fiber/PMMA dispersion (NP3.5) (G); SEM of surface morphologies of pure TPU film (H), NT2.5 (I), NT5.0 (J) and NP3.5 (K).

The distribution differences of short nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU and PMMA were also confirmed by surface analysis using ATR-IR and FT-IR with transmission mode. The ATR-IR spectra of TPU/nylon-6 composites films presented characteristic peaks of nylon-6 and the blue shift of the carbonyl peak and NH peak (**Figure 2-10A**). Those signals proved the distribution of short nanofibers on the surface of composite film and the strong hydrogen bonding between TPU and nylon-6. In comparison, the ATR-IR spectra of PMMA/nylon-6 composites films showed no characteristic signal of nylon-6 and the IR spectra with transmission mode of PMMA/nylon-6 composites films showed the IR signals from nylon-6 but no changes in the peak positions (**Figure 2-10B** and **10C**). Both of those phenomenon proved that no nanofibers were on the surface of the composite films and no hydrogen bonding existed between nylon-6 nanofibers and PMMA matrix.



Figure 2-10 (A and B) ATR-IR spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofiber mat and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU and PMMA composite films. (C) FT-IR spectra with transmission mode of pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofibers and composite films NP2.5 and NP5.0.

Short nylon-6 nanofibers had reinforcing effect on both TPU/nylon-6 and PMMA/nylon-6 composite films. However, more significant improvement in mechanical properties was observed for TPU/nylon-6 composite film than for PMMA/nylon-6 composite films (Figure 2-11). When increasing the amount of short nanofibers to 3.5 wt%, a 185% enhancement in E modulus and a 30% enhancement in tensile strength were observed. As comparison, the best improvement of mechanical properties (18.7% in tensile strength and 23.4% in E modulus) were obtained when adding 2.5 wt% short nylon-6 nanofibers in PMMA matrix. The trend of the mechanical properties of short nanofiber reinforced composite film and the difference of mechanical enhancement between TPU/nylon-6 composite film and PMMA/nylon-6 composites film could be explained by the tensile failure structure of the films as shown in Figure 2-12. On increasing the amount of short nanofibers into PMMA/nylon-6 composite films, more defects such as aggregation of fibers and voids/cracks were observed (Figure 2-12B and 12C), which led to the drop of the mechanical properties. In contrast, strong adhesion of nylon-6 nanofibers with TPU matrix without fiber aggregation and voids/cracks as presented in Figure 2-12E and 12F, and the strong hydrogen bonding between nylon-6 nanofibers as proved by ATR-IR spectra, gave rise to the great improvement in mechanical properties.



Figure 2-11 Comparison of Strength (■), E modulus (●) and toughness (▲) of pureTPU film, PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films.



Figure 2-12 SEM pictures of the tensile failure structure of pure PMMA film (A), NP2.5 (B), NP3.5 (C), TPU film (D), NT2.5 (E) and NT5.0 (F).

The fabricated TPU/nylon-6 and PMMA/nylon-6 composite films were visible transparent as presented by the photos in **Figure 2-13**. With the same amount of short nylon-6 nanofibers such as 2.5 wt% or even higher amount such as 5.0 wt%, TPU/nylon-6 composite films showed higher transparency in the visible light range

than PMMA/nylon-6 composite films. The quite small diameter (less than 200 nm) of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers and the small difference in refractive index between fibers and matrix resulted the transparency of the composite films. Better distribution of short nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU matrix than in PMMA matrix and better interface without voids/cracks between TPU/nylon-6 led to the higher visible light transmittance.



Figure 2- 13 UV-vis spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films and digital photo of transparent neat films and composite films on glass slides.

In conclusion, short electrospun nanofibers were reported as reinforcement for the first time. Quite small amount (less than 5 wt%) of short electrospun nylon-6 nanofibers could significantly improve the mechanical properties like tensile strength, E modulus and toughness of polymer matrix like TPU and PMMA. The strong interaction like H-bonding between fibers and matrix could provide a homogeneous distribution of nanofibers and led to great improvement in mechanical properties (185% increase in E modulus) as compared by using TPU and PMMA as matrix polymers. The reinforcement by using short nylon-6 nanofibers could be obtained with high transparency of the composite films. Advantages of using short electrospun nanofibers like use of predetermined amount of nanofibers, mixing in solution and homogeneous distribution in the whole bulk of matrix polymers were revealed to lead to significant improvement of mechanical properties.

2.4. Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites



This work has already been published in:

Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Judith Schöbel, Seema Agarwal^{*} and Andreas Greiner^{*}, "Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide Nanocomposites", *Composite Science and Technology*, **2013**, *88(14)*, 57-61

Specific contributions by authors:

I performed the fabrication of short PI nanofiber reinforced PI composites. Gaigai Duan gave me support on the imidization of polyamic acid. Judith Schöbel carried out a research practical project with me and made some of the composite films under my guidance. The manuscript was written by me. Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner help me with many useful suggestions for this project. Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal was responsible for the general guidance and supervision of this project. This paper highlighted a novel process for nanofiber nonwovens by liquid processing techniques. This nanofiber nonwovens made up with short electrospun nanofibers is similar to electrospun nonwovens but is independent from the demands of the electrospinning process. The short electrospun nanofibers provided completely new opportunities for the application of electrospun nanofibers. In this paper, self-reinforced polyimide (PI) composite films reinforced by short electrospun PI nanofibers were selected as representative examples for showing the versatility of short electrospun nanofibers. Significant enhancement of 53% and 87% in mechanical properties like tensile strength and E modulus were achieved by using only 2 wt% of short PI nanofibers. Parallel experiments by using long and continuous electrospun PI nanofiber mats as reinforcements revealed amazing difference. To achieve the same improvement in tensile strength, 38 wt% of continuously long fibers were required in comparison to only 2 wt% of short fibers required.

The short PI nanofiber dispersions (**Figure 2-14A**) could be prepared by cutting the PI nanofiber mat in the cooled isopropanol/water (30/70 w/w) by a high rotated blade. After filtration, the resulted short nanofiber exhibited a fiber length arranged from 50 to 500 μ m and diameter of 0.2-0.5 μ m (**Figure 2-14B**). As compared to the nanofiber deposition by standard electrospinning process, improved adhesion of short PI nanofibers on the filter paper substrate could be observed by filtration the short nanofiber dispersion (**Figure 2-14C**). Moreover, by filtration of the dispersion of short nanofibers and adjusting the amount of dispersions, nanofiber nonwovens with different homogeneous thickness could be easily achieved.



Figure 2-14 Photograph of dispersions of electrospun fibers after cutting (A); SEM micrograph of short PI nanofibers (B) and SEM micrograph of short PI nanofibers deposited from dispersion on filter paper (C). Scale bar of (B) and (C) = $10 \mu m$.

The insolubility or no swelling of PI in DMF solvent provided the opportunity of applying short PI nanofibers as reinforcement to make self-reinforce PI composite films. Different amount of short PI nanofibers were redispersed in PAA precursor solution (10 wt% in DMF). After the same imidization process as for the electrospun PI nanofiber nonwovens, the resulting PI/PI nanofiber composite films were obtained, which were referred as PIPICOF. In order to compare the effect of short PI nanofibers on the mechanical properties of PIPICOF, the PIPICOF were also prepared by using PI nanofiber mat with long and continuous nanofibers. The comparison of mechanical properties like tensile strength and E modulus of those two kinds of PIPICOF were presented in Figure 2-15. As for PIPICOF reinforced by short PI nanofibers, the mechanical properties showed first increasing and then decreasing as increasing the amount of short nanofibers. The highest improvement of 53% and 87% in tensile strength and E modulus were obtained for the sample with only 2 wt% of short PI nanofibers as compared to the pure PI films. Those mechanical properties achieved by adding only 2 wt% short PI nanofibers was significantly higher than any of the PIPICOF with as-electrospun. What's more, due to lack in homogeneity, it was impossible to prepare nanofiber composites with less than 10 wt% of as-electrospun long PI nanofibers.



Figure 2-15 Comparison of E modulus (●) and strength (□) of PIPICOF and PI self-reinforced nanofiber composite with as-electrospun PI nanofibers and a pure PI film.



Figure 2-16 Fractured surface morphologies of PIPICOF with different amount of short PI nanofibers (A, B, C, and D) and as-electrospun long PI nanofibers (E, F, G, H, and I). Scale bar of (A), (B), (C), (D), (F), (H) and (I) = 1 μ m and scale bar of (E) and (G) = 10 μ m.

To reveal the reasons for the trend of mechanical properties of PIPICOF, the fractured surface morphologies of PIPICOF with different amount of PI nanofibers were investigated as shown in **Figure 2-16**. When small amount of short PI nanofibers such as 0.5 wt%, 1.0 wt% and 2.0 wt% were applied, the short fibers were isolated from each other, which suggested a homogeneous distribution of nanofibers in the PI matrix. No defects such as holes or cracks were observed at the interface between fibers and matrix, and the fibers were intimately embedded in PI matrix. Further increasing the amount of short PI nanofibers into 3 wt% led to the aggregation of fibers, which resulted in the decreasing in mechanical properties. As comparison, the disadvantages of using as-electrospun PI nanofibers as reinforcements were obvious. First it was impossible to prepare PIPICOF with less than 10 wt% PI nanofiber mat and with predicted amount of PI nanofibers. Second, the wetting of PI nanofiber mat

CUMULATIVE PART OF DISSERTATION

by PAA precursor solution was not complete due to the high amount of nanofibers. Thirdly, the high amount of as-electrospun PI nanofibers led to the aggregation of fibers, large amount of holes and pull-out fibers. Fourth, high amount of as-electrospun PI nanofibers as reinforcements could not result PI composite films but only PI matrix coated PI nanofibers.

In conclusion, short electrospun nanofibers provided completely new fields for the application of electrospun nanofibers. This technique for short electrospun nanofibers could be extended to other polymers with different structures and properties. The use of short nanofibers does not only offers advantages of processing process but also provides opportunities for significant property improvements as shown in this paper as an example for self-reinforced PIPICOF. It is obvious that better improvement of mechanical properties were obtained by using short PI nanofibers than using as-electrospun PI nanofiber mat as reinforcements. The main reason for superior mechanical properties with short nanofibers is the quite better distribution of the short nanofibers in polymer matrix. The application of short nanofibers is not limited to fiber reinforced composites. We can expect that the short nanofibers can be broadly applied in many other fields.

3. Publications

3.1. Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine-Formaldehyde Composites

Shaohua Jiang, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Elestrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine-Formaldehyde Composites", ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces,
2012, 4, 2597-2603

7-1	Rightslink® by Cop	yright Clearance Center	
Copyright Clearance Center	ghtsL	ink [®]	me Account He
	IS Title:	Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine- Formaldehyde Composites	Logged in as: Shaohua Jiang Account #:
	Author:	Shaohua Jiang, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal	LOGOUT
	Publication	: Applied Materials	
	Publisher:	American Chemical Society	
	Date:	May 1, 2012	
	Copyright @ Society	2012, American Chemical	

PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats, and translations.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional uses are granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please submit a new request.



Copyright © 2014 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement.</u> Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

ACS APPLIED MATERIALS & INTERFACES



Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine-Formaldehyde Composites

Shaohua Jiang,[†] Haoqing Hou,[‡] Andreas Greiner,[†] and Seema Agarwal^{*,†}

[†]Philipps-Universität Marburg, Department of Chemistry, Hans-Meerwein-Strasse, D-35032 Marburg, Germany [‡]Jiangxi Nanofiber Engineering Center, Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang 330022, China

ABSTRACT: The use of nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber mats as reinforcement with synergistic effect in tensile strength and toughness for melamine-formaldehyde (MF) resin is highlighted in this article. Interestingly, there was a drastic effect of the wetting procedure of reinforcing fiber mat by the MF resin on the morphology and mechanical properties of the composites. The wetting of nylon fibers by passing through a solution of MF resin showed a core-shell morphology and a significant improvement in properties as compared to the dip-coating procedure for wetting of the fibers. Depending on the wt% of reinforcing nylon fiber mats,



the composites could be considered as either fiber reinforced MF composites or MF glued nylon fibers. KEYWORDS: nanocomposites, mechanical properties, electrospinning, heat treatment, nanofibers

■ INTRODUCTION

Melamine-formaldehvde (MF) resin and its derivatives are well-known for stiffness, hardness, strong adhesion to cellulose, and easy processing and are therefore widely applied in furniture, construction materials, tableware, adhesives, coatings, abrasive cleaner, textile treatment, and other materials requiring enhanced mechanical properties.^{1–6} Pure MF resin is easily prepared from water-based melamine and formaldehyde solution by polycondensation and cross-linking during the compression molding or heating procedure,⁷ but it is difficult to get the mechanical properties data of neat MF resin as it is brittle and develops extensive microcracks during sample preparation. The only data available indicated the mechanical properties of neat MF as a tensile strength of about 40 MPa and a stiffness of approximately 8-9 GPa, which implies a very low strain of less than 0.5%.8 Different additives have been used in the past to improve the mechanical properties of MF resin, such as carbon fibers, $^{\rm 8}$ cellulose, 9 flax fibers, 10 pulp fibers, 11 carbon nanotubes,¹² and MWNT (multiwalled carbon nano-tubes).¹³ The resulting composites showed a higher tensile strength and modulus but nearly no increase in the elongation at break. Recently, polymer nanofibers produced by electrospinning have been attracting more and more attention for the preparation of composites. The continuous long fibers produced by electrospinning do not exhibit fiber edges (ends) and therefore lack stress concentration points in composites. During the electrospinning, the polymer molecular chains tend to align along the fiber axis as the polymer jet is drawn up to 100 000 times in less than 0.1 s. These highly molecular oriented nanofibers can provide a mechanically strong fiber for the preparation of fiber reinforced composites. Also, in most cases, electrospun nanofibers are collected in the form of a random aligned nonwoven mat with high porosity

and large specific surface area. Therefore, the nanomat can be more feasibly impregnated with the resin solution and could make a remarkable improvement regarding the fracture toughness compared to the bulk film counterpart. Ramakrishna et al. pointed out in their review article that the incorporation of entangled nanofiber layers, characterized by a combination of interlocked in-plane and out-of-plane nanofibers, might contribute to improve interlaminar fracture resistance.14 addition, the diameters of electrospun nanofibers ranging from several to hundreds of nanometers can decrease the refractive index difference between the resin and reinforcing nanofibers, which is a significant advantage in producing transparent composites. Early reports of reinforcing effects of nanofibers in an epoxy and a rubber matrix (styrene-butadiene rubber) were contributed by Kim et al.¹⁵ They showed an increase in Young's modulus, fracture toughness, and fracture energy of the epoxy matrix. Bergshoef et al. showed the formation of transparent epoxy composites using 4 wt % nylon-4, 6 electrospun nanofibers (30–200 nm in diameter).¹⁶ Nylon-6 nanofibers produced by electrospinning exhibit excellent mechanical properties, such as toughness and high tensile strength,¹⁷ and have also been adopted to make composites with poly (methyl methacrylate),¹⁹ poylaniline,²⁰ polycaprolactone,²¹ and with bis-glycidyl methacrylate/tetraglycidylmthacrylate ((BIS-GMA/TEGDMA) as dental restorative composites.²² The field of applying electrospun nanofibers as reinforcement is still in its infancy with just a few countable reports in the literature. A recent review article¹⁴ is a good refrence supporting this fact. In this work, we highlight the use of nylon-6 nanofibers for

Received: February 18, 2012 Accepted: May 1, 2012 Published: May 1, 2012

ACS Publications © 2012 American Chemical Society

2597

dx.doi.org/10.1021/am300286m | ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2012, 4, 2597-2603
ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces

preparing very tough and transparent composites with MF resin. The importance of the fiber wetting procedure for the preparation of the corresponding composites is also emphasized. A change of the wetting method could bring about a drastic change in the morphology (from film to core-shell) of the wet fibers. Different composites with varied amounts of nylon-6 fibers generated a profile of properties. Even composites with very high amounts of fibers (nylon-6 mats) with high strength could be prepared from core-shell fiber composites. FT-IR, SEM, TGA, tensile testing, and UV-vis spectroscopy techniques were applied to determine the structure and properties of the MF/nylon-6 nanofiber composites.

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Materials. Nylon-6 (Ultramid B24) was kindly supplied by BASF. Melamine–formaldehyde–water solution (Madurit SMW818 75% WA) was supplied by INEOS Melamines GmbH, Germany. The solvents, formic acid (FA, \geq 98 wt %) and acetic acid (AcOH, \geq 98 wt %), were acquired by Sigma-Aldrich. All materials were used as received without further purification.

Electrospinning and Composite Preparation. Nylon-6 was dissolved in FA/AcOH (40/60, w/w) to form an electrospinning solution with a concentration of 20 wt %. During the electrospinning process, a high voltage electric field of 100 kV/m, by imposing a 25 kV electrical potential to a 25 cm gap between a spinneret and a rotating cylinder, was applied on the flat tip of a needle. The polymer solution was delivered by a syringe pump at a feeding rate of 0.3 mL/h, and the nylon-6 nanofibers were collected on a cylinder, which rotated at 30 rpm. The resulting nanofiber mat was cut into small samples exhibiting a size of 4.5×5.0 cm and dried in a vacuum oven at 80 °C for 12 h. Two different methods were used for making composites, and their respective advantages and disadvatges are discussed in the Results and Discussion section. In method 1, the dried nanofiber mats were immersed into the melamine–formaldehyde–water solutions of different concentrations (i.e., 5 wt %, 10 wt %, and 15 wt % MF in



Figure 1. Schematic process for the preparation of the MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites by immersing and hot-pressing (method 1).

water) (method 1; dip-coating; Figure 1) which were diluted from a 75 wt % MF solution, or alternatively, MF solutions were passed through the fiber mats; i.e., a process similar to liquid filtration (method 2; Figure 2). The electrospun nanomat is kept between two Whatman qualitative filter papers (Grade 1, 11 μ m) in a suction filtration flakk, and MF solutions of different concentrations were passed under vacuum (about 20 bar) in different experiments.

After wetting of the fibers (either method 1 or method 2), the sheets were dried at at 100 °C for 12 h and subsequently two impregnated and dried sheets were hot pressed at 180 °C for 10 min at a pressure of 20 MPa.²³ During the hot-pressing, the MF was polymerized and cross-linked around the nylon-6 nanofibers, resulting in composites with varying compositions. Two electrospun nylon-6 mats were also hot-pressed under similar conditions as applied for the formation of the composites and used as blank for properties comparison.

Characterization. A JSM-7500 scanning electronic microscope (SEM) was applied to investigate the morphology and structure of nylon-6 nanofibers and MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites. Prior to scanning, the specimens were sputter-coated with gold to avoid charge accumulations. Diameter distribution of the nylon-6 nanofibers was obtained by analysis of the SEM images via the ImageJ software. Mechanical properties were measured by means of a Zwick/Roell BT1-FR 0.5TN-D14 machine equipped with a 200 N KAF-TC load sensor using a stretching rate of 5 mm/min at room temperature. Dogbone-shaped specimens were cut with a length of 3.0 cm and a width of 0.2 cm. FT-IR spectra were recorded on a Digilab Excalibur Series with an ATR unit MIRacle by Pike Technology. Transparency in the range of visible light was investigated by a Perkin-Elmer Lambda 9 UV/vis/NIR spectrophotometer operating in transmittance mode (200-800 nm). Thermal properties of the composites were evaluated on Mettler Toledo TGA/SDTA 851e at a heating rate of 10 °C/min in N_2 from 50 to 800 $^\circ \text{C}.$

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Electrospinning is a fast and effective technology to prepare nanofibers with a diameter distribution from several to hundreds of nanometers.²⁴ In this work, nylon-6 nanofibers were electrospun from 20 wt % nylon FA/AcOH solutions. They comprised a smooth surface, a random alignment, and a centralized diameter distribution. As shown in Figure 3A,B, the diameter of nanofibers is mainly distributed from 186 to 221 nm and no defects such as beads, pores, or ribbons were found. For the preparation of the composites, nylon-6 nanofiber mats were impregnated with the MF water solution. This was due to (1) the high porosity and low water contact angle of nylon-6 nanofiber mats, which can be as low as 12 degrees after a contact time of 10 s²⁵ and (2) an improvement in wetting behavior relative to nylon-6 bluk.²⁶ Two different methods were used to wet the nylon fibers. The first method made use of immersing the nylon fibers in MF solutions of different



Figure 2. Schematic process for the preparation of the MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites by passing a MF solution through the nylon-6 nanomat and followed by hot-pressing (method 2).

2598







Figure 3. SEM images of (A) and (B) nylon-6 nanofibers, (C) and (D) MF/nylon-6 nanocomposite prepared by immersion into a MF solution of a concentration of 5 wt %, and (E) and (F) MF/nylon-6 nanocomposite made by immersion into a MF solution of a concentration of 15 wt %. (A') column diagram of the diameter distribution of nylon-6 nanofibers.



Figure 4. FT-IR spectra of composites with different contents of nylon-6 nanomat: A, 0 wt % (neat MF); B, 13 wt %; C, 26 wt %; D, 30 wt %; E, 62 wt %; F, 100 wt % (nylon-6 nanofibers).



Figure 5. Thermal stabilities of pure MF resin, nylon-6 nanofiber sheets, and MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites with different amounts of nylon-6 nanofibers.

concentrations. To make composites with high amounts of MF resin, a more concentrated solution of MF was required. Different MF/nylon-6 composites with varied amounts of

2599

dx.doi.org/10.1021/am300286m | ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2012, 4, 2597-2603

Table 1. Thermal Properties of MF/Nylon-6 Composites with Different Contents of Nylon-6 Nanomats

content (wt %)	0	13	30	62	100
T _{5%} (°C)	288	289	302	352	372
$T_{\rm d}$ (°C)	386	395	403	418	450
char yield (%)	26	23	19	11	4



Figure 6. Typical stress-strain curves of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites (method 1) with a content of nylon-6 in composites of (A) 100 wt %; (B) 62 wt %; (C) 30 wt %; (D) 13 wt %.

nylon-6 in the composite (13 wt %, 30 wt %, and 62 wt %) were prepared as determined by gravimetry.

The resulting composites depicted in Figure 3C,D exhibited quite different morphologies depending on the concentration of the respective MF solution applied. Immersion in low concentrated (5 wt %) MF solution led to deposition of MF resin on fibers. However, immersion into highly concentrated MF solutions (15 wt %) led to the deposition of MF resin both on fibers and in-between the fibers in the form of films between fibers. A small coiling of MF coated nylon fibers in composites was observed after drying at 100 °C for 12 h (Figure 3). This could be due to the different coefficient of thermal expansion between nylon-6 and MF resin.

res repried materials & meenaces	ACS A	pplied	Materials 8	Interfaces
----------------------------------	-------	--------	-------------	------------

Table 2. Mechanical Properties of MF/Nylon-6 Nanocomposites Made by Method 1 and Method 2* with Different Contents of Nylon-6 Nanofibers

nylon-6 content (wt %)	stress (MPa)	strain (%)	E modulus (2%) (GPa)	integration of stress–strain curves $\left(MJ/m^3\right)$	toughness (J/g)
100	47.5 ± 1.4	76.2 ± 1.6	0.37 ± 0.02	24.7 ± 0.85	21.8 ± 0.75
62	54.5 ± 1.4	24.8 ± 1.1	0.96 ± 0.09	10.7 ± 0.49	7.8 ± 0.36
30	61.7 ± 0.3	10.6 ± 0.5	1.34 ± 0.04	4.8 ± 0.33	3.6 ± 0.25
13	74.5 ± 2.9	2.85 ± 0.1	2.88 ± 0.08	1.2 ± 0.07	1.0 ± 0.05
82*	65.2 ± 1.3	67.9 ± 2.0	0.59 ± 0.23	31.6 ± 1.00	27.0 ± 0.85
72*	75.1 ± 1.0	43.4 ± 1.4	0.79 ± 0.07	23.4 ± 0.88	19.6 ± 0.74
66*	77.9 ± 0.8	38.4 ± 0.8	0.85 ± 0.05	21.3 ± 0.55	17.6 ± 0.45



Figure 7. SEM images of fracture cross-section of composites (method 1) with a content of nylon-6 nanofibers of (A) and (B) 13 wt % and (C) and (D) 62 wt %. Scale bar: (A) and (C), 10 μ m; (B) and (D), 1 μ m.

FT-IR spectra of neat MF, nylon-6 nanofibers, and the MF/ nylon-6 nanofiber composites are shown in Figure 4. The pure MF resin exhibited a strong and sharp peak at 810 cm⁻¹, which is characteristic for the triazine ring, while nylon-6 nanofiber sheets showed a strong band at 1640 cm⁻¹, which was due to the vibration of amide (Figure 4A,F).^{27,28} Regarding MF/ nylon-6 nanocomposites, according to Figure 4B–E, the characteristic peaks shown in the spectra of neat MF and nylon-6 also appeared in the spectra of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites. The intensity of the peak at 1640 cm⁻¹ became weaker, whereas the intensity of the peak at 810 cm⁻¹ increased, as the content of nylon-6 nanofibers was raised in the composites. This confirmed that the integrated chemical behavior of both materials was present in the composites.

The resulting composites were investigated for their thermal stability by thermogravimetry in N_2 at a heating rate of 10 °C/

min. As shown in Figure 5, all the samples exhibited an excellent heat-resistance up to at least 200 °C. As for nylon-6 nanofibers, a single step of thermal degradation was observed, while the TGA curve of the pure MF resin showed three stages of degradation. The first step of weight loss started at 210 °C and could be due to the dehydration of the uncross-linked methylol in MF resin; the second obvious degradation from 350 to 400 °C might have resulted from a decomposition of aliphatic ether group; the last slow weight loss may be due to a decomposition of the triazine. This decomposition behavior is similar to the literature for MF resins.²⁷ Similar trends could be found among the TGA curves of MF/nylon-6 composites. The further results are summarized in Table 1, in which $T_{5\%}$ temperature at which 5% weight loss took place, the decomposition temperature (T_d) , and char yield at 800 °C are compared. As the content of nylon-6 nanofibers increased,



Figure 8. (A) Photographs of semitransparent composites. (B) Transmission spectra of composites with varying content of nylon-6 nanofibers.





^{*a*}Scale bar = 1 μ m.

 $T_{5\%}$ of the composite increased from 289 to 330 °C, while $T_{\rm d}$ increased from 396 to 418 °C. However, the char yield at 800 °C showed a decrease from 23% to 12% as the amount of nylon-6 nanofibers increased and the lowest char yield for nylon-6 nanofiber mat was seen. The char yield is one of the measures of thermal stability. The thermal degradation behavior of MF resin is well-known in the literature. The degradation products are water, formaldehyde, hydrogen cyanide, carbon monoxide, and melamine. The melamine can undergo further condensation to give high molecular weight solid degradation products. According to the literature, the C–N bonds in MF

char do not undergo further combustion and the composites with more MF content show, in general, more char yield. 29,30

The mechanical properties of MF/nylon-6 nanofiber composites reinforced with different amounts of nylon-6 made by method 1 were measured. Typical stress-strain curves and the tensile properties are presented in Figure 6 and Table 2 respectively. The electrospun nylon-6 mats alone (two mats without impregnation with MF)) were also hot-pressed under similar conditions as applied for the formation of the composites and tested for mechanical properties. The compressed nylon-6 nanomat (blank) exhibited a tensile strength of 47 MPa strain at break of around 76% and toughness of around 21.8 J/g. The MF/nylon-6 composite with 13 wt % of nylon-6 comprised a very high tensile strength of 74.5 MPa and strain at break of about 3%. The reinforcement with nylon-6 nanofibers showed a synergistic effect regarding the tensile strength of the resulting composites with a value higher than those of nylon-6 nanofiber mats or MF resin. This value was nearly 2 times the strength and 6 times the strain of the pure MF resin. Further, a decrease in tensile strength and an increase in strain at break on increasing the nylon-6 content in the composites was detected, but the tensile strength is always higher compared to that of pure MF resin or nylon-6 nanofiber mats. The nylon-6 nanofibers were nonaligned and randomly distributed in the composites as shown in the Figure 3. During tensile testing, the stretching force was taken by reinforcing nylon-6 fibers and the fricton between fibers helped in delaying composite failure. Therefore, more fibers resulted in a higher strain, as shown in the tensile testing results of the composites.

Generally, cracking is one of the most important factors to affect the strength of materials.³¹ Figure 7 shows SEM micrographs of the fracture cross-section of the composites with different contents of nylon-6 nanofibers. Samples with 13 wt % nanofibers comprised a smooth cross-section, and the interfaces between fibers and matrix were integrated closely. Nevertheless, a rougher morphology appeared when the content of nanofibers was increased, and many cracks could be detected (Figure 7C,D). When cracks appear, the strain energy was released in a material volume adjacent to the crack. Thus, a smaller strength was obtained upon increasing the content of fibers.

The composites prepared from MF and nylon-6 nanofibers were semitransparent as shown in Figure 8A. This appearance of the nanocomposite might be the result of the small diameter

Research Article



Figure 9. Core-shell structure of the nanocomposites with 66 wt % nylon fibers before hot-pressing (A) SEM (scale bar = 1 µm); (B) TEM.



Figure 10. Typical stress-strain curves of MF/nylon-6 nanocomposites (method 2) with different contents of MF.

of nylon-6 nanofibers and nearly the same refractive index of the nylon-6 and the MF resin, 1.53 and 1.52, respectively.^{32,33} However, the transparency decreased as the content of fibers was increased, which can be proved by the transmission spectra shown in Figure 8B. When the nylon-6 nanofiber content increased from 13 wt % to 62 wt %, the transmittance decreased dramatically from 70% to 24% at a wavelength of 800 nm. A higher content of nanofibers in the composite shielded the transmittance of visible light. Therefore, the composite with 13 wt % fibers, which showed a smooth cross-section, exhibited the highest transmittance of 70% (800 nm), which is only 8% less than the transmittance of pure MF, and was found to be best in terms of mechanical properties also.

As described above, the comparison of SEM pictures of composites with different amounts of nylon-6 fibers before and after hot-pressing revealed an irregular and incomplete wetting/ covering of nylon-6 fibers for very high amounts of nylon-6 fibers, i.e., 62 wt %. Therefore, an attempt was also made to modify the wetting procedure of nylon-6 nanomats with MF resin for composite formation. Instead of immersing the nylon-6 nanofiber mat into the MF solution, MF solutions with different concentrations were passed through nylon-6 nanofiber mats in a process similar to liquid filtration, as depicted in Figure 2 (method 2). Afterward, two impregnated nanomats were hot-pressed together as described in the experimental part. This resulted in the generation of composites with different amounts of nylon fibers as determined by gravimetry.

The morphologies of the resulting composites are listed in Table 3. A good comparison can be found among composites 3 and 4 in Table 3. Composite 3 was prepared by passing MF solution through the nylon-6 fiber mat (method 2) whereas composite 4 was made by immersing nylon-6 fiber mat in a dilute solution of MF (method 1). Both exhibited a similar content of nylon-6, i.e., 66% and 62 wt %, respectively, as determined by gravimetry. The comparison of the respective SEM pictures clearly showed the advantage of passing MF solution through the nylon-6 mat (method 2) as the wetting procedure. In this case, the whole nylon-6 mat was completey wetted without cracks and inhomogeneous wetting. The resulting composite fibers had a core-shell morphology, as shown in Figure 9. In comparison to this, immersion of nylon-6 mat in MF solution provided an incompletely wetted mat (composite 4). This was reflected in the properties of composites as well (Figure 10 and Table 2). Composite 3 showed a significant increase regarding tensile stress (78 MPa vs 54 MPa) and elongation at break (38% vs 25%) as compared to composite 4 prepared by method 1. In addition, the composites with extremely high amounts of nylon-6 fibers (around 82 wt %) prepared by method 2 showed a significant improvement of the mechanical properties. The shell of MF resin glued the fibers together and strengthened the interface bewteen matrix (MF resin) and the reinforcing fiber (nylon-6) in composites made by method 2.

The toughness of composites is a measure of work done per unit mass to break the sample. It was determined by dividing the area under stress-strain curves with density of the composites in a similar way as reported in literature for other systems.³⁴ The values are tabulated in Table 2. There was a small decrease in toughness from 27 J/g (31.5 MJ/m³) to 18 J/ g (21.3 MJ/m³) on reducing the amount of reinforcing nylon fibers from 82 to 66 wt %, but still, the values are very high in the range of elastomeric materials. For example, toughness of about 25 MJ/m^3 was reported in the literature for elastomeric polyurethane membranes.³⁴ The toughness values for carbon nanotubes (CNT) reinforced poly(vinyl alcohol), kevlar, and spider dragline silk are 16, 33, and 165 J/g, respectively.³⁵ The effect of irregular and incomplete wetting/covering of nylon-6 fibers in composites made using method 1 was also reflected in toughness values. Another good comparison between the efficiency of two wetting procedures used in this work could be entries 2 and 7 of Table 2. They both had almost the same fiber content but drastically different toughness values. The composite made by method 1 (entry 2, Table 2) was tougher than many thermoplastics (PVA = 3-4 J/g) but showed significantly less toughness as compared to the composite made using method 2.

2602

ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces

CONCLUSIONS

MF/nylon-6 composites were prepared using electrospun nylon-6 mats as reinforcement. The reinforcement in mechanical properties of the MF resin could be seen using nylon nanofiber mats. The fiber reinforced composites showed enhanced mechanical properties in comparison to those of pure nylon-6 nanomats and the MF resin. Interestingly, there was a drastic effect of the wetting procedure of the reinforcing fiber mat by the MF resin on both morphology and mechanical properties of the composites. The wetting of nylon-6 nanofibers by passing through a solution of MF resin resulted in a coreshell morphology and a significant improvement in properties as compared to the immersion procedure for wetting of the fibers. Depending upon the wt% of reinforcing nylon nanofiber mats, the composites can be considered as either fiber reinforced MF composites or MF glued nylon fibers.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Tel.: + (49) 6421 2825755. Fax: + (49) 6421 2825785. Email: agarwal@staff.uni-marburg.de.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

REFERENCES

(1) Kandelbauer, A.; Widsten, P. Prog. Org. Coat. 2009, 65 (3), 305-313.

- (2) Birinci, E.; Gülfen, M.; AydIn, A. O. Hydrometallurgy 2009, 95 (1-2), 15-21.
- (3) Kim, S.; Kim, H. J. J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 2006, 2 (3), 209–219.
 (4) Ahmad, S.; Ashraf, S. M.; Kumar, G. S.; Hasnat, A.; Sharmin, E.
- Prog. Org. Coat. 2006, 56 (2-3), 207-213.

(5) Mahler, J.; Rafler, G. Opt. Mater. 1999, 12 (2-3), 363-368.
(6) Sugita, T.; Ishiwata, H.; Yoshihira, K. Food Addit. Contam., Part A 1990, 7 (1), 21-27.

- (7) Bauer, D. R. Prog. Org. Coat. 1986, 14 (3), 193–218.
- (8) Voigt, B.; Rychwalski, R. W.; McCarthy, D. M. C.; Den Adel, J.
- (c) Karissen, R. Polym. Compos. 2003, 24 (3), 380–390.
 (g) Henriksson, M.; Berglund, L. A. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 106 (4),
- 2817-2824. (10) Hagstrand, P. O.; Oksman, K. Polym. Compos. 2001, 22 (4),

(10) Theshand, T. C., Chennan, R. Tolyn, Compos. 2001, 22 (1), 568–578.

(11) Gindl, W.; Jeronimidis, G. J. Mater. Sci. 2004, 39 (9), 3245–3247.

(12) Licea-Jimenez, L.; Rychwalski, R. Mater. Sci.-Poland 2005, 23 (4), 909–913.

(13) Licea-Jiménez, L.; Henrio, P. Y.; Lund, A.; Laurie, T. M.; Pérez-García, S. A.; Nyborg, L.; et al. *Composite Sci. Technol.* 2007, 67 (5), 844–854.

(14) Zucchelli, A.; Focarete, M. L.; Gualandi, C.; Ramakrishna, S. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2011, 22 (3), 339-349.

(15) Kim, J. S.; Reneker, D. H. Polym. Compos. 1999, 20 (1), 124-131.

(16) Bergshoef, M. M.; Vancso, G. J. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11 (16), 1362–1365.

(17) Stachewicz, U.; Peker, I.; Tu, W.; Barber, A. H. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2011, 3, 1991–1996.

(18) Hang, F.; Lu, D.; Bailey, R. J.; Jimenez-Palomar, I.; Stachewicz, U.; et al. Nanotechnology 2011, 22, No. 365708.

(19) Chen, L. S.; Huang, Z. M.; Dong, G. H.; He, C. L.; Liu, L.; Hu, Y. Y.; et al. Polym. Compos. **2009**, 30 (3), 239-247.

(20) Romo-Uribe, A.; Arizmendi, L.; Romero-Guzman, M. E.; Sepu lveda-Guzman, S.; Cruz-Silva, R. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2009, 1 (11), 2502–2508.

(21) Neppalli, R.; Marega, C.; Marigo, A.; Bajgai, M. P.; Kim, H. Y.; Causin, V. *Polymer* **2011**, *52* (18), 4054–4060.

2603

(22) Fong, H. Polymer 2004, 45 (7), 2427-2432.

(23) Henriksson, M.; Berglund, L. A. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 106, 2817–2824.

(24) Greiner, A.; Wendorff, J. H. Angew Chem, Int. Ed. 2007, 46 (10), 5670–5703.

(25) Zhang, H.; Li, S.; Branford White, C. J.; Ning, X.; Nie, H.; Zhu, L. Electrochim. Acta 2009, 54 (24), 5739–5745.

(26) Stachewicz, U.; Barber, A. H. Langmuir 2011, 27, 3024–3029.
(27) Nalwa, H. S.; Vasudevan, P. Makromol. Chem. Rapid Commun. 1983, 4 (1), 45–48.

(28) Rotter, G.; Ishida, H. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Phys. 1992, 30 (5), 489-495.

(29) Anderson, I. H.; Cawley, M.; Steedman, W. Br. Polym. J. 1971, 3, 86-92.

(30) Sateesh Kumar Siddaramaiah, M. S. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2009, 111, 1165–1171.

(31) Vasiliev, V. V.; Morozov, E. V. Mechanics and analysis of composite materials; Elsevier Science Ltd: New York, 2001.

(32) Nguyen, M. H.; Dao, L. H. J. Non-Cryst. Solids 1998, 225, 51-57.

(33) Asano, M.; Kuroda, T.; Shimizu, S.; Sakihara, A.; Kumazawa, K.; Tabata, H. United States Patent US6326094, 2001.

(34) Blond, D.; Walshe, W.; Young, K.; Blighe, F. M.; Khan, U.; Almecija, D.; Carpenter, L.; McCauley, J.; Blau, W. J.; Coleman, J. N. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2008**, *18*, 2618–2624.

(35) Coleman, J. N.; Cadek, M.; R. Blake Nicolosi, V.; Ryan, K. P.; Belton, C.; Nagy, N. B.; Gunko, Y. K.; Blau, W. J. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2004, 14 (8), 792–798.

3.2. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composites

Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic Polyurethane Composites", *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces*, **2012**, *4*, 4366-4372

0	Copyright Clearance Ric	nhtcl i	nk [®]	ne Account Help
•	Center	JIICSEI		into
\	ACS Publications	Title:	Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic Polyurethane Composites	Logged in as: Shaohua Jiang Account #: 3000807016
		Author:	Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Haoqing Hou, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal	200001
		Publication:	Applied Materials	
		Publisher:	American Chemical Society	
		Date:	Aug 1, 2012	
		Copyright © Society	2012, American Chemical	

PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats, and translations.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional uses are granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please submit a new request.



Copyright © 2014 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

ACS APPLIED MATERIALS

Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic **Polyurethane Composites**

Shaohua Jiang,[†] Gaigai Duan,[†] Haoqing Hou,[‡] Andreas Greiner,[†] and Seema Agarwal^{*,†}

[†]Philipps-Universität Marburg, Department of Chemistry and Scientific Center of Materials Science, Hans-Meerwein-Str., D-35032 Marburg, Germany

[‡]Jiangxi Nanofiber Engineering Center, Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang 330022, China

ABSTRACT: We highlight a novel composite fabrication method based on solution casting, electrospinning, and film stacking for preparing highly transparent nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) composite films. The procedure is simple and can be extended to the other thermoplastics. The morphology of fiber/matrix interface and the properties of composite films were also investigated. The method led to a significant reinforcement in mechanical properties of TPU like tensile strength, E modulus, strain, and toughness just using very small amounts of nylon fibers (about 0.4-1.7 wt %; 150-300 nm diameter). The enhanced



Research Article www.acsami.org

mechanical properties were achieved without sacrificing optical properties like transparency of TPU. KEYWORDS: electrospinning, nanocomposites, mechanical properties, transparency, nanofibers

1. INTRODUCTION

Thermoplastic polyurethanes (TPUs) are a special class of polymers widely used in different industries for varied applications like textile, footwear industry, tubings, biomaterials, and adhesives, to name a few.¹⁻⁶ TPUs with different material property profiles are required for these applications and can easily be made by changing the chemical structure of the starting materials like diisocyanate, polyol, and the chain extender.7 Another easy and cost-effective method of changing properties of TPUs is using reinforcement fillers. Nanoparticles (nanoclay particles, silica nanoparticles)^{8,9} and fibers (aramid fibers, carbon fibers, glass fibers, etc.)^{10–12} have been used in the literature for improving the mechanical properties of TPUs.

In general, the key issues for producing high performance fiber reinforced polymer composites are the use of high strength fibers, large length/diameter ratio of fibers, good wetting procedure of fibers by matrix solution, homogeneous dispersion of fibers in matrix, and strong interfacial interaction between fibers and matrix. Polymer nanofibers produced by electrospinning have been attracting more and more attention for the preparation of composites. The continuous long fibers produced by electrospinning lack fiber edges (ends) and therefore do not have stress concentration points in composites. During the electrospinning, the polymer molecular chains tend to align along the fiber axis as the polymer jet is drawn up to 100 000 times in less than $0.1~{\rm s.}^{13}$ These highly molecular oriented nanofibers can provide a mechanically strong fiber for the preparation of fiber reinforced composites. Also, electrospun nanofiber mats have high porosity and large

specific surface area. Therefore, nanofibers produced by electrospinning could be highly promising candidates for reinforcement purposes. Moreover, the diameters of electrospun nanofibers are usually less than the wavelength of visible light and expected to give transparent composites.

Despite so many advantages of nanofibers, only countable studies are available in the literature regarding the electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites. A recent review article¹⁷ is a good refrence supporting this fact. Early reports of reinforcing effects of nanofibers in an epoxy and a rubber matrix (styrenebutadiene rubber) were contributed by Kim et al.¹⁸ They showed an increase in Young's modulus, fracture toughness, and fracture energy of the epoxy matrix. Bergshoef et al. showed the formation of transparent epoxy composites using 4 wt % nylon-4, 6 electrospun nanofibers (30-200 nm in diameter).14 Nylon-6 nanofibers produced by electrospinning exhibit excellent mechanical properties, such as toughness and high tensile strength,^{19,20} and have also been adopted to make composites with poly (methyl methacrylate),²¹ polyaniline,²² and polycaprolactone²³ and with bis-glycidyl methacrylate/ tetraglycidylmthacrylate (BIS-GMA/TEGDMA) as dental restorative composites.^{24,25} Subsequently, cellulose,²⁶ polyvingl alcohol (PVA),²⁷ polyacrylonitrile (PAN),^{28,29} polyimide,³ and nylon-66³¹ nanofibers were reported to make nanofiber reinforced composites.

Received: June 6, 2012 Accepted: July 16, 2012 Published: July 20, 2012

ACS Publications © 2012 American Chemical Society

4366

ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces

Recently, we highlighted the importance of the nanofiber wetting procedure for the preparation of highly tough and transparent composites using nylon-6 as reinforcing fibers for Melamine formaldehyde.³² A change of the wetting method could bring about a drastic change in the morphology of the wet fibers. The wetting of nylon fibers by passing through a solution of MF resin showed a core–shell morphology and a significant improvement in properties as compared to the dipcoating procedure for wetting of the fibers. Different composites with varied amounts of nylon-6 fibers generated a profile of properties.

There are several conventional ways to fabricate fiber reinforced composites such as solution mixing and casting, melt mixing, and wetting of fibers by polymer matrix and subsequent stacking by hot-press. The method chosen should show uniform distribution and good wetting of the reinforcing material. In the present study, we highlight a novel composite fabrication method based on solution casting, electrospinning, and film stacking for preparing highly transparent nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane composite films. The effect of this novel and quick wetting procedure on the morphology of fiber/matrix interface and on the properties of composite films were investigated using scanning electronic microscopy (SEM), attenuated total reflectance spectroscopy (ATR-IR), thermo gravimetric analysis (TGA), tensile testing, and UV-vis spectroscopy. A very small amount of nylon fibers could enhance the mechanical properties significantly without sacrificing optical properties like transparency of TPU. The results are presented here.

2. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

2.1. Materials. Nylon-6 (Ultramid B24 NSD05, pellet size: 2.0–2.0 mm) was kindly supplied by BASF while thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU, Desmopan DP 2590A) was purchased from Bayer Materials Science. The solvents, formic acid (FA, \geq 98%), acetic acid (AcOH, \geq 98%), and anhydrous dimethyl formamide (DMF, 99.8%), were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich. All materials were used as received without further purification.

2.2. Electrospinning and Composite Fabrication. The fabrication of nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composites consists of solution casting, electrospinning, and film stacking. TPU (2.5 wt %)solution in DMF and 20 wt % nylon-6 solution in FA/AcOH (40/60, w/w) were used for film casting and electrospinning, respectively. The detailed composite preparation process is shown in Figure 1. It contains the following steps: (1) 1 mL of 2.5 wt % TPU solution in DMF was casted on a glass slide; (2) electrospinning of one thin layer of nylon-6 nanofibers on the wet TPU solution; (3) drying at 100 °C to obtain composite with one layer of TPU film and one layer of nylon-6 nanofibers; (4) repeat the above 3 steps (casting TPU solution, electrospinning nylon-6 nanofibers, and drying) for another 3 times; (5) casting the last layer of TPU solution and drying to gain a laminated composite with alternate layers of TPU and nylon-6 nanofibers (in total 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers sandwiched by 4 layers of TPU films). During the electrospinning, a 20 kV electrical potential was applied on the flat tip of the needle (diameter of 0.8 mm) while the distance between the needle tip and the glass slide was 20 cm.

Many different composites were made by keeping the amount of TPU constant but varying the amount of nylon-6 reinforcing fibers. The amount of nylon-6 fibers in composites was varied by carrying out electrospinning for different intervals of time, i.e., each layer of nylon-6 was spun for 1, 2, 4, or 8 min. The concentration of nylon-6 solution used for electrospinning was kept constant. The content of nylon-6 nanofibers in the composites was measured by gravimetry. All the composites had 4 layers of TPU (1 mL, 2.5 wt % in DMF) and 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers (each layer was electrospun for 1, 2, 4, or 8



Figure 1. Schematic of the preparation of nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite films.

min). The content of nylon-6 by weight $(C_{nylon-6})$ was calculated by the following equation:

$$C_{\text{nylon-6}} = \frac{3 \times m_{\text{nylon-6}}}{4 \times m_{\text{TPU}} + 3 \times m_{\text{nylon-6}}} \times 100\%$$

where $m_{\rm TPU}$ and $m_{\rm nylon-6}$ stand for the weight of 1 layer of TPU and nylon-6 nanofibers, respectively. The electrospinning time of 1, 2, 4, and 8 min for each layer corresponded to 0.4, 0.9, 1.7, and 3.4 wt % of nylon-6 nanofibers in the laminated composites (4 layers of TPU films and 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers). As blanks, neat TPU films were made by casting 4 mL of (2.5 wt %) TPU/DMF solution, and nonwoven nylon-6 nanofiber mat was made by electrospinning 20 wt % nylon-6 in FA/AcOH (40/60, w/w).

2.3. Characterizations. The G10 contact angle analysis system (Kreuess, Hamburg, Germany) was used to test the wetting of the nylon-6 nanofiber mat with DMF. The surface morphology and the cross-section morphology of the TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composites were observed by the JSM-7500 scanning electronic microscopy (SEM). Prior to scanning, the specimens were sputter-coated with gold for 120 s to avoid charge accumulations. Cross-section samples were prepared by breaking the frozen films in liquid nitrogen. Image J software was used to measure the diameter of nylon-6 nanofibers and to make a diameter distribution. ATR-IR spectra were recorded on a Digilab Excalibur Series with an ATR unit MIRacle from the company Pike Technology. The Zwick/Roell BT1-FR 0.5TN-D14 machine, equipped with a 200 N KAF-TC load sensor using a stretching rate of 50 mm/min, was applied to measure the mechanical properties. All the specimens were cut into dog-bone-shape with an average length of 3.0 cm and a central width of 0.2 cm. The Perkin-Elmer Lambda 9 UV/ vis/NIR spectrophotometer operating in transmittance mode (200-800 nm) was used to characterize the optical properties. The Mettler Toledo TGA/SDTA 851e was carried to study the thermal properties at a heating rate of 10 °C/min in N2 from 50 to 800 °C.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Fabrication of TPU/Nylon-6 Nanofiber Composites. The long continuous nylon-6 nanofibers were fabricated by the process of electrospinning in this study. The resulted nylon-6 nanofibers were collected as nonwoven mat and had a smooth surface morphology as seen in Figure 2A. No defects such as beads, pores, or ribbons were found in/on the nanofibers. The ultrafine nylon-6 nanofibers displayed a centralized diameter distribution ranging from 150 to 300 nm (Figure 2B).

4367



Figure 2. SEM image (A), pie chart of the diameter distribution (B), and DMF wetting behavior (C) of nylon-6 nanofiber mat. Scale bar of (A) = 1 μ m.

For the fiber reinforced composites, it is important to embed the fibers into the polymer matrix. This in turn depends on the dispersion of fibers and good wetting between fibers and matrix. In one experiment, the nylon-6 nanofibers were collected on the dried TPU film. Because of the multilayered morphology of nanofiber mat and the cylinder/ellipsoid structure of nanofibers, only a part of the fibers was in contact with the TPU film (Figure 3A). This kind of nanofiber/matrix morphology (Figure 3A) provides a poor interfacial interaction between fibers and matrix, which would not be useful to fabricate high quality composites.

To achieve good wetting and embedding of reinforcing nylon-6 fibers in TPU matrix, the nylon-6 nanofibers were directly electrospun on the TPU/DMF solution in a layer-bylayer process. This procedure was adopted because of ultrafast wetting of nylon-6 nanofibers by DMF. Nylon-6 is not soluble in DMF but undergoes very fast wetting (in less than 1 s; Figure 2C). Therefore, the randomly deposited nanofibers on TPU/DMF solution ensured nice dispersion and homogeneous wetting of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers with TPU matrix. The nanofibers could be completely wetted quickly by the DMF solvent, subsequently sinked into the TPU resin while maintaining the morphology and formed tight contact with the resin (Figure 3B). Further, different experiments were carried out with varied amounts of nylon-6 nanofibers in the first layer. The amount of nanofibers was regulated by the time of electrospinning as described in the experimental part. The wetting behavior of nylon-6 nanofibers by DMF made the fibers completely embedded in the TPU matrix for low amounts of nylon fibers, i.e., electrospinning until about 4 min (Figure 3B,C); the increased thickness of the nanofiber layer with

increased spinning time (8 min) led to wetting of underneath layers, but top layers could not be impregnated completely (Figure 3D). Therefore, the layer-by-layer process of wetting reinforcing nylon fibers was used and another layer of TPU/DMF solution was casted on the surface of the 2-layered composites described above followed by electrospinning of nylon-6 again for the same time intervals, i.e., 1, 2, 4, and 8 min on different samples. The procedure was continued to make a TPU/nylon-6 composite film with 4 TPU layers sandwiching 3 layers of randomly oriented nylon fibers.

The resulted composite films revealed a smooth surface as shown in Figure 4B and had almost the same morphology as the neat TPU film (Figure 4A). The absence of nylon-6 nanofibers both on the surface of TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite film and on edges as pulled-out structures suggested a good dispersion of nanofibers in the TPU matrix.

The uniform dispersion of reinforcing nylon fibers could also be proved by the ATR-IR spectroscopy. There was no difference observed in spectra of neat TPU (Figure 5A), 2 layer composite film with ATR measured on TPU side (Figure 5G) and multilayered composite film (Figure 5H) with both sides (top and bottom) TPU layers. This confirmed the homogeneous distribution of fibers in bulk and no fibers on the surface. The ATR-IR was also recorded on 2-layer composite samples with the incident light directed from nylon-6 nanofiber side to TPU side (Figure 5B,C,D,E). The intensity of the characteristic peak of nylon-6 (carbonyl stretching, indicated with black arrow) increased from spectra (C) to (E) showing increased amount of the nylon-6 nanofiber in the 2 layered composites. Further, the carbonyl peak of nylon-6 in composites had a small red shift (1643 cm⁻¹ for (C), (D), and (E); 1639 cm⁻¹ for pure nylon-6 mat), which might be the result of hydrogen bonding between nylon-6 and TPU. Spectrum (B) did not show any characteristic peaks of nylon-6, and the ATR-IR spectrum was nearly the same as that of neat TPU (Figure 5A). This is due to the deposition of an extremely thin layer of nylon-6 nanofibers (electrospinning time of 1 min) in TPU, and all the nanofibers were embedded into the TPU matrix.

TPU and nylon-6 nanofiber mat showed a good resistance to heat. A 5% weight loss as determined by thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was observed at 316 and 390 °C for TPU and nylon-6 nanofiber mat, respectively (TGA thermogram not shown here). After incorporating nylon-6 nanofibers into TPU matrix, the composites presented almost similar thermal behavior as that of neat TPU.

3.2. Mechanical Properties. Figure 6 shows the typical stress-strain curves of neat TPU film and TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films. The average tensile properties such as tensile strength, elongation at break, and E modulus are summarized in Table 1. It can be seen that the neat TPU film revealed an avearge tensile strength of 42 MPa, E modulus of 27 MPa, and elongation at break of 673%. The TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films displayed significantly high mechanical properties with even very small amounts of nylon fibers. The tensile strength and E modulus increased with an increase in the amount of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers until about 1.7 wt %. The tensile strength and E modulus were almost doubled with 1.7 wt % of reinforcing fibers with a significant increase in elongation at break. Although, further increase in the amount of nylon fibers to 3.4 wt % led to a drop in mechanical properties, but still, the mechanical properties were significantly higher than the neat TPU film. A similar trend was also observed for



Figure 3. Surface morphologies of 2-layered TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films (A: nylon-6 nanofibers on TPU film; B, C, and D: nylon-6 nanofibers embedded in TPU resin). The electrospinning time of A, B, C, and D were 4 min, 2 min, 4 min, and 8 min, respectively. Scale bar = 10 μ m.



Figure 4. Surface morphologies of neat TPU film (A) and laminated TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite (B). Scale bar = 10 μ m.

toughness. The toughness of composites is a measure of work done per unit mass to break the sample. It was determined by dividing the area under stress–strain curves with the density of the composites in a similar way as reported in the literature for other systems.³³ There was a significant increase in toughness of composite films (108 J/g for TPU; 274 J/g for reinforced TPU with 1.7 wt % of reinforcing fibers), and highly flexible films were obtained.

Generally, several factors will influence the mechanical properties of fiber reinforced composites: the original mechanical properties of the fibers, the dispersion of fibers in matrix, and the fiber/matrix interfacial interaction. In the present work, nylon-6 nanofibers were chosen as reinforcing fibers as they are already proved to be excellent reinforcing material in previous reports.^{21,23–25} The layer-by-layer (LBL) process used for making composites provided homogeneous dispersion of randomly deposited nylon-6 nanofibers in the TPU/DMF solution, as evidenced by the SEM images in Figure 3B,C,D. Also, due to the quick wetting process of nylon-6 nanofibers by DMF, as described before, the nylon-6 nanofibers were completely impregnated in the TPU matrix. This resulted in a strong interfacial morphology with no obvious edges between nanofibers and TPU matrix. The nanofibers were entirely embedded into the TPU matrix with no voids around the fibers as evidenced by the cross-section morphologies of the composites (Figure 7B,C,D). Additionally, the intermolecular interaction between nylon-6 and TPU, such as the hydrogen bonding as proved by FT-IR, could also be responsible for a strong interface. Therefore, during the tensile test, the load could be effectively transferred from the nylon-6 nanofibers to the TPU matrix, which resulted in the significant improvement



Figure 5. ATR-IR spectra of pure TPU film (A), neat PA-6 nanofiber mat (F), 2 layered TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite (B, C, D, E, and G), and laminated composite with 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers and 4 layers of TPU films (H).



Figure 6. Typical stress-strain curves of TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films with different amounts of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers.

of mechanical properties of the composites even with very small amount of nylon fibers. The small amounts of nylon fibers (0.4 wt %) already showed reinforcing effects although the optimum properties were achieved at 1.7 wt % of the reinforcing nylon fibers.

Figure 6 and Table 1 revealed that the electrospinning time (or the amount of nylon-6 nanofibers) had a significant effect on the mechanical properties of the TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films. On increasing the electrospinning time, the mechanical properties, including tensile strength, elongation at break, and E modulus first increased until about 4 min of electrospinning time (each layer was electrospun for 4 min and corresponded to about 1.7 wt % of nylon fibers) and then decreased on increasing the electrospinning time to 8 min.

To reveal the reasons for the mechanical properties trend, cross-section morphology of the composite films was investigated. This helped in commenting about the fiber distribution, the fiber amount in matrix, and the interaction between nanofibers and matrix. In order to obtain the original morphology without damage by the external forces, all the samples were first frozen in liquid nitrogen and then broken. As shown in Figure 7A,B,C,D, the neat TPU film presented a smooth cross-section while the composites revealed a rougher laminated morphology where 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers (white dots) were distributed in the TPU matrix (gray area). On increasing the electrospinning time from 2 to 4 min, there was an increase in the amount of homogeneously distributed load bearing reinforcing nanofibers in TPU matrix but importantly without any aggregation. When the electrospinning time was further increased to 8 min, there was an increase in the amount of nanofibers (Figure 7D) but they aggregated (Figure 7D, a) and formed defects, such as pulled-out nanofibers (Figure 7D, b), and holes/voids around the

Table 1. Summary of Mechanical Properties of the Neat TPU Film and TPU/Nylon-6 Nanofiber Composite Films with Varied Electrospinning Time (Nylon-6 Content) for Each Nanofiber Layer

nylon-6 content (%)	stress (MPa)	strain (%)	E modulus (2%) (MPa)	integration of stress–strain curves (MJ/m^3)	toughness (J/g)
0	42.27 ± 2.36	672.9 ± 40.3	27.1 ± 1.5	131.25 ± 11.21	108.47 ± 9.27
0.4	53.70 ± 3.67	753.4 ± 59.4	34.2 ± 1.9	183.92 ± 23.19	152.04 ± 19.17
0.9	64.82 ± 4.12	867.7 ± 52.6	35.9 ± 3.4	254.40 ± 22.95	210.39 ± 18.98
1.7	82.98 ± 6.19	876.0 ± 72.5	51.9 ± 6.7	332.14 ± 48.32	274.83 ± 39.98
3.4	60.32 ± 5.93	812.3 ± 70.5	49.0 ± 2.8	233.91 ± 38.85	193.78 ± 32.18
			4370	dx.doi.org/10.1021/am30102251 ACS Appl. Mater. Inter	faces 2012, 4, 4366-4372



Figure 7. Cross-section morphologies of neat TPU film and laminated TPU/nylon-6 composites with varied electrospinning time on each layer. Scale bar = 10 μ m.

nanofibers (Figure 7D, c and d). This led to reduction in mechanical properties.

The neat TPU film was transparent with light transmittance of 96% in the visible light range. In contrast, the nylon-6 nanofiber mat is opaque with no visible light transmittance (Figure 8). The nylon-6 nanofibers reinforced TPU composite films showed very high light transmittance and were transparent. The high transmittance of composite films might be the result of the small diameter of nylon-6 nanofibers and nearly



Figure 8. UV-vis spectra of TPU/nylon-6 nanofiber composite films (A) and digital photograph of transparent neat TPU film, nylon-6 nanofiber mat, and composite film (B). the same refractive index of the nylon-6 (1.53) and TPU (1.51).^{34,35} Although, the transmittance of the composites was dependent upon the amount of nylon fibers, but all composite films showed more than 85% light transmittance. The composite film with about 1.7 wt % of the reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers showed the highest improvement in mechanical properties with very high (89%) light transmittance.

4. CONCLUSION

A novel procedure of making nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic films is successfully shown by taking nylon-6 nanofibers and thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) as an example. The procedure is simple and can be extended to other thermoplastics. The significant reinforcement in mechanical properties of TPU like tensile strength, E modulus, elongation at break, and toughness could be seen just using very small amounts of nylon fibers. Even as small as 0.4 wt % of nylon fibers could improve mechanical properties significantly and increase further with an increase in the amount of fibers until an optimum amount was reached (1.7 wt % in this case). The mechanical properties were almost doubled at this amount. The enhanced mechanical properties were achieved without sacrificing optical properties like transparency of TPU.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Tel.: + (49) 6421 2825755. Fax: + (49) 6421 2825785. Email: agarwal@staff.uni-marburg.de.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

4371

ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces

REFERENCES

(1) Hepburn, C. Polyurethane elastomers; Applied Science Publishers: Barking (Essex), 1982.

(2) Oertel, G.; Abele, L. Polyurethane handbook; Hanser: Münich, Germany, 1993.

(3) Walkor, B.; Rader, C. Handbook of thermoplastic elastomer; Van Nostrand Reinfold, New York, 1988.

(4) Johnson, L.; Samms, J. J. Ind. Text. 1997, 27, 48-62.

(5) Gao, C.; Abeysekera, J.; Hirvonen, M.; Aschan, C. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 2003, 31, 323-330.

(6) Tatai, L.; Moore, T. G.; Adhikari, R.; Malherbe, F.; Jayasekara, R.;

Griffiths, I.; Gunatillake, P. A. Biomaterials 2007, 28, 5407-5417. (7) Özgür Seydibeyoğlu, M.; Oksman, K. Compos. Sci. Technol. 2008,

68, 908-914. (8) Pattanayak, A.; Jana, S. C. Polym. Eng. Sci. 2005, 45, 1532-1539. (9) Chen, Y.; Zhou, S.; Yang, H.; Gu, G.; Wu, L. J. Colloid Interface

Sci. 2004, 279, 370-378. (10) Kutty, S. K. N.; Nando, G. B. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 1991, 43, 1913-1923.

(11) Corrêa, R. A.; Nunes, R. C. R.; Filho, W. Z. F. Polym. Compos. 1998, 19, 152-155.

(12) Barick, A. K.; Tripathy, D. K. Compos. Part A: Appl. Sci. Manuf. 2010, 41, 1471-1482.

(13) Greiner, A.; Wendorff, J. H. Angew. Chem. 2007, 46 (30), 5670-5703.

(14) Bergshoef, M. M.; Vancso, G. J. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11, 1362-1365.

(15) Yano, H.; Sugiyama, J.; Nakagaito, A. N.; Nogi, M.; Matsuura, T.; Hikita, M.; Handa, K. Adv. Mater. 2005, 17, 153-155.

(16) Liao, H.; Wu, Y.; Wu, M.; Zhan, X.; Liu, H. Cellulose 2012, 19, 111 - 119.

(17) Zucchelli, A.; Focarete, M. L.; Gualandi, C.; Ramakrishna, S. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2011, 22, 339–349.

 (18) Kim, J.-S.; Reneker, D. H. Polym. Compos. 1999, 20, 124–131.
 (19) Stachewicz, U.; Peker, I.; Tu, W.; Barber, A. H. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2011, 3, 1991-1996.

(20) Hang, F.; Lu, D.; J. Bailey, R.; Jimenez-Palomar, I.; Stachewicz, U.; Cortes-Ballesteros, B.; Davies, M.; Zech, M.; Bödefeld, C.; H. Barber, A. Nanotechnology 2011, 22, 365708.

(21) Chen, L.-S.; Huang, Z.-M.; Dong, G.-H.; He, C.-L.; Liu, L.; Hu, Y.-Y.; Li, Y. Polym. Compos. 2009, 30, 239-247.

(22) Romo-Uribe, A.; Arizmendi, L.; Romero-Guzmán, M. a. E.; Sepúlveda-Guzmán, S.; Cruz-Silva, R. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2009, 1, 2502-2508.

(23) Neppalli, R.; Marega, C.; Marigo, A.; Bajgai, M. P.; Kim, H. Y.; Causin, V. Polymer **2011**, *52*, 4054–4060.

(24) Fong, H. Polymer 2004, 45, 2427–2432.
(25) Tian, M.; Gao, Y.; Liu, Y.; Liao, Y.; Xu, R.; Hedin, N. E.; Fong, H. Polymer 2007, 48, 2720-2728.

(26) Tang, C.; Liu, H. Compos. Part A: Appl. Sci. Manuf. 2008, 39, 1638-1643.

(27) Mollá, S.; Compañ, V. J. Membr. Sci. 2011, 372, 191-200.

(28) Lin, S.; Cai, Q.; Ji, J.; Sui, G.; Yu, Y.; Yang, X.; Ma, Q.; Wei, Y.; Deng, X. Compos. Sci. Technol. 2008, 68, 3322-3329.

(29) Wu, M.; Wu, Y.; Liu, Z.; Liu, H. J. Compos. Mater. 2012.

(30) Chen, Y.; Han, D.; Ouyang, W.; Chen, S.; Hou, H.; Zhao, Y.; Fong, H. Compos. Part B: Eng. 2012, 43, 2382-2388.

(31) Akangah, P.; Lingaiah, S.; Shivakumar, K. Compos. Struct. 2010, 92. 1432-1439.

(32) Jiang, S.; Hou, H.; Greiner, A.; Agarwal, S. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2012, 4 (5), 2597-2603.

(33) Blond, D.; Barron, V.; Ruether, M.; Ryan, K. P.; Nicolosi, V.; Blau, W. J.; Coleman, J. N. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2006, 16, 1608-1614.

(34) Gaur, H. A.; De Vries, H. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Phys. Ed. 1975, 13, 835-850.

(35) Wu, J.-H.; Li, C.-H.; Wu, Y.-T.; Leu, M.-T.; Tsai, Y. Compos. Sci. Technol. 2010, 70, 1258-1264.

dx.doi.org/10.1021/am3010225 | ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2012, 4, 4366-4372

117

Research Article

3.3. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites

Shaohua Jiang, Andreas Greiner, and Seema Agarwal^{*}, "Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites", *Composite Science and Technology*, **2013**, *87*(*18*), 164-169

PUBLICATIONS

14-7-1

Rightslink Printable License

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 01, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Shaohua Jiang ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments mus	t be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see
information listed	I at the bottom of this form.
Supplier	Elsevier Limited

	The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Shaohua Jiang
Customer address	Emil-Warburg-Weg 38
	Bayreuth, 95447
License number	3420160837300
License date	Jul 01, 2014
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Composites Science and Technology
Licensed content title	Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites
Licensed content author	Shaohua Jiang,Andreas Greiner,Seema Agarwal
Licensed content date	18 October 2013
Licensed content volume number	87
Licensed content issue number	None
Number of pages	6
Start Page	164
End Page	169
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Composites: Fabrication and Properties
Expected completion date	Jul 2014

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 USD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

14-7-1

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s)

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. Translation: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world <u>English</u> rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

16. Posting licensed content on any Website: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the Elsevier http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the Elsevier http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the Elsevier http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the material http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxx or the material http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xx or the material
to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xx or the material
to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by <a hre

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at $\frac{http://www.elsevier.com}{http://www.elsevier.com}$. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be passwordprotected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Permission granted is limited to the author accepted manuscript version* of your paper.

*Accepted Author Manuscript (AAM) Definition: An accepted author manuscript (AAM) is the author's version of the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which may include any author-incorporated changes suggested through the processes of submission processing, peer review, and editor-author communications. AAMs do not include other publisher value-added contributions such as copy-editing, formatting, technical enhancements and (if relevant) pagination.

You are not allowed to download and post the published journal article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u>. As part of our normal production process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article https://s100.copyrightcom/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect (www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Posting to a repository: Authors may post their AAM immediately to their employer's institutional repository for internal use only and may make their manuscript publically available after the journal-specific embargo period has ended.

Please also refer to <u>Elsevier's Article Posting Policy</u> for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

20. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

Elsevier publishes Open Access articles in both its Open Access journals and via its Open Access articles option in subscription journals.

Authors publishing in an Open Access journal or who choose to make their article Open Access in an Elsevier subscription journal select one of the following Creative Commons user licenses, which define how a reader may reuse their work: Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), Creative Commons Attribution - Non Commercial - ShareAlike (CC BY NC SA) and Creative Commons Attribution - Non Commercial - No Derivatives (CC BY NC ND)

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Elsevier Open Access articles:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: You may distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), to text or data mine the article, including for commercial purposes without permission from Elsevier

CC BY NC SA: For non-commercial purposes you may distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), to text and data mine the article and license new adaptations or creations under identical terms without permission from Elsevier

CC BY NC ND: For non-commercial purposes you may distribute and copy the article and include it in a collective work (such as an anthology), provided you do not alter or modify the article, without permission from Elsevier

Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee.

Commercial reuse includes:

- Promotional purposes (advertising or marketing)
- Commercial exploitation (e.g. a product for sale or loan)
- Systematic distribution (for a fee or free of charge)

Please refer to Elsevier's Open Access Policy for further information.

21. Other Conditions:

v1.7

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 48 hours of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this invoice number 501340948. Once you receive your invoice for this order, you may pay your invoice by credit card. Please follow instructions provided at that time.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center Dept 001

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

For suggestions or comments regarding this order, contact RightsLink Customer Support: <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-877-622-5543 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Composites Science and Technology 87 (2013) 164–169



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Composites Science and Technology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/compscitech

Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites



Shaohua Jiang, Andreas Greiner, Seema Agarwal*

Universität Bayreuth, Macromolecular Chemistry II and Bayreuth Center for Colloids and Interfaces, Universitätsstraße 30, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 July 2013 Received in revised form 31 July 2013 Accepted 14 August 2013 Available online 23 August 2013

Keywords: A. Short-fiber composites B. Mechanical properties D. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) E. Electro-spinning Transparency

ABSTRACT

The use of small amounts (<5 wt%) of short nylon-6 nanofibers (diameter less than 200 nm) for reinforcing mechanical properties of TPU without losing its optical properties is highlighted in this work. The interaction of H-bonding type between the reinforcing fibers and the matrix polymer could provide a homogenous distribution of fibers and a strong interface leading to significant enhancement in mechanical properties (185% increase in *E* modulus) as shown by comparative use of TPU and PMMA as matrix polymers. The reinforcing effect of short fibers was attained without sacrificing transparency (>90% transparency in 400–800 nm range) of TPU. The effective use of short nylon-6 fibers in comparison to the long and continuous fibers is also discussed.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fiber reinforced polymeric composites make use of fibers like glass, ceramic, carbon, jute and cellulose for reinforcing mechanical, optical and thermal properties of thermoplastics and thermosets [1,2]. The key issues for producing high performance fiber reinforced polymer composites are the use of high strength fibers, large length/diameter ratio of fibers, good wetting procedure of fibers by matrix solution, homogeneous dispersion of fibers in matrix, and strong interfacial interaction between fibers and matrix [3,4]. The state-of-the-art reinforcing fibers are in general few micrometers in diameter and till date, the research efforts on nanofiber reinforced polymer composites are mainly focused on the use of carbon fibers (CNFs) or vapor-grown carbon nanotubes (CNTs) [5–9] and cellulose whiskers [10,11].

One of the fiber processing techniques called electrospinning provides continuous, highly molecularly oriented fibers with varied diameters (in nanometer range), morphologies and types in a simple way [12]. Although the use of polymer nanofibers produced by electrospinning for reinforcing purposes is still in its infancy but is attracting more and more attention for the preparation of composites. After the early work of Kim et al. of using polybenzimidazole nanofibers for reinforcing epoxy and a rubber matrix (styrene–butadiene rubber) [13] many more scattered studies were carried out in the literature regarding use of various polymeric nanofibers, most commonly nylon-6 made by electrospinning for improving polymer matrix properties [14]. Other polymeric electrospun nanofibers like cellulose, polyacrylonitrile (PAN), polyimide and nylon-66 have also been used as reinforcement for composites [15-17]. The continuous long fibers produced by electrospinning lack fiber edges (ends) and therefore do not have stress concentration points in composites. Also, they have high porosity and large specific surface area (about 100 times more than that of conventional reinforcing micro fibers like carbon and glass). Besides these advantages, any polymer that is either soluble in water/ organic solvents or meltable can be spun into nanofibers by electrospinning. This widens the horizon of choosing appropriate fibers depending upon the functionality required in the reinforced composites. The technical developments made in the last few years in the method of electrospinning have enhanced the production capacities from few grams to many kilograms of nanofibers or nanofiber nonwovens in short time. With such developments many new application areas of nanofiber nonwovens would pickup pace and one such area is fiber reinforced composites.

The individual and scattered studies of using polymeric nanofibers for reinforcement purposes as highlighted above does not help in making any sound conclusions regarding the effect of fiber properties and/or processing method on the final composite properties. Recently, we highlighted the importance of the composite preparation method (nanofiber wetting procedure) using electrospun long and continuous nylon-6 as reinforcing fibers for melamine-formaldehyde as thermoset [18]. Since long and continuous nanofiber nonwovens were utilized in these methods it was not possible to make composites with less than 13 wt% of the reinforcing fibers. Further, we highlighted a novel Layer-by-

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 921 553397; fax: +49 921 553393. E-mail address: agarwal@uni-bayreuth.de (S. Agarwal).

^{0266-3538/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2013.08.011

Layer (LBL) composite fabrication method based on solution casting, electrospinning and film stacking for preparing highly transparent nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic composite films with less amounts of reinforcing fibers [4]. Thermoplastic polyurethane was chosen as the example and the reinforcing nanofibers were directly spun on the thermoplastic solutions for different time intervals to control its amount. Very small amount of nylon fibers (<4 wt%) could enhance the mechanical properties significantly without sacrificing optical properties like transparency of TPU. However, it is very difficult to make homogenous composites with predetermined amounts of nanofibers in all these methods described above. The exact amount of fibers was determined after composites were made using different analytical techniques.

Here we report our findings regarding use of short nylon-6 nanofibers in reinforcing mechanical properties of TPU. The morphology of fiber/matrix interface and the properties of composite films were investigated using various analytical methods. The mechanical properties could be significantly enhanced without sacrificing optical properties like transparency of TPU by using very small amounts of reinforcing fibers. The role of the chemical structure of matrix polymer in enhancing fiber–matrix interface is also highlighted using PMMA as matrix for comparison purposes with TPU.

2. Experimental

2.1. Materials

Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA, Mw = 120,000), N,N'dimethylformamide (DMF, 99.8%), formic acid (FA, \geq 98%) and acetic acid (AcOH, \geq 98%) were purchased from Sigma–Aldrich. Thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU, Desmopan DP 2590A) and nylon-6 (Ultramid B24) were kindly supplied by Bayer Materials Science and BASF respectively. All the materials were used as received without further purification.

2.2. Electrospinning and composite fabrication

The use of short electrospun nanofibers can provide the opportunity of making composites with predetermined amounts of nanofibers by mixing with matrix polymer either in solution or in melt besides ease of the processing method and good dispersability. The technique of electrospinning was used for making nylon-6 nanofiber mat with long and continuous fibers as described in the literature [18]. Short nylon-6 electrospun fibers (mean diameter of 163 nm; a standard deviation of 2.9% (Fig. 1A) and length from tens to hundreds micrometers (Fig. 1B)) dispersion in DMF with a concentration of 0.1 wt% was prepared by cutting of 0.5 g of nvlon-6 mat (25 cm \times 20 cm \times 0.038 mm) at -13 °C in DMF by use of rotation blades as reported previously [19], but with reduced rotating speed (about 1500 rpm) for 5 min. The short fibers (Different amounts of TPU were dissolved into 10 g of the above short nylon-6 dispersion. After film casting and drying, the short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite films with 1.0, 2.5, 3.5 and 5.0 wt% of short nanofibers were prepared. Using similar procedure, nylon-6/PMMA composite films were also made for comparison purposes. The resulting composites for nylon-6/TPU and nylon-6/PMMA with 1.0, 2.5, 3.5 and 5.0 wt% of short nanofibers were denoted as NT1.0, NT2.5, NT3.5, NT5.0 and NP1.0, NP2.5, NP3.5, NP5.0 respectively in the following text. Characterization techniques are described in supporting information.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Fabrication of short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films

Short nylon-6 nanofibers prepared by cutting off the pristine electrospun nylon-6 mats had very homogeneous fiber morphology with a mean diameter of 163 nm (a standard deviation of 2.9%) (Fig. 1A) and length from tens to hundreds micrometers (Fig. 1B). They could be dispersed in DMF solvent without aggregation/precipitation for at least one month (this is the time for which we observed dispersion before submitting this article, stability studies are being continued). Different amounts of TPU and PMMA were dissolved into 10 g of the short nanofiber dispersion (0.1 wt%) separately for the preparation of the composite films (Fig. 1.) After casting and drying of dispersions, the short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films were prepared. For comparison, the pure TPU and PMMA films were also fabricated. The surface morphology of the films as observed by SEM showed some imprinting of short nylon-6 nanofibers on the surface of 2.5 wt% and 5.0 wt% short nanofiber reinforced TPU films but without pull out nanofibers (samples NT2.5 and NT5.0; Fig. 1I and J). This shows a homogeneous distribution of the short nanofibers within TPU in NT composite films. In comparison, the surfaces of the pure TPU film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced PMMA films were very smooth. The absence of the short nylon-6 nanofibers on the surface of PMMA (NP) composite films and no short nanofibers pulled-out structures suggested that all the short nanofibers were only dispersed in the bulk of the PMMA matrix.



Fig. 1. SEM of short nylon-6 nanofibers (A); optical microscope photo of short nylon-6 nanofiber (B); digital photos of 0.1 wt% short nylon-6 nanofiber dispersion in DMF (C); pure TPU (D); nylon-6 short fiber/TPU dispersion (NT3.5) (E); PMMA solution in DMF (F); nylon-6 short fiber/PMMA dispersion (NP3.5) (G); SEM of surface morphologies of pure TPU film (H), NT2.5 (I), NT5.0 (J) and NP3.5 (K).

S. Jiang et al./Composites Science and Technology 87 (2013) 164-169

The difference in distribution of short nylon-6 nanofibers in TPU and PMMA matrix was also confirmed by surface analysis of composite films using ATR-IR and transmission IR. PMMA composite films (Fig. 2B NP1.0 to NP5.0) showed no obvious characteristic peaks of nylon-6 at the surface and the ATR-IR spectra of PMMA and composite films were very similar. This confirmed the distribution of the short nanofibers in the bulk of the nylon-6/PMMA (NP) composite films and no fibers on the surface. Further studies regarding the interaction between nylon-6 fibers and PMMA matrix were carried out by transmission IR (Fig. 2C). Characteristic peaks of nylon-6 at 3294 cm⁻¹ (NH) and 1543 cm⁻¹ (amide II) also appeared in the spectra of the composite films (NP2.5 and NP5.0) but there was no change in the peak positions confirming the absence of H-bonding type interactions between nylon-6 fibers and PMMA matrix.

166

In contrast, the ATR-IR spectra of short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU composite films (Fig. 2A) showed characteristic peak of nylon-6 (carbonyl stretching) proving their surface morphology. Further, two trends were obvious from the ATR-IR spectra of NT composite films: 1) the increase in intensity of the carbonyl peak of nylon-6 on increasing its amount in the composite films (i.e. on going from NT1.0 to NT5.0 2) the blue shifts of the carbonyl peak (from 1635 cm⁻¹ for nylon-6 nanofibers to 1651 cm⁻¹ for NT composite film) and NH peak (from 3294 cm⁻¹ for nylon-6 nanofibers to 3321 cm⁻¹ for NT composite film). The blue shifts might be the result of the hydrogen bonding between nylon-6 and TPU. This could help in making a strong interface between the reinforcing fibers and TPU matrix and homogenous distribution of fibers in the whole bulk of the matrix polymer. Such hydrogen



Fig. 2. (A and B) ATR-IR spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofiber mat and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced TPU and PMMA composite films. (C) FT-IR spectra with transmission mode of pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofibers and composite films NP2.5 and NP5.0.

bonding was not possible between nylon-6 nanofibers and PMMA matrix.

There was no influence of the small amount of short fibers (<5 wt%) on the thermal stabilities of the matrix polymers (for details please see supporting information).

3.2. Mechanical properties

Nylon-6 single nanofibers show very high tensile strength (304 MPa) and modulus (30 GPa) depending upon the fiber diameter and therefore make them suitable candidate for reinforcement of thermoplastics like TPU and PMMA [20,21]. To reveal the effect of short nylon-6 nanofibers on the mechanical properties of the composite films tensile testing experiments were carried out (Fig. 3; Table 1). The neat PMMA film exhibited an average tensile strength of 36.2 MPa, elongation at break of 5.2% and E modulus of 697 MPa. The improvements of 18.7% in tensile strength and of 23.4% in E modulus were observed on adding 2.5 wt% amount of short nylon-6 nanofibers into PMMA matrix. However, further increase of the amount of the short nanofibers to 3.5 wt% led to a drop in tensile strength but still the E modulus was higher than that of neat PMMA. Although, a similar trend of the mechanical properties was also observed for the TPU/nylon-6 composite films but the improvement in the properties was much more significant than for PMMA. On increasing the amount of the short nylon-6 nanofibers till about 3.5 wt%, a slight increase in tensile strength (about 30% improvement) but a very significant increase in E modulus (about 185% improvement) was observed. Although further increase in the amount of short nylon-6 nanofibers to 5.0 wt% led to a drop of the tensile strength and E modulus, but still was higher than the pure TPU film (tensile strength increase was only 10% but E modulus increase was 150%). There was also an obvious increase in the toughness (measure of work done per unit mass to break the sample) of composite films.

A direct comparison of these results for short fiber reinforced composites with the long and continuous nylon-6 nanofiber nonwoven reinforced composites made by state-of-the-art methods like dip-coating followed by heat pressing or mold casting would not be very appropriate as the amount of reinforcing fibers used in such methods is always very high. Recently, we highlighted a novel composite fabrication method (layer-by-layer) for the same system (nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU)) based on solution casting, electrospinning and film stacking using very small amounts (<5 wt%) of the reinforcing fibers [4]. Interestingly, a significant improvement in the *E*-modulus of TPU



Fig. 3. Typical stress-strain curves of the pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composites.

in the present work was seen on using short nylon-6 nanofibers in comparison to the use of long and continuous nylon-6 nanofibers as shown in our previous work [4]. Similar amounts of long and continuous nylon-6 nanofiber nonwovens (around 3.5 wt%) led to the improvement in E-modulus of about 82% as compared to 185% observed in the present work without significant decrease in the elongation at break (Table 1).

Mechanical properties of fiber reinforced composites are affected by several factors including fiber properties, the dispersion of fibers in matrix, and the interfacial adhesion between fibers and matrix. In order to discuss the dispersion of short nylon-6 nanofibers in the matrix and the interfacial adhesion between short nanofibers and the matrix, the tensile failure structure of the pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and the composite films (NP2.5, NP3.5, NT2.5, and NT5.0) were observed by SEM as shown in Fig. 4. It could be seen that the pure TPU and PMMA film presented a smooth and homogeneous fractured surface (Fig. 4A), while the composite films showed a rougher surface with short nylon-6 nanofibers embedded in the matrix. The interface between fibers and PMMA was not good with many voids between fibers and the matrix polymer (Fig. 4B). On increasing the amount of short nylon-6 nanofibers to 3.5 wt%, the aggregation of short nanofibers with many more voids/cracks were observed (Fig. 4C), which resulted in the drop of the mechanical properties. In contrast, the TPU/nylon-6 composite films showed a strong adhesion of nylon-6 nanofibers and TPU matrix without any cracks/holes showing better dispersion of fibers in TPU matrix than PMMA/nylon-6 system (Fig. 4E and F). This could be due to the hydrogen bonding as proved by ATR-IR between reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers and TPU matrix. The strong adhesion and excellent wetting of nylon-6 nanofibers by TPU matrix was also proved by observation of spring nanofiber morphologies in the broken tensile testing specimens. Nylon-6 fibers were not soluble in DMF, the solvent used for making composite films but undergoes very fast wetting (in less than 1 s) as shown in our previous work [4]. Therefore, the choice of DMF for making dispersion of nylon-6 fibers with TPU used for making composite films together with their H-bonding characteristics ensured excellent and homogenous wetting of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers with TPU matrix. Many of the TPU coated nylon-6 nanofibers in composite films showed spring morphology (Fig. 4G and H) after tensile failure because of difference in elasticity and modulus of the two polymers. The formation of spring morphology by differential shrinkage of two components in a bicomponent fiber made by either side-by-side electrospinning or coaxial electrospinning with flexible thermoplastic elastomer (polyurethane) component and a rigid thermoplastic component (Nomex) is a well studied phenomenon in the literature [22,23]. All broken fibers after tensile testing did not show uniformly the spring morphology because of difference in the fiber length and orientation with respect to tensile testing direction.

3.3. Optical light transmittance

The transparency of TPU/nylon-6 and the PMMA/nylon-6 composite films was changed to different extents by incorporation of short nylon-6 nanofibers. The PMMA/nylon-6 composite films with 2.5 and 3.5 wt% short fibers had a transmittance of 76–85% and 66– 80% in the light wave length range of 400–800 nm (Fig. 5). However, the TPU/nylon-6 composite films showed high transparency of more than 85% in the visible light range even with large amounts of short nylon-6 nanofibers (reached up to 5.0 wt%). The difference in refractive index between the fibers and the matrix polymer, the amount of the fibers in the composites, the diameter of fibers, the dispersion of fibers in the resin and interface between fibers and matrix are some of the important reasons affecting the transparency of the nanofiber reinforced composites [14,24,25]. The

S. Jiang et al./Composites Science and Technology 87 (2013) 164-169

Fable 1 A summary of the mechanical properties of the pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and short nylon-6 fiber reinforced TPU and PMMA composite films.					
Sample	Stress (MPa)	Strain (%)	E modulus (2%, MPa)	Integration of stress-strain curves (MJ/m ³)	Toughness (J/g)
TPU	40.2 ± 1.2	727.3 ± 29.2	27.0 ± 4.5	134.7 ± 9.8	111.3 ± 8.1
NT1.0	51.6 ± 3.0	707.6 ± 41.6	43.8 ± 5.0	179.1 ± 18.4	148.0 ± 15.2
NT2.5	51.5 ± 3.8	628.0 ± 35.0	66.3 ± 4.7	176.6 ± 19.2	146.0 ± 15.9
NT3.5	52.0 ± 2.8	606.0 ± 45.2	77.1 ± 8.0	182.2 ± 19.5	150.6 ± 16.1
NT5.0	43.9 ± 1.9	547.1 ± 67.6	67.5 ± 5.6	144.6 ± 22.5	119.5 ± 18.6
LF-3.4ª	60.3 ± 5.9	812.3 ± 70.5	49.0 ± 2.8	233.9 ± 38.8	193.8 ± 32.2
PMMA	36.2 ± 0.4	5.2 ± 0.5	697 ± 21.5	1.1 ± 0.1	0.9 ± 0.1
NP1.0	40.9 ± 0.7	5.1 ± 1.7	803 ± 113	1.4 ± 0.5	1.2 ± 0.4
NP2.5	42.0 ± 2.8	4.4 ± 0.3	860 ± 61.5	1.0 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2
NP3.5	36.0 ± 0.5	3.8 ± 0.3	766 ± 29.6	0.8 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.1

^a Data taken from Ref. [4], LF-3.4 is the nylon-6 (long and continuous nanofiber) reinforced TPU composite film made by layer-by-layer (LBL) process using 3.4 wt% of the nanofibers. The LBL process for making composite film involved solution casting of TPU followed by direct electrospinning of nylon fibers on the wet TPU and film stacking. The resulting composite had in total 3 layers of nylon-6 nanofibers sandwiched by 4 layers of TPU films.



Fig. 4. SEM pictures of the tensile failure structure of pure PMMA film (A), NP2.5 (B), NP3.5 (C), TPU film (D), NT2.5 (E) and NT5.0 (F-H).



Fig. 5. UV-vis spectra of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films and digital photo of transparent neat films and composite films on glass slides.

reinforcing nylon-6 fibers used in the present work were very small in diameter (less than 200 nm) and the refractive index difference between fibers and matrix polymers was marginal (refractive index: 1.49 PMMA, 1.53 nylon-6 and 1.51 TPU). Very small amounts of short nylon-6 nanofibers (no more than 5 wt%) together with their homogenous dispersion and very good interface with the matrix TPU due to hydrogen bonding assured higher transparency of nylon-6/TPU composite films as compared to nylon-6/PMMA.

4. Conclusion

Very small amounts (less than 5 wt%) of short nylon-6 nanofibers were effective in reinforcing mechanical properties like tensile strength, modulus and toughness of TPU. A 185% enhancement in modulus of TPU was seen on using 3.5 wt% of reinforcing nylon-6 nanofibers. The reinforcing effect of nanofibers was dependent upon the matrix polymer. The increase in properties of TPU matrix polymer was significantly more than that for PMMA due to interactions (H-bonding) with the reinforcing nylon-6 fibers. The reinforcing effect of short nylon-6 fibers for TPU matrix was achieved

168

keeping high transparency of the composite films. The use of short electrospun nanofibers in making composite films offers some of the advantages like use of predetermined amounts of nanofibers, mixing in solution/melt and homogenous distribution in the whole bulk of the matrix polymer leading to significant increase properties.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2013. 08.011.

References

- Bakis C, Bank LC, Brown V, Cosenza E, Davalos J, Lesko J, et al. Fiber-reinforced polymer composites for construction-state-of-the-art review. J Compos Construct 2002;6(2):73–87.
- [2] Mallick P. Fiber-reinforced composites: materials manufacturing and design. CRC press; 1993.
 [3] Hassan A, Salema AA, Ani FN, Bakar AA. A review on oil palm empty fruit bunch design.
- Hassan A, Salehia AA, Ahi PN, Bakai AA, A review of on paint empty full build fiber-reinforced polymer composite materials. Polym Compos 2010;31(12):2079–101.
 Jiang S, Duan G, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced high strength, tough, and transparent thermoplastic polyurethane composites. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4(8):4366–72.
- [5] Chen W-C. Some experimental investigations in the drilling of carbon fiber-reinforced plastic (CFRP) composite laminates. Int J Mach Tools Manuf 1997;37(8):1097–108.

- 1997;37(8):1097-108.
 Liu T, Phang IY, Shen L, Chow SY, Zhang W-D. Morphology and mechanical properties of multiwalled carbon nanotubes reinforced nylon-6 composites. Macromolecules 2004;37(19):7214-22.
 Chen G-X, Kim H-S, Park BH, Yoon J-S. Multi-walled carbon nanotubes reinforced nylon 6 composites. Polymer 2006;47(13):4760-7.
 Al-Saleh MH, Sundararaj U. A review of vapor grown carbon nanofiber/ polymer conductive composites. Carbon 2009;47(1):2-22.
 Yeh M-K, Tai N-H, Lin Y-J. Mechanical properties of phenolic-based nanocomposites reinforced by multi-walled carbon nanotubes and carbon fibers. Compos Part A: Appl Sci Manuf 2008;39(4):677-84.

- [10] Azizi Samir MAS, Alloin F, Dufresne A. Review of recent research into cellulosic whiskers, their properties and their application in nanocomposite field. Biomacromolecules 2005;6(2):612–26.
 Petersson L, Kvien I, Oksman K. Structure and thermal properties of poly (lactic
- Petersson L, Kvien I, Oksman K. Structure and thermal properties of poly (lactic acid)/cellulose whiskers nanocomposite materials. Compos Sci Technol 2007;67(11):2535-44.
 Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Electrospinning: a fascinating method for the preparation of ultrathin fibers. Angew Chem Int Ed 2007;46(30):5570-703.
 Kim J-S, Reneker DH. Mechanical properties of composites using ultrafine electrospun fibers. Polym Compos 1999;20(1):124-31.
 Bergshoef MM, Vancso GJ. Transparent nanocomposites with ultrathin, electrospun nylon-4.6 fiber reinforcement. Adv Mater 1999;11(16):1362-5.
 Tang C, Lin H, Celludera nanoffaer reinforced poly (vinual Jechol) composites

- [15] Tang C, Liu H. Cellulose nanofiber reinforcement. Adv Mater 1599, 11(0):1502-9.
 [16] Tang C, Liu H. Cellulose nanofiber reinforced poly (vinyl alcohol) composite film with high visible light transmittance. Compos Part A: Appl Sci Manuf 2008;39(10):1638-43.
 [16] Lin S, Cai Q, Ji J, Sui G, Yu Y, Yang X, et al. Electrospun nanofiber reinforced and truebaced composite through in situ parse interface formation. Compose Sci Manuf 2008;39(10):1638-43.

- [16] Lin S, Cai Q, Ji J, Sui G, Yu Y, Yang X, et al. Electrospun nanofiber reinforced and toughened composites through in situ nano-interface formation. Compos Sci Technol 2008;86(15-16):3322-9.
 [17] Chen Y, Han D, Ouyang W, Chen S, Hou H, Zhao Y, et al. Fabrication and evaluation of polyamide 6 composites with electrospun polyimide nanofibers as skeletal framework. Composites Part B 2012;43(5):2382-8.
 [18] Jiang S, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Tough and transparent nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber reinforced melamine-formaldehyde composites. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4(5):2597-603.
 [19] Thieme M, Agarwal S, Wendorff JH, Greiner A. Electrospinning and cutting of ultrafine bioerofible polylacide-co-ethylene oxide) tri- and multiblock copolymer fibers for inhalation applications. Polym Adv Technol 2011;22(9):1335-44.
 [20] Li L, Bellan LM, Craighead HG, Frey MW. Formation and properties of nylon-6
- [20] Li L, Bellan LM, Craighead HG, Frey MW. Formation and properties of nylon-6 [20] L. Behari LW, Cragnedo FG, rely WW, Formation and properties of hybrid-and mylon-6/montmorillonite composite nanofibers. Polymer 2006;47:6208–17.
 [21] Bazbouz MB, Stylios GK. The tensile properties of electrospun nylon 6 single
- [21] Bazbouz MB, Stylios GK. Ine tensite properties of electrospun nyton 6 single nanofibers. J Polym Sci: Part B: Polym Phys 2010;48:1719–31.
 [22] Chen S, Hou H, Hu P, Wendorff JH, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Effect of different bicomponent electrospinning techniques on the formation of polymeric nanosprings. Macromol Matter Eng 2009;294(11):781–6.
 [23] Chen S, Hou H, Hu P, Wendorff JH, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Polymeric nanosprings by bicomponent electrospinning. Macromol Matter Eng 2009;294(1):265–71.
 [24] Liao H, Wu Y, Wu M, Zhan X, Liu H. Aligned electrospun cellulose fibers reinforced enouv resin composite films with bich visible light transmittance.
- reinforced epoxy resin composite films with high visible light transmittance.
- Cellulose 2012;19(1):111–9.
 [25] Yano H, Sugiyama J, Nakagaito AN, Nogi M, Matsuura T, Hikita M, et al. Optically transparent composites reinforced with networks of bacterial nanofibers. Adv Mater 2005;17(2):153–5.

Supplementary Information

Characterization

The surface morphology and failure structure of the pure TPU film, pure PMMA film and the composite films were observed by a scanning electronic microscopy (SEM, JSM-7500 and Leo Gemini 1530). Prior to scanning, all the specimens were sputter-coated with approximately 120s of gold or 4 nm of platinum to avoid charge accumulations. The diameter and the diameter deviation were measured and calculated by Image J software. The mechanical properties were conducted by a Zwick/Roell BT1-FR 0.5TN-D14 machine equipped with a 200 N KAF-TC load sensor using a stretching rate of 50 mm/min for nylon-6/TPU series and 5 mm/min for nylon-6/PMMA series at room temperature. The specimens for tensile test were cut into dog-bone-shape with a length of 3.0 cm and a width of 0.2 cm. ATR-IR spectra and transmission IR spectra were carried on a Digilab Excalibur Series with an ATR unit MIRacle by Pike Technology. Thermal properties of the samples were determined by Mettler Toledo TGA/SDTA 851e at a heating rate of 10 °C/min in N₂ with a heating temperature from 100 to 800 °C. The transparency of the samples were determined by a UV/Vis/NIR spectrophotometer (Perkin-Elmer Lambda 9) in transmittance mode (200-800 nm). All the digital photos were taken by a Sony DSC-W570 digital camera. The optical microscope photos for the short nanofibers were taken from Leica DMRX optical microscope.

Thermal properties

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is an effective way to evaluate the thermal stabilities of polymers and the composites. **Figure 5-S1** showed the TGA curves for PMMA, TPU, nylon-6 nanofibers and the corresponding composite films (NT and NP). Nylon-6, TPU and PMMA showed $T_{10\%}$ (temperature at which 10 % weight loss took place) of 405, 300 and 343 °C respectively. The thermal stability was not affected by addition of small amounts of short nylon-6 nanofibers.



Figure 5-S1 TGA curves of pure TPU film, pure PMMA film, nylon-6 nanofiber mat and short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced composite films.

3.4. Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites

Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Judith Schöbel, Seema Agarwal^{*} and Andreas Greiner^{*}, "Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide Nanocomposites", *Composite Science and Technology*, **2013**, *88(14)*, 57-61

PUBLICATIONS

14-7-1

Rightslink Printable License

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 01, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Shaohua Jiang ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see	
information listed at the bottom of this form.	

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Shaohua Jiang
Customer address	Emil-Warburg-Weg 38
	Bayreuth, 95447
License number	3420160608091
License date	Jul 01, 2014
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Composites Science and Technology
Licensed content title	Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites
Licensed content author	Shaohua Jiang,Gaigai Duan,Judith Schöbel,Seema Agarwal,Andreas Greiner
Licensed content date	14 November 2013
Licensed content volume number	88
Licensed content issue number	None
Number of pages	5
Start Page	57
End Page	61
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Composites: Fabrication and Properties
Expected completion date	Jul 2014
Estimated size (number of	150

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

PUBLICATIONS

14-7-1

Rightslink Printable License

pages)	
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 USD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Rightslink Printable License

permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. Translation: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world <u>English</u> rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

16. Posting licensed content on any Website: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at $\frac{http://www.elsevier.com}{http://www.elsevier.com}$. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be passwordprotected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Permission granted is limited to the author accepted manuscript version* of your paper.

*Accepted Author Manuscript (AAM) Definition: An accepted author manuscript (AAM) is the author's version of the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which may include any author-incorporated changes suggested through the processes of submission processing, peer review, and editor-author communications. AAMs do not include other publisher value-added contributions such as copy-editing, formatting, technical enhancements and (if relevant) pagination.

You are not allowed to download and post the published journal article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx. As part of our normal production process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet
Rightslink Printable License

14-7-1

(www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Posting to a repository: Authors may post their AAM immediately to their employer's institutional repository for internal use only and may make their manuscript publically available after the journal-specific embargo period has ended.

Please also refer to <u>Elsevier's Article Posting Policy</u> for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

20. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

Elsevier publishes Open Access articles in both its Open Access journals and via its Open Access articles option in subscription journals.

Authors publishing in an Open Access journal or who choose to make their article Open Access in an Elsevier subscription journal select one of the following Creative Commons user licenses, which define how a reader may reuse their work: Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), Creative Commons Attribution - Non Commercial - ShareAlike (CC BY NC SA) and Creative Commons Attribution - Non Commercial - No Derivatives (CC BY NC ND)

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Elsevier Open Access articles:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

14-7-1

Rightslink Printable License

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: You may distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), to text or data mine the article, including for commercial purposes without permission from Elsevier

CC BY NC SA: For non-commercial purposes you may distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), to text and data mine the article and license new adaptations or creations under identical terms without permission from Elsevier

CC BY NC ND: For non-commercial purposes you may distribute and copy the article and include it in a collective work (such as an anthology), provided you do not alter or modify the article, without permission from Elsevier

Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee.

Commercial reuse includes:

- Promotional purposes (advertising or marketing)
- Commercial exploitation (e.g. a product for sale or loan)
- Systematic distribution (for a fee or free of charge)

Please refer to Elsevier's Open Access Policy for further information.

21. Other Conditions:

v1.7

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 48 hours of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this invoice number 501340944. Once you receive your invoice for this order, you may pay your invoice by credit card. Please follow instructions provided at that time.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

14-7-1

Rightslink Printable License

Dept 001 P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

For suggestions or comments regarding this order, contact RightsLink Customer Support: <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-877-622-5543 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Composites Science and Technology 88 (2013) 57-61



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Composites Science and Technology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/compscitech

Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites

CrossMark

Shaohua Jiang, Gaigai Duan, Judith Schöbel, Seema Agarwal*, Andreas Greiner*

Universität Bayreuth, Macromolecular Chemistry II and Bayreuth Center for Colloids and Interfaces, Universitätsstraße 30, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 April 2013 Received in revised form 6 August 2013 Accepted 18 August 2013 Available online 5 September 2013

Keywords: A. Short-fiber composites B. Mechanical properties D. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) E. Electro-spinning Polyimide

ABSTRACT

This work highlights the usage of short electrospun fibers for the first time for the preparation of homogeneous polymer nanofiber/polymer composites and the improvement in mechanical properties by an order to magnitude compared to as-electrospun long and continuous nanofibers. Dispersions of short electrospun nanofibers can be processed by liquid processing techniques resulting in nanofiber nonwovens similar to electrospun nonwovens but is independent from the demands of the electrospinning process is one of the emphasis of this work. The re-formation of electrospun fiber nonwovens by dispersion casting of short electrospun ploymer (PI/PI-short nanofiber composite films were selected as representative examples for showing the versatility of short electrospun fibers. The self-reinforced PI/PI-short nanofiber composite films were obtained from mixtures of short electrospun PI nanofibers and polyamic acid after imidization. Significant improvement of 53% and 87% in mechanical properties like tensile strength and modulus, respectively in comparison to the neat PI film was observed by using just 2 wt% of short fibers. Parallel experiments were also carried out with long and continuous electrospun PI fibers and amazingly a huge difference was observed. The amount of continuous long fibers required for achieving almost the same strength was much higher i.e. 38 wt% in comparison to the 2 wt% required of short fibers.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Material composites offer unique opportunities for property modifications by mixing of different components. They are usually composed of a matrix and another material as additive, which enhances or provides the desired property such as antibacterial, antistatic, conductive, magnetic, scattering, and high strength. The control of materials interaction and morphology in composites marks the major and in many cases unsolved challenge as they govern the properties of composites. These challenges become even more prominent with high aspect ratio additives like nanofibers (they tend to aggregate) which are otherwise of major interest as reinforcing fillers for significant mechanical property improvement [1,2]. The state-of-the art method for the preparation of a wide variety of nanofiber materials is electrospinning, which are in general obtained as nanofiber nonwovens [3-5]. Despite of many advantages of nanofibers, only very few literature is available regarding the use of electrospun nanofibers for reinforcement [6-8]. The recent review article [9] is a very good reference supporting this fact. Nylon-6 nanofibers were used for the reinforcement of mechanical properties of many different polymers [10-15]. Randomly overlaid and highly aligned PI nanofiber mats were also used as reinforcement by Hou et al. [16]. Recently, we highlighted the importance of the nanofiber wetting procedure for the preparation of highly tough and transparent composites using Nylon-6 as reinforcing fibers for melamine formaldehyde and thermoplastic polyurethane [17,18]. A change of the wetting method could bring about a drastic change in the morphology of the wet fibers and hence the composite properties. It is evident from the literature that for most of the applications electrospun fibers are either spun directly on the substrates or used as nonwovens for various purposes like scaffolds and reinforcement of polymer matrix by dip coating or by layer-by-layer process. The processing of electrospun nanofiber nonwovens for reinforcement purposes by direct mixing with the matrix polymer either in solution or in melt (for example extrusion) is limited by the strong entanglement of the nanofibers, a major obstacle for processing and a major limitation for scaled-up applications. We believe that the existing obstacles of dispersability of long continuous electrospun fibers in solution or in melt for reinforcement can be overcome in a simple way by the use of short electrospun nanofibers. The use of short fibers like cellulose, glass fibers, etc. is already known in the literature for the formation of polymeric nanocomposites [19,20]. The use of short electrospun polymeric nanofibers

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +49 921553397.

E-mail addresses: agarwal@uni-bayreuth.de (S. Agarwal), greiner@uni-bayreuth.de (A. Greiner).

^{0266-3538/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2013.08.031

for reinforcement purposes is not known to the best of our knowledge. Completely novel applications in a variety of fields including filtration, textiles, medical, composites, and agriculture can be envisioned as the modification of polymeric materials used for making short nanofibers for varied properties can be easily achieved by varying the chemical structure, functional groups, architecture, topology, etc.

Our concept for the use of short electrospun fibers is based on the assumption that short electrospun fibers with aspect ratio of about 100-200 could be dispersed better in liquid media as compared to as-electrospun fibers which are usually highly entangled. Furthermore, we assume with an aspect ratio of about 100-200 electrospun fibers would entangle enough in the dry state for the formation of self-supporting nonwovens. In order to verify these assumptions the re-formation of self-supported polyimide (PI) nanofiber nonwovens by dispersion casting of short electrospun polyimide (PI) nanofibers and the preparation of self-reinforced homogeneous polyimide/polyimide short nanofiber composite films were selected as representative examples in this work. The PI nanofiber nonwovens and single nanofibers possess superior mechanical properties as compared to the neat PI film due to the molecular orientation of macromolecular chains during drawing of fibers in the process of electrospinning making them suitable for self-reinforcement purposes [21,22]. The self-reinforced composites offer a variety of advantages (transparency, light-weight, strong interface between matrix and fiber, strength, impact performance, recyclability) and are well-known in the literature using long and continuous nanofiber reinforced PI composites [23] but not with homogenous nanofiber distribution in the polymer matrix to the best of our knowledge. The particular advantages of short polymeric electrospun nanofibers for composite preparation and their effect on mechanical properties are discussed in detail in the manuscript in comparison to the as-spun long nanofibers.

2. Methodology

2.1. Electrospinning and preparation of PI/PI nanofiber-composite films (PIPICOF)

The PI nanofibers for cutting were made in two steps using the process of electrospinning. In the first step, the precursor polyamic acid (PAA) was prepared by polycondensation of equimolar amounts of pyromellitic dianhydride (PMDA) and 4,4'-oxydianiline (ODA) in DMF according to a previously published procedure giving 25 wt% solution [24]. The as-prepared PAA solution was diluted by DMF to a concentration of 20 wt% for electrospinning. The feeding rate of the solution was 3 mL/h. The applied electric filed was 100 kV/m by imposing a voltage of 35 kV to a 35 cm gap between the needle tip (Φ = 0.8 mm) and the collector (a rotating drum). The drum had a diameter of 9 cm and a length of 21 cm, and rotated at 30 rpm for collecting the PAA nanofiber nonwoven. The obtained PAA nonwoven was dried at 60 °C for 1 h and at 100 °C for 2 h by vacuum and subsequently imidized in a high-temperature furnace under N2 atmosphere using the following protocol: (1) heating up to 150 °C at a rate of 3 °C/min and annealing for 1 h; (2) heating up to 350 °C at a rate of 1.5 °C/min and annealing for 1 h; (3) cooling down to the room temperature. Short electrospun fibers were prepared by mechanical cutting as reported previously [25]. 500 g of water/isopropanol mixture (70:30 by weight) and 1 g of PI nanofiber mat were cooled with liquid nitrogen. The PI nanofiber mat was cut into short fibers in the cooled medium by a set-up made up of a motor-driven blade (blade: Wilkinson classic; motor: Kress 800 FME) with a rotating speed of about 1500 rpm for 10 min. The resulting short PI nanofibers were filtered off and different amount of these short nanofibers were redispersed in a 10 wt% solution of PAA in DMF. Subsequently, the mixture was casted to films, dried, and imidized using the same protocol as mentioned above for the electrospun PAA nanofibers. Following this procedure PI composite films (film thickness around $30-35 \ \mu\text{m}$) with 0.5 wt%, 1.0 wt%, 2.0 wt% and 3.0 wt% PI short nanofibers were obtained.

2.2. Characterizations

The details of instruments used for characterization of nanocomposites are given in the Supplementary information.

3. Results and discussion

With the method of fiber cutting reported here, homogenous dispersions of short PI fibers with fiber length of $50-500 \ \mu m$ and diameter of $0.2-0.5 \ \mu m$ were obtained (Fig. 1). PI fibers were filtered off and could be re-dispersed in water/isopropanol mixture without indication of aggregation.

Casting of dispersions of isopropanol/water (30/70 w/w) with 2.5 wt% (w/w) PI cut nanofibers on cellulose-based filter paper resulted in dense nonwoven-type layers of nanofibers on the surface of paper. The process of dispersion casting provided nanofiber coating very similar to the coating of filter papers by direct electrospinning. In the process, the liquid passed through the filter paper and the cut PI nanofibers were retained on the surface of the filter paper forming a nanofiber nonwoven (Fig. 2a). Higher magnifications revealed a dense entanglement of the cut nanofibers with each other as well as entanglement with the filter paper fibers. This caused improved adhesion on the filter paper substrate of the dispersion processed nanofibers as compared to nanofibers deposited by standard electrospinning as tested qualitatively by mechanical rubbing and tape test i.e. by putting a cellotape and pulling it followed by visual inspection of fibers adhered to the cellotape. This was most likely because of better contact between the substrate fibers and the short electrospun fibers (Fig. 2b). Naturally, the thickness of the nanofiber layers on the filter paper could be readily adjusted by the amount of dispersion providing a versatile tool for the adjustment of weight of nanofibers per unit surface area which is otherwise rather limited during direct electrospinning on a substrate.

In order to further investigate the versatility of short electrospun nanofibers for processing purposes we have prepared selfreinforced PI nanofiber composites. For the preparation of the self-reinforced PI/PI-nanofiber composites, different amounts of short PI nanofibers (0.5, 1, 2 and 3 wt%) were mixed with the PAA precursor solution (10 wt% in DMF). The PI nanofibers were dispersed in the solution of PAA precursor but do not dissolve or swell as PI is insoluble in DMF in contrast to the PAA precursor. The dispersions of PAA and short PI nanofibers in DMF were processed to PAA/PI-nanofiber-films by solution casting, which were dried and imidized following the same heating protocol as for the electrospun PI nanofiber nonwovens. The resulting PI/PI nanofiber-composite films will be referred as PIPICOF in the subsequent text. As expected the PIPICOF films became insoluble in DMF after imidization. For comparison, pure PI films without adding short PI nanofibers were also made following the same procedure. Analysis of the surfaces of PIPICOF showed smooth morphologies. None of the PIPICOF showed any indication of nanofibers on the film surface or as pulled out structures by SEM analysis. The PIPICOF showed excellent thermal stability similar to the pure PI film as measured by thermogravimetric analysis (TGA). All the samples had a 5% weight loss at a temperature of more than 550 °C. In spite of short PI nanofibers undergoing two times high temperature imidization processes, the thermal stability of the PIPICOF was as good as that of pure cast PI film (thermograms not shown here).



S. Jiang et al. / Composites Science and Technology 88 (2013) 57-61

Fig. 1. Photograph of dispersions of electrospun fibers in isopropanol/water (30/70 w/w) after cutting (a), pie chart of the diameter distribution of PI nanofibers (b) and SEM micrograph of short PI nanofibers (c and d) with chain ends marked with white arrows. Scale bar of (c) = 10 µm and (d) = 1 µm.



Fig. 2. SEM micrograph of dense layers of short electrospun PI nanofibers deposited from dispersion on filter paper (a) and at higher magnifications showing filter paper fibers with entangled nanofibers (b). Scale bar of (a) and (b) = 10 μ m.

Of particular interest for self-reinforced nanofiber composites are the mechanical properties which were only analyzed until now with as-electrospun Pl nanofiber nonwovens [22]. The question was whether the usage of short electrospun Pl nanofibers would result in any significant difference of the mechanical properties as compared to Pl/Pl nanofiber composites with as-electrospun (not cut) Pl nanofibers or the pure Pl films. The typical stress-strain curves of neat Pl film and PlPICOF were presented in Fig. 3a while the tendency bar chart of mechanical properties is shown in Fig. 3b. The results indicated that the mechanical properties of composites were significantly enhanced by the presence of short Pl nanofibers in the Pl matrix. The neat cast Pl film exhibited an average strength of about 76 MPa, an E modulus of 882 MPa and a strain at break of 52%. Compared to it, the PlPICOF with very small amounts of Pl fibers (maximum amount of short Pl fibers was 3 wt%) exhibited enhanced mechanical properties for all samples showing reinforcing effect of short PI fibers. The tensile strength and E modulus of the PIPICOF showed an increase for low PI-nanofiber content (till about 2 wt%). A further increase in the amount of short PI fibers to 3 wt% led to a decrease in mechanical properties. The highest strength of 115 MPa and highest E modulus of 1651 MPa was obtained for the sample having 2.0 wt% of short PI nanofibers, which represented the improvements of 53% and 87% respectively in tensile strength and modulus, as compared to those of neat PI film. When 3.0 wt% short PI nanofibers were added, the PIPICOF showed strength of 72 MPa which was almost same as that of pure PI film but a decrease in strain at break. It is well-known that the fiber edges in short fibers can initiate a crack due to stress concentration and this become prominent after a definite amount of such fibers in composites [9]. This could lead to low strain at break. S. Jiang et al. / Composites Science and Technology 88 (2013) 57-61



Fig. 3. Typical stress-strain curves of PIPICOF with different amounts of short PI nanofibers (a) and corresponding bar chart of mechanical properties (b).

To reveal the reasons for the deviation from a linear increase in mechanical properties with increasing fiber amounts, cross-section morphology of the composite films was investigated. In order to obtain the original morphology without damage by the external forces, all the samples were first frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then broken. The fractured surfaces of pure cast PI film and PIPICOF as observed by SEM are shown in Fig. 4. It can be seen that the pure PI film presented a smooth and homogeneous fractured surface, while the composite films showed the presence of embedded PI nanofibers. When the amount of the short PI nanofibers in PIPICOF was small, i.e. 0.5 wt%, 1.0 wt% and 2.0 wt%, the short PI nanofibers were isolated from each other which indicated a homogeneous dispersion of nanofibers in the matrix. Also, no cracks or holes were observed at the interface between fibers and matrix, and the nanofibers were intimately surrounded by the PI matrix. For PIPI-COF with 3 wt% of PI short nanofibers aggregation was seen leading to the decrease in mechanical properties.

PI composite films with as-electrospun long and continuous PI fibers were reported to the best of our knowledge only in an article

by Liu et al., however, without giving the amount of electrospun PI fibers embedded in PI composite film [23]. They reported a tensile strength of 174.1 MPa, an E modulus of 1.31 GPa and an elongation at break of 57.2% by use of aligned nanofibers. In order to have a sound comparison of composites with short electrospun fibers to composites with as-electrospun nanofiber mats we also prepared PI self-reinforced nanofiber composites but now with as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats. We used exactly the same PI nanofiber mats which were used also for the preparation of short nanofibers in order to avoid any doubts due to variations in molecular weight or molecular weight distribution. Dip-coating of PI nanomat in PAA-DMF solution followed by imidization was used for making PI self-reinforced nanofiber composites as described in details in the Supporting information. Obvious disadvantage of PI self-reinforced nanofiber composites with as-electrospun long PI nanofibers is the wetting of the reinforcing nanofibers mats with the matrix polymer which makes it impossible to prepare sound samples with less than 10 wt% nanofiber content and also impossible to prepare samples with predicted content of nanofibers. The



Fig. 4. Fractured surface morphologies of pure PI and PI/PI nanofiber-composite films with different amounts of short PI nanofibers. Scale bar = 1 µm.

S. Jiang et al. / Composites Science and Technology 88 (2013) 57-61



Fig. 5. Comparison of E modulus (ullet) and strength (\Box) of PIPICOF and PI selfreinforced nanofiber composites with as-electrospun PI nanofibers and a pure PI film

comparison of the E modulus and the strength of a series of samples of PI self-reinforced nanofiber composites with different amounts of as-electrospun PI nanofibers with samples of PIPICOF clearly showed that the E modulus of a sample of PIPICOF with only 2 wt% of reinforcing nanofibers is significantly higher than any of the samples of the composites with as-electrospun nanofibers and pure PI film. Furthermore, the strength of the composite films with only 2 wt% of short nanofibers was as high as that of a composite with 38 wt% of as-electrospun long nanofibers (Fig. 5). It should be noted here, that it was not possible to prepare nanofiber composites with less than 10 wt% of as-electrospun long PI nanofibers due to lack in homogeneity.

4. Conclusion

In conclusion it has been shown, that the use of short electrospun fibers opens completely new opportunities for the processing of electropsun nanofibers. The wealth of structures, properties, and applications, which has been achieved till now by the use of aselectrospun nanofibers, which are basically very long fibers can be extended very significantly by cutting the fibers to short segments. These short fibers can be processed in liquid formulations and with this their processing becomes independent from the limitations given by the electrospinning process itself and will become available for every materials scientist for further processing in the creation of novel materials. The use of short electrospun fibers does not only offer advantages for processing but gives also chances for significant property improvements as shown here as an example for nanofiber reinforced composites. Clearly it has been shown that the mechanical properties of self-reinforced PI nanofiber composites with short electrospun PI fiber were better as compared to the as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats and this too at much lower fiber contents and with nonoriented fibers. Main reason for the superior properties with short fibers is obviously much better dispersability of the short PI nanofibers in the matrix polymer. The use of short electrospun fibers is surely not limited to fiber reinforced polymeric composites. Short electrospun fibers prepared from other polymers with functionalities different than polyimides could be used for the construction of electrical circuits or for targeted movement, etc. Furthermore, it can be expected that manifold new supramolecular structures can be prepared with short electrospun fibers which is presently under investigation.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech. 2013.08.031.

References

- Buell S, Van Vliet KJ, Rutledge GC. Mechanical properties of glassy polyethylene nanofibers via molecular dynamics simulations. Macromolecules 2009;42(13):4887–95.
- [2] Arinstein A, Burman M, Gendelman O, Zussman E. Effect of supramolecular
- Arinstein A, Burman M, Gendelman O, Zussman E. Effect of supramolecular structure on polymer nanofibre elasticity. Nat Nano 2007;2(1):59–62.
 Teo WE, Ramakrishna S. A review on electrospinning design and nanofibre assemblies. Nanotechnology 2006;17(14):R89.
 Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Electrospinning: a fascinating method for the preparation of ultrathin fibers. Angew Chem Int Ed 2007;46(30):5670–703.
 Agarwal S, Greiner A, Wendorff JH. Electrospinning of manmade and biopolymer nanofibers-progress in techniques, materials, and applications. Adv Funct Mater 2009;19(18):2863–79.
 Bergshoef MM, Vancso GJ. Transparent nanocomposites with ultrathin, electrospin nylon-4.6 fiber reinforcement. Adv Mater 1999;11(16):1362–5.
 Yano H, Sugiyama J, Nakagaito AN, Nogi M, Matsuura T, Hikita M, et al. Optically transparent composites reinforced with networks of bacterial nanofibers. Adv Mater 2005;17(2):153–5.
 Liao H, Wu Y, Wu M, Zhan X, Liu H. Aligned electrospun cellulose fibers reinforced epoxy resin composite films with high visible light transmittance.

- reinforced epoxy resin composite films with high visible light transmittance. Cellulose 2012;19(1):111-9.
- [9] Zucchelli A, Focarete ML, Gualandi C, Ramakrishna S. Electrospun nanofibers for enhancing structural performance of composite materials. Polym Adv Technol 2011;22(3):339–49.
- [10] Chen L-S. Huang Z-M. Dong G-H. He C-L. Liu L. Hu Y-Y. et al. Development of a transparent PMMA composite reinforced with nanofibers. Polym Compos 2009;30(3):239–47.
- Romo-Uribe A, Arizmendi L, Romero-Guzmán ME, Sepúlveda-Guzmán S, Cruz-
- [11] Komo-Orio A, Arizheridi L, Konero-Guzhan Mer, Septiveda-Guzhan S, Croz-Silva R. Electrospun nylon nanoffibers as effective reinforcement to polyaniline membranes. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2009;1(11):2502–8.
 [12] Neppalli R, Marega C, Marigo A, Bajgai MP, Kim HY, Causin V. Improvement of tensile properties and tuning of the biodegradation behavior of polycaprolactone by addition of electrospun fibers. Polymer 2011;5:(19):4054.60 2011:52(18):4054-60
- 2011;52(18):4054-60.
 [13] Fong H. Electrospun nylon 6 nanofiber reinforced BIS-GMA/TEGDMA dental restorative composite resins. Polymer 2004;45(7):2427-32.
 [14] Tian M. Gao Y. Liu Y. Liao Y. Xu R. Hedin NE, et al. Bis-GMA/TEGDMA dental composites reinforced with electrospun nylon 6 nanocomposite nanofibers containing highly aligned fibrillar silicate single crystals. Polymer 2007;48(9):2720-8.
 [14] Diane M. G. Farn, M. C. Farn, M. M. Gameration, edge and ensure for an ensure for a
- [15] Li L, Bellan LM, Craighead HG, Frey MW. Formation and properties of nylon-6 nylon-6/montmorillonite composite nanofibers 2006;47(17):6208–17. [16] Chen Y, Han D, Ouyang W, Chen S, Hou H, Zhao Y, et al. Fabrication and
- [16] Chen Y, Han D, Ouyang W, Chen S, Hou H, Zhao Y, et al. Fabrication and evaluation of polyamide 6 composites with electrospun polyimide nanofibers as skeletal framework. Compos Part B Eng 2012;43(5):2382–8.
 [17] Jiang S, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Tough and transparent nylon-6 electrospun nanofiber reinforced melamine-formaldehyde composites. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4(5):2597–603.
- Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4(5):2597-603.
 [18] Jiang S, Duan G, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Novel layer-by-layer procedure for making nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced high strength, tough, and transparent thermoplastic polyurethane composites. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4(8):4366-72.
 [19] Wu J-H, Kuo MC, Chen C-W, Chen C-W, Kuan P-H, Wang Y-J, et al.

- [19] Wu J-H, Kuo MC, Chen C-W, Chen C-W, Kuan P-H, Wang Y-J, et al. Crystallization behavior of α-cellulose short-fiber reinforced poly(lactic acid) composites. J Appl Polym Sci 2013;129(5):3007-18.
 [20] Azizi Samir MAS, Alloin F, Dufresne A. Review of recent research into cellulosic whiskers, their properties and their application in nanocomposite field. Biomacromolecules 2005;6(2):612-26.
 [21] Chen C, Liu T, Zhou X, Tjiu WC, Hou H. Electrospinning fabrication of high strength and toughness polyimide nanofiber membranes containing multiwalled carbon nanotubes. J Phys Chem B 2009;113(29):9741-8.
 [22] Chen S, Har D, Hou H. High terperth alactorerup fibers. Polym Adv. Technol. [22] Chen S, Han D, Hou H. High strength electrospun fibers. Polym Adv Technol
- 010;22:295-303 [23] Chen D, Wang R, Tjiu WW, Liu T. High performance polyimide composite films
- Prepared by homogeneity reinforcement of electrospun nanofibers. Compos Sci Technol 2011;71(13):1556–62. Chen S, Hu P, Greiner A, Cheng C, Cheng H, Chen F, et al. Electrospun nanofiber
- made from high performance copolyimide. Nanotechnology belts 2008:19(1):015604
- 2006; 19(1):013004. Thieme M, Agarwal S, Wendorff JH, Greiner A. Electrospinning and cutting of ultrafine bioerodible poly(lactide-co-ethylene oxide) tri- and multiblock copolymer fibers for inhalation applications. Polym Adv Technol 2011:22(9):1335-44.

Supporting Information

The preparation of PI self-reinforced nanofiber composites with long and continuous as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats was comprised of the following steps:

- 1) The detailed method for making PI nanofiber mat is described in the experimental part of the main manuscript.
- 2) The PI nanofiber mat was cut into small pieces (4 cm × 4 cm) and the small PI mats were immersed into the PAA/DMF solution (25, 20, 15, 10, 5 and 2 wt% respectively) for 5 min. Subsequently, the PI mats coated with PAA were dried and imidized using the same protocol as mentioned in the experimental part of the main manuscript for the electrospun PAA nanofibers.
- Following the above steps, the PI composites with 10, 18, 38, 53, 84, and 90 wt% PI nanofiber mat from PAA/DMF solution (25, 20, 15, 10, 5 and 2 wt% respectively) were obtained.
- 4) Using above method, we could not make composites with predetermined amount of PI nanofiber mats due to the limitation of the process itself, but we could obtain the samples with a series amount of PI nanofibers in the composites. The exact content of the PI nanofiber mats in the composites could be calculated after the composites were completely fabricated

The mechanical properties (**Table 6-S1** and **Figure 6-S1**) of the resulting PI nanofiber composites were measured following the same protocol as shown in the manuscript for composites with short PI fibers.

PUBLICATIONS

Table 6-S1 Mechanical	properties of PI	self-reinforced	nanofiber	composites	with
	as-electrospun	PI nanofiber ma	ats		

Content	of	PI	E(MPa)	Strength(MPa)	Strain(%)	
nanofibers (wt%)			× ,			
100 (PI	nanofi	ber	165 ± 1.11	28.24 ± 1.11	102.1 ± 5.8	
mat)			40.3 ± 4.44	20.24 ± 1.11	102.1 ± 5.6	
90			144 ± 7.71	39.05 ± 1.51	88.0 ± 6.5	
84			201 ± 10.1	43.06 ± 2.29	73.5 ± 2.9	
53			829 ± 134	97.38 ± 10.56	64.7 ± 6.2	
38			1060 ± 109	107.43 ± 11.09	57.6 ± 11.2	
18			838 ± 43.3	74.98 ± 5.6	36.5 ± 6.9	
10			888 ± 95.4	76.98 ± 8.33	29.3 ± 7.6	
0 (PI film)			882 ± 100	75.84 ± 1.67	52.5 ± 1.3	



Figure 6-S1 Bar chart of mechanical properties of self-reinforced PI nanofiber composites with as-electrospun PI nanofiber mats.

SEM photographs of films surfaces of PI self-reinforced PI nanofiber composites with as-electrospun PI nanofibers with different amounts of PI nanofibers are shown in **Figure 6-S2**. As increasing the amount of PI mat in the composites (using higher

concentration of PAA/DMF solution as the matrix solution), more fibers were glued by the PI matrix until only PI matrix film formed on the surface of the samples.



Figure 6-S2 SEM photographs of the surfaces of PI self-reinforced composites using as-spun PI nanofibers.

SEM micrographs of samples of PI self-reinforced PI nanofiber composites with as electrospun PI nanofibers after tensile tests are shown in **Figure 6-S3**. Samples with 84 wt% PI mat showed only small amount of fibers glued by the PI matrix. This is most likely the reason why the tensile properties of these samples were similar to the pure PI nanofiber mat. When increasing the amount of the PI matrix, more fibers were embedded into the matrix, so the tensile properties of the samples shifted to the pure

PI film. However, the photos also showed that the pores between the fibers could not be filled completely by the PI matrix, while using PI short fibers one could overcome the above drawbacks. That's another reason why short PI fibers are better than as-spun PI fibers mats.



Figure 6-S3 SEM micrographs of samples of PI self-reinforced PI nanofiber composites with different amounts of as-electrospun PI nanofibers after tensile tests.

4. Outlook

In the last few years, electrospun nanofibers have been attracting more and more attention as reinforcement in composite fields due to their excellent mechanical properties. However, until now, the limited data from the only few countable reports can't provide a comprehensive impression on the effect of electrospun nanofibers on polymer matrix. Therefore, in this thesis, high performance long and short electrospun nylon-6 and polyimide nanofibers were used to reinforce other polymers, like melamine-formaldehyde, thermoplastic polyurethane, poly (methyl methacrylate) and polyimide. The effect of the fiber contents and the fabricating methods on the wetting behavior and mechanical properties were studied. Nevertheless, for this relative new field of electrospun nanofiber reinforced polymer composites, more investigations are required in different directions.

- (a) How to prepare strong nanofiber with excellent mechanical properties? Excellent mechanical properties of the nanofibers are the premise for nice nanofiber reinforced polymer composites. There are several ways to improve the mechanical properties of nanofibers. First, increasing the degree of crystallinity is a good way to increase the tensile strength and E modulus of nanofibers. Second, the improvement of molecular orientation along fiber axis could enhance the mechanical properties of electrospun nanofibers. Third, due to the size effect, fine nanofibers with diameter blow 250 nm might have higher mechanical properties. Fourth, another way to obtain high performance nanofibers could be achieved via making composite nanofibers by normal electrospinning with reinforcements like carbon nanotubes, cellulose crystals inside, or by coaxial or triaxial electrospinning with reinforcements inside or in the middle.
- (b) The effect of diameter and aspect ratio of nanofibers on the properties of nanofiber reinforced polymer composites should be systematically studied. Work in this thesis have revealed that long and short electrospun nanofiber could effectively reinforce other polymers, but more studies about how diameter of nanofibers and aspect ratio of nanofibers affect the properties of composites are still absent.

- (c) Nanofiber/matrix interaction. As for traditional fiber reinforced composites, fiber with modification aiming at the enhancement of fiber/matrix interface have been greatly investigated. However, in the case of electrospun nanofibers, there are still much less data available in the literatures. Chemical and physical modifications on electrospun nanofibers, such as plasma treatment, surface polymerization, physical absorption and chemical immobilization of suitable molecules, could be applied in the field of nanofiber reinforced composites to strengthen the interface of reinforcements and matrix. Another possible way is applying coaxial or triaxial electrospinning to get composite nanofibers, by which the external component of the middle component acts as reinforcement to provide suitable mechanical properties.
- (d) Electrospun carbon nanofibers as reinforcement. It is well known that carbon nanofiber has ultrahigh tensile strength and E modulus and is prefect candidate as reinforcement. However, it is rather difficult to get high quantities of carbon nanofibers by electrospinning. Therefore, how to prepare high mechanical performance carbon nanofibers by electrospinning and apply electrospun carbon nanofibers into composites is still a big challenge for researchers from polymer chemistry and polymer engineering.

5. Acknowledgments

Herein I would like to appreciate all the people around me. Only with their help and support, I was able to complete my PhD work and this thesis.

First and foremost, I would like to express all my gratitude to my direct supervisor Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal for supporting my doctor research. I want to thank her for giving me the opportunity to work as a PhD student, for her constant encouragement, for her scientific knowledge, and for her confidence in letting me carry out my projects independently. It was a great treasure to work with her.

Many thanks also go out to Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner, who was contributing a lot to my research. I want to thank him for his enlightening ideas, numerous useful suggestions and discussions on my work. I am grateful to him to help me open a new area on short electrospun nanofiber reinforced composites.

I would like to give my thanks to Prof. Dr. Haoqing Hou in College of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Jiangxi Normal University for recommending me to Prof. Dr. Seema Agarwal and Prof. Dr. Andreas Greiner and also for being my first teacher for electrospinning.

During my PhD studies, I experienced two wonderful times, one in Marburg from January 2011 to September 2012 and one in Bayreuth from October 2012 to now.

I am grateful to all my former colleagues in Marburg for the friendly working atmosphere, Fei Chen, Dr. Qiao Jin, Jan Seuring, Claudia Mattheis, Yi Zhang, Sebastian Paulig, Christian Brandl, Ana Bier, Dr. Samarendra Maji, Dr. Michael Bognitzki, Kathrin Bubel, Martina Gerlach, Uwe Justus, Christian Knierim, Elisabeth Giebel, Christian Heel and Christoph Luy. Particularly, I would like to thank Fei Chen for useful advice and help on my work and my life, Dr. Qiao Jin for his kindly synthesis of series block copolymers for me, Christian Heel and Christoph Luy for the help on internet and computer issues, and Claudia Mattheis for her kindly reviewing of my first manuscript. Many thanks to the secretaries of our group in Marburg, Ms. Edith Schmidt and Mr. Rigobert Donner, for helping a lot on documents and my daily life. I appreciate Michael Hellwig for his help on the electron microscope measurements and to the members of the mechanical workshops for processing nice devices for my work. Thanks to the members of Chinese Basketball Team in Marburg for the pleasure time on the weekends.

In Bayreuth, I spent more than one year on my PhD studies. Thanks to the Bayreuth University for providing me opportunity to finish my PhD research. I am also grateful to my colleagues for the help and good research atmosphere during my PhD work in Bayreuth, Viola Buchholz, Lu Chen, Mitsunobu Doimoto, Gaigai Duan, Michaela Enzeroth, Ziyin Fan, Melanie Förtsch, Lisa Hamel, Oliver Hauenstein, Pin Hu, Melissa Koehn, Annette Krökel, Markus Langner, Fabian Mitschang, Tobias Moss, Peter Ohlendorf, Ilka Paulus, Annika Pfaffenberger, Judith Schöbel, Kerstin Küspert, Paul Ksionsko, Fangyao Liu, Ling Peng, Amanda Pineda, Holger Pletsch, Yinfeng Shi, Dr. Payal Tyagi, Hui Wang, Dr. Roland Dersch, Dr. Priyanka Bansal, Dr. Holger Schmalz, Tina Löbling, Dr. Zhicheng Zheng, and Marietta Böhm. In particular, I want to thank Dr. Roland Dersch for his support on many things, Melanie Förtsch for her patience on Transmission Scanning Microscope for me, Annette Krökel for her kindly safety instructions and help me order chemicals and other instruments, Lisa Hamel for helping me fabricate short electrospun nanofibers, Ilka Paulus for the guidance of using TGA and DSC, Peter Ohlendorf and Oliver Hauenstein for giving helps on internet and computer issues, and Marietta Böhm for her kindly support on GPC test. I am very grateful for secretary of our group in Bayreuth Mrs. Gaby Rösner-Oliver for helping a lot on documents. Thanks to Markus Hund from PC II for his instructions on AFM, and to Dr. Beate Förster and Ms. Martina Heider for their help on SEM. I also want to give my thanks to the members of mechanical workshop of Bayreuth University to help me make some devices for my work. I am also very thankful to the members of Chinese Football Team in Bayreuth for the plenty of happy time.

Special thanks were also given to Cornelia Nicodemus from Welcome Center of Bayreuth University for her kindly help on my apartment hunting and providing opportunity to travel many museums and beautiful towns for free. I appreciate Oliver Hauenstein and Dr. Roland Dersch for helping me translate the summary of my PhD thesis into German. I am also thankful to Viola Buchholz and Holger Pletsch for correcting my PhD thesis patiently and giving so many valuable suggestions on my thesis.

Last but not least, I would like to deeply thank my family for the endless support and help to complete my PhD studies, especially my wife and my mother who sacrifices so much for my PhD work.

6. List of publications

- Jiang S, Duan G, Schöbel J, Agarwal S, Greiner A. Short electrospun polymeric nanofibers reinforced polyimide nanocomposites. *Composites Science and Technology*. 2013;88(0):57-61.
- Jiang S, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Short nylon-6 nanofiber reinforced transparent and high modulus thermoplastic polymeric composites. *Composites Science and Technology*. 2013;87(0):164-169.
- Jiang S, Duan G, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Novel Layer-by-Layer Procedure for Making Nylon-6 Nanofiber Reinforced High Strength, Tough, and Transparent Thermoplastic Polyurethane Composites. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2012;4(8):4366-4372.
- Jiang S, Hou H, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Tough and Transparent Nylon-6 Electrospun Nanofiber Reinforced Melamine–Formaldehyde Composites. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2012;4(5):2597-2603.
- Jiang S, Duan G, Zussman E, Greiner A, Agarwal S. Highly flexible and tough concentric triaxial polystyrene fibers. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 2014;6(8):5918-5923.
- Jiang S, Jin Q, Agarwal S. Template assisted change in morphology from particles to nanofibers by side-by-side electrospinning of block copolymers. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*. 2014; DOI: 10.1002/mame.201400059.
- Peng X, Wu Q, Jiang S, Hanif M, Chen S, Hou H. High dielectric constant polyimide derived from 5,5'-bis[(4-amino) phenoxy]-2,2'-bipyrimidine. *Journal* of Applied Polymer Science. 2014; DOI:10.1002/app.40828.
- 8. Zhang H, Jiang S, Duan G, Li J, Liu K, Zhou C, Hou H. Heat-resistant

polybenzoxazole nanofibers made by electrospinning. *European Polymer Journal*. 2014;50(0):61-68.

- Duan G, Zhang H, Jiang, S, Xie M, Peng X, Chen S, Hanif M, Hou H. Modification of precursor polymer using co-polymerization: A good way to high performance electrospun carbon nanofiber bundles. *Materials Letters*. 2014;122 (0), 178-18.
- Peng X, Wu Q, Jiang S, Hanif M, Chen S, Hou H.High Performance Polyimide-Yb Complex with High Dielectric Constant and Low Dielectric Loss. *Materials Letters*. 2014; accepted.
- Duan G, Jiang S, Chen S, Hou H. Heat and solvent resistant electrospun polybenzoxazole nanofibers from methoxy-containing polyaramide. *Journal of Nanomaterials*. 2010;2010:58.
- Jiang S, Duan G, Liu K, Li J, Hu X, Hou H. Synthesis and Characterization of 3, 3'-Dihydroxybenzidine. JOURNAL OF JIANGXI NORMAL UNIVERSITY (NATURAL SCIENCES EDITION. 2010;34(2):157-159.